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A WELL-RECOGNISED PROVIDER OF 
LIFE SCIENCES RESEARCH PRODUCT 

AND SERVICE INDUSTRY IN CHINA

We are a well-recognised provider with a 
comprehensive portfolio coverage in the life sciences 
research product and service industry in China, and 

the largest provider of DNA synthesis products in 
China. Our current business segments include DNA 
synthesis products, genetic engineering services, 
life sciences research consumables, and protein 
and antibody related products and services. With 

its mature research and development capability and 
powerful sales network, the Company maintains a 

stable and sustainable growth.
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BBI Life Sciences Corporation 
( the “Company” o r “BBI 

Life Sciences”, together with 
its subsidiaries, the”Group”) is a 

renowned supplier of life science 
products and services in the People’s 

Republic of China (the “PRC”). Its 
wide-range products and services include 

(1) DNA synthesis products; (2) genetic engineering 
services; (3) life sciences research consumables, and 
(4) protein and antibody related products and services 
(the “Four Business Segments”). Its diversif ied 
client portfolio comprises mainly universities, research 
institutes, and pharmaceutical and biotech companies. 
As one of the largest DNA synthesis product providers 
in the PRC, BBI Life Sciences has been expanding its 
product offerings, consistently providing high quality 
products to its customers. The Group’s mission is to 
become a one-stop solution provider in the long run. 

Leveraging on our strong research and development 
capabi l i t ies , extens ive d i rect sa les network and 
comprehensive product offerings under the brands 
“Sangon” and “BBI”, the Group serves both domestic 
and overseas professional markets. We are now ready 
and prepared to capture opportunities in the market, 
becoming the preferred supplier for our customers in 
the life sciences industry.
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•	 For the year ended 31 December 2016 (the “Reporting Period”), the revenue of the Group was 
approximately RMB352.03 million, representing an increase of 24.7% as compared with RMB282.39 million 
for the same period of 2015.

•	 For the year ended 31 December 2016, the gross profit increased by 21.8% from RMB151.08 million for the 
same period of 2015 to RMB183.97 million.

•	 For the year ended 31 December 2016, the profit of the Group increased by 17.4% from approximately 
RMB50.35 million for the same period of 2015 to approximately RMB59.09 million.

•	 For the year ended 31 December 2016, profit attributable to shareholders of the Company increased by 
19.5% from approximately RMB50.34 million for the same period of 2015 to approximately RMB60.18 million.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHT
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For the year ended 31 December
RMB thousand

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
      

Operation Results
Revenue 186,357 219,988 253,193 282,390 352,026
Gross profit 102,520 111,090 130,363 151,078 183,971
Profit after income tax 35,314 42,347 35,978 50,348 59,093
Profit attributable to shareholders of 
  the Company (the “Shareholders”) 33,431 40,249 33,290 50,344 60,183
Non-controlling interest 1,883 2,098 2,688 4 (1,090)
Basic earnings per share (RMB) 0.085 0.102 0.084 0.095 0.111
Diluted earnings per share (RMB) 0.085 0.102 0.084 0.093 0.111
      

Assets
Non-current assets 163,673 169,483 166,806 205,111 335,656
Current assets 158,751 204,143 432,092 478,958 456,586
Current liabilities 126,232 66,945 99,170 117,584 150,666
Net current assets 32,519 137,198 332,922 361,374 305,920
Non-current liabilities 3,081 4,928 5,578 5,895 6,408
Net assets 193,111 301,753 494,150 560,590 635,168
      

Cash and cash equivalents 55,500 109,556 195,821 349,892 245,852
Inventories turnover days (day) 166 139 127 130 111
Trade receivables turnover days (day) 76 71 74 79 74
Trade payables turnover days (day) 30 20 19 18 20
      

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors 
(the “Board”) of BBI Life Sciences 
Corporation, I am pleased to present 
the annual report of the Group for 
the year ended 31 December 2016.

8
BBI LIFE SCIENCES CORPORATION

2016 ANNUAL REPORT



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

Ever since the Group’s successful listing on the Main 
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the 
“Stock Exchange”) in 2014, we have continuously 
committed to prov id ing d ivers i f ied l i fe sc iences 
research products and services. With our dedicated 
effort in the past ten years, BBI Life Sciences has 
developed into a well-recognized provider in the life 
sciences research products and services industry with 
comprehensive portfolio coverage, mature research 
and development capabil it ies and a strong direct 
sales and distribution network in both domestic and 
overseas markets. In 2016, we successfully set up direct 
overseas institutions in Singapore and South Korea, the 
South Korea institution has production and research 
and development capability, with which established 
foundation to expand the overseas market for the 
company. Based on this, for a period of time, we 
will continue to implement the strategy of expanding 
overseas market share, and actively establish more 
direct overseas institutions in countries and regions with 
large demands of life science research products and 
services, to provide high-quality products and services 
to more customers.

We consider that to expand our products and services 
into the application area of life sciences (such as disease 
diagnosis technology based on molecular biology, 
tumour treatment based on polypeptide technology, 
etc.) while keeping a stable development of our existing 
businesses will make full use of the technological 
advantages accumulated by the Group in the area of 
life sciences and enhance the Group’s competitiveness 
in the future market.

In 2016, the Group utilised the net proceeds from 
listing to further improve the scope of application of 
its existing business segments and the automation 
level of production facilities, including (1) building 
new production facilities for DNA synthesis products 
and genetic engineering services, (2) changing the 
traditional mode in which the departments receive 
orders and make delivery independently and establishing 
a logistics department for operation and management 
to effectively reduce the order handling time, improve 
overall logistics efficiency and reduce the order loss rate 
caused by poor efficiency; and (3) further extending 
and deepening existing product and service to increase 
the types and scope of product and service.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the total 
revenue from our business recorded a stable growth of 
24.7% from the previous year to RMB352.03 million, 
mainly attr ibutable to the increase of sales from 
the Four Business Segments. Gross profit and gross 
profit margin were RMB183.97 mill ion and 52.3% 
respectively. Profit attributable to shareholders of the 
Company amounted to RMB60.18 million, representing 
an increase of 19.5% as compared with the previous 
year. In appreciation of our Shareholders’ support, 
the Board proposed a payment of a final dividend of 
HK$0.012 per ordinary share for the Reporting Period.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

In terms of exploring new market opportunities, we 
consider oncotherapy an important business area to be 
explored in the future. How to accurately target and 
specifically ablate tumours and cancer cells has become 
an urgent problem to be solved in the academia and 
a hotspot in the bioscience industry since the advent 
of precision medicine and cancer moonshot. With our 
expertise in peptide synthesis and in development, we 
have been working closely with relevant technology 
companies and c l in ica l hosp i ta l s on the pro ject 
“Clinical Research on Autologous Mutation Peptides 
for Treatment of Cancer (自體突變肽鏈治療癌症臨床
研究 )” in the Reporting Period, to provide excellent 
self-mutated peptide chain products for such clinical 
research projects and ensure the steady proceeding of 
the project. At present, such clinical research program 
has achieved exciting staged successes. We, together 
with our partners, plan to conduct clinical experiments 
on more samples in 2017 and 2018 to evaluate the 
rel iabi l i ty and effectiveness of the technology of 
autologous mutation peptides for treatment of cancer, 
striving to apply such technology in oncotherapy to 
benefit the people suffering from cancer as early as 
possible.

In addition, the Group also considers disease prevention, 
diagnosis and treatment as another promising business 
area that we will strive to develop. The PRC government 
has promulgated the Outline of 2030 “Healthy China” 
Plan which sets out healthy China as a national strategy 
and plans to establish a perfect health industry system 
with optimized structure by 2030. The policy will facilitate 
the development of life sciences related industries and be 
a major growth driver for our business. The advancement 
of “Healthy China” will certainly benefit the Group’s 
existing and newly developed business areas. By leveraging 
this opportunity, the Group will deepen our product and 
service mix to satisfy the product and service demands in 
terms of disease prevention, diagnosis and treatment in 
the market, and develop a larger market space.

BBI LIFE SCIENCES CORPORATION

2016 ANNUAL REPORT10



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

Finally, on behalf of the Board, I would like to express 
my s incere grat i tude to our c l ients and business 
partners for their trust and support. Also, I would like 
to take this opportunity to extend my appreciation to 
the management team and all of our employees for 
their contribution.

Wang Qisong
Chairman

24 March 2017
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POSITIONING OF THE COMPANY
The Company, a well-recognized supplier of life science 
research products and services in the PRC, is committed 
to providing the most comprehensive product and 
se rv i ce por t fo l ios fo r co l l eges and un ive r s i t i e s , 
pharmaceutical and biotech companies, research 
institutes and hospitals. The Group mainly engages in 
the following businesses: (1) DNA synthesis products; (2) 
genetic engineering services; (3) life sciences research 
consumables and (4) protein and antibody related 
products and services. The overall gross profit margin 
of the Group remains at a level of more than 50%. 
Leveraging on its quality and cost-effective products 
and services under “Sangon” and “BBI” brands as 
well as efficient delivery, the Group has been highly 
acknowledged by customers in both domestic and 
overseas markets.

BUSINESS REVIEW
During the Reporting Period, the Group’s overal l 
revenue was approx imate l y RMB352.03 mi l l ion , 
representing an increase of 24.7% as compared with 
RMB282.39 million for 2015. The overall gross profit 
was RMB183.97 million, representing an increase of 
21.8% from RMB151.08 million of last year. The overall 
gross profit margin was maintained at a high level of 
52.3%, representing a slight change as compared with 
the level of 53.5% recorded in the previous year. The 
fluctuation in the gross profit margin was mainly due to 
two factors. Firstly, the Group recorded higher revenue 
from overseas markets during the Reporting Period, 
and the gross profit margin of some operations in our 
overseas markets was marginally lower than the level in 
the domestic market. Secondly, the Group witnessed a 
moderate increase in labor costs. During the Reporting 
Period, profit attributable to equity holders of the 
Company was approximately RMB60.18 million.

During the Report ing Per iod, the revenue of the 
Group’s DNA synthesis products, genetic engineering 
services, life sciences research consumables and protein 
and antibody related products and services accounted 
for approximately 40.2%, 20.4%, 29.5% and 9.9% 
respectively of the total revenue of the Group.

During the Reporting Period, the Group completed its 
strategic investment of approximately RMB11.5 million 
to acquire 34% equity interest in Shanghai Youlong 
Biotech Co., Ltd. (“Youlong Biotech”). As an expert 
in providing food safety and biosafety rapid detection 
products and full chain antibody technology services, 
Youlong Biotech wil l further enlarge the Group’s 
portfolio of products and services, and expand our 
customer base and scope of business. In addition, 
the Group completed the acquisition of 100% equity 
interests in BIONICS CO., LTD (“BIONICS”) with a total 
consideration of US$2.40 million in October 2016 and 
the Group’s interest in BIONICS was later diluted to 
73% by three individuals as non-controlling interests 
injecting net assets of USD0.44 million into BIONICS. 
BIONICS is a company incorporated in the Republic 
of Korea (“South Korea”) mainly engaged in DNA 
synthesis, gene sequencing and molecular biology 
related services in South Korea. With the synergies 
of the service and business between the Group and 
BIONICS, it is expected that the acquisition will further 
expand our footprint in the South Korean market, and 
increase the overseas market share of the Group.

Results Analysis of the Four Business Segments

1.	 DNA Synthesis Products

Results

Dur ing the Repor t ing Pe r iod , th i s segment 
still functioned as the solid foundation for the 
sustained business growth of the Group. During 
the Reporting Period, revenue of DNA synthesis 
p roducts segment amounted to RMB141.52 
million, representing an increase of 23.9% over the 
same period in 2015. This was mainly supported by 
its leadership of the segment in the industry. With 
the provision of quality and customized products 
and prompt response to the market demands, 
the segment maintained its growth of orders at 
high level relatively and succeeded in expanding 
its market share. Leveraging on the Group’s 
expertise accumulated during the operation in DNA 
synthesis industry for more than 20 years, as well 
as greater economies of scale and improvement in 
automation level, the gross profit margin of this 
segment remained at the level of 60.4% (2015: 
60.3%) amid rising labor costs and rise in the price 
of raw materials.
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Development Strategies

Genetic engineering services plays an irreplaceable 
r o l e i n t h e l i f e s c i e n c e s r e s e a r c h , a n d t h e 
corresponding market capacity is increasing with 
the development of the life sciences industry 
(especially in vitro diagnosis). In view of this, the 
Group will continue to expand the coverage of 
the first-generation sequencing services to provide 
convenient personalized service locally to gain 
greater market share. At the same time, in 2017, 
the Group will formally enter into the clinical 
detect ion and diagnostics industry based on 
molecular biology technology. With the technical 
advantages of high-throughput sequencing, the 
Group will provide reliable, fast and convenient 
medical testing services to a large base of end-
consumers.

Development Strategies

With regard to the DNA synthes i s products 
segment, which is our core business, the Group 
will continue to enhance the competitive strength 
of its products, expand the market share, and 
further consolidate its brand advantage, thus 
achieving constant growth and stable revenue.

During the Reporting Period, orders of industrial-
grade DNA products started to generate revenue 
for the Group. It is expected that the corresponding 
share of revenue will increase incrementally in 
the coming years. With the gradual progress in 
the development of precision medicine and vitro 
diagnosis, demands for DNA products used to 
manufacture and implement related diagnostic kits 
and diagnosis services will continue to increase. 
Capitalizing on the newly-built facilities, the Group 
expects to further increase its production capacity, 
and handle greater number of orders of industrial-
grade DNA products, thus adding new impetus to 
the revenue of this segment.

2.	 Genetic Engineering Services

Results

During the Report ing Period, revenue of the 
genetic engineering services segment amounted 
to RMB71.75 million, representing an increase 
of 30.3% as compared with the same period 
of last year. The increase in revenue was mainly 
benefited from the Group’s continued efforts to 
set up service sites during the Reporting Period, 
which drove the steady growth in the number of 
orders. Gross profit margin decreased from 50.9% 
for the same period of last year to 47.0% this 
year. Currently, the domestic genetic engineering 
services market, especially the first-generation 
sequencing market, i s re lat ive ly segmented. 
Building on its good reputation in the life sciences 
research products and serv ices industry, the 
Group intends to accelerate its pace to deploy 
more service network stations for the expansion 
of its market share. During the course, necessary 
strategic price adjustments, capital expenditure 
and increased preliminary management costs due 
to additional service sites may lead to the volatility 
of gross profit margin of this segment.
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3.	 Life Sciences Research Consumables

Results

During the Reporting Period, this segment recorded 
a revenue of RMB103.92 million, representing an 
increase of 24.9% as compared with the same 
period of last year. The increase in revenue was 
mainly attributable to two factors. Firstly, the 
Group took an active approach to expand overseas 
markets during the Reporting Period, which fueled 
the growth in orders. Secondly, the Group has 
optimized and integrated the production and 
logistic model of the segment in the PRC, thus 
improving the delivery speed and accuracy for its 
products. Gross profit margin slightly decreased to 
49.0% in 2016 from 51.7% of the same period 
last year, which was mainly due to the slightly 
smaller gross profit in overseas market than that in 
the domestic market.

Development Strategies

As the necessity for life science research, life 
science research consumables play a supportive 
and basic role in the corresponding research and 
development activities. The characteristics include 
a wide range of applications, diversified categories, 
large volume of demand, and lack of fundamental 
differences in terms of the product requirements 
by domestic and foreign customers. Therefore, the 
Group will speed up the expansion of sale in the 
domestic and overseas markets for this segment, 
and strive to achieve greater scale of production 
efficiency in line with its overseas expansion plans. 
At the same time, in order to cooperate with 
the timely introduction of related products and 
services of vitro diagnosis, the Group will promote 
the research and development of diagnostic kits 
(especial ly tumor diagnostic kits) to diversify 
the product portfolio and meet the sustainable 
development of the Group’s business.

4.	 Protein and Antibody Related Products 
and Services

Results

During the Report ing Period, revenue of the 
protein and antibody related products and services 
s e g m e n t i n c r e a s e d b y 1 6.6% t o R M B3 4.8 4 
million. The gross profit margin increased by 2.7 
percentage points to 39.8% from 37.1% for the 
same period last year. Since 2011, the categories 
and quality of the products and services in this 
segment have already established relatively strong 
market competitiveness. The revenue maintained a 
certain growth rate amid the constantly expanding 
base scale, while gross profit margin also showed 
a gradual upward trend.

Development Strategies

In the coming years, the Group will continue to 
expand the portfolio of products and services 
in this segment and strive to achieve greater 
e c o n o m i e s o f s c a l e t o m e e t t h e n e e d s o f 
diagnostic companies and laboratories (especially 
immunological experiments). Efforts will also be 
made to enhance the gross profit margin gradually 
by leveraging on the advantage of low marginal 
costs of the products in this segment.

In addition, with regard to our polypeptide related 
products and services, which constitute an essential 
part of this segment, the Group has completed 
the transition from outsourcing to independent 
manufacturing in 2016 through the establishment 
of the polypeptide production base in Ningbo, 
the PRC. Through such measures, the Group will 
be able to reduce the production costs of its 
polypeptide products while increasing the rate of 
delivery, thus improving the gross profit margin of 
such products.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December
2016 2015 Change

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
    

Revenue 352,026 282,390 69,636
Gross profit 183,971 151,078 32,893
Net profit 59,093 50,348 8,745
Profit attributable to
  Shareholders of the 
  Company 60,183 50,344 9,839
Earnings per share 
  (RMB) 0.111 0.095 0.016
    

Revenue
During the Reporting Period, the revenue of the Group 
was approximately RMB352.03 million, representing 
an increase of 24.7% as compared with RMB282.39 
million for the same period of 2015. This was mainly 
contributed by the steady growth of the Four Business 
Segments.

Gross Profit
During the Reporting Period, the Group’s gross profit 
increased by 21.8% from RMB151.08 million for the 
same period of 2015 to RMB183.97 million. The overall 
gross profit margin was maintained at a high level of 
52.3%, representing a slight change as compared with 
the level of 53.5% recorded in the previous year. The 
fluctuation in the gross profit margin was mainly due 
to two factors, first, the Group recorded higher revenue 
from overseas markets during the Reporting Period, 
and the gross profit margin of some operations in our 
overseas markets was marginally lower than the level 
in the domestic market; second, the Group witnessed a 
moderate increase in labor costs.

Selling and distribution expenses
The selling and distribution expenses increased by 
36.9% to RMB68.19 mil l ion during the Reporting 
Period from RMB49.82 million for the same period of 
2015. It was attributed by new market development 
and sales promotion.

General and administrative expenses
D u r i n g t h e R e p o r t i n g P e r i o d , t h e g e n e r a l a n d 
admin i s t ra t i ve expenses inc reased by 12.4% to 
RMB34.65 mil l ion from RMB30.82 mil l ion for the 
same period of 2015, excluding the research and 
development expense. This was mainly due to the 
increase in staff cost brought along with business 
expansion.

Research and development expenses
Dur ing the Repor t ing Pe r iod , the re sea rch and 
d e v e l o p m e n t e x p e n s e s i n c r e a s e d b y 1 4.7% t o 
RMB17.58 million from RMB15.33 million for the same 
period of 2015. This was mainly because the Company 
accelerated the upgrade of its technology and expands 
the new business sector.

Income tax expenses
The income tax expenses increased from RMB7.21 
mill ion for the same period of 2015 to RMB11.55 
million for the Reporting Period. The Company re-
measured the defer tax assets of Sangon Biotech 
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (“Sangon Biotech”) as Sangon 
Biotech regained High-Tech Enterprise qualification in 
2016 and the applicable tax rate was reduced from 
25% to 15%.

Net profit
During the Reporting Period, net profit of the Group 
increased by 17.4% from approximately RMB50.35 
million for the same period of 2015 to approximately 
RMB59.09 million.
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Trade receivables
For the year ended 

31 December
2016 2015

   

Trade receivables 
  turnover (day) 74 79
   

The trade receivables of the Group remained stable 
under the ongoing control and management of the 
Company.

Inventories
For the year ended 

31 December
2016 2015

   

Inventory turnover (day) 111 129
   

The inventory turnover of the Group improved with 
constant control and management.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment include buildings, 
machinery equipment and construction under progress. 
As at 31 December 2016, the property, plant and 
equipment of the Group amounted to RMB278.42 
million, representing an increase of RMB122.50 million 
from the property, plant and equipment of RMB155.92 
million as at 31 December 2015. This was mainly due 
to the newly-built and newly-purchased plants alone 
with the business expansion.

Intangible assets
As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s net intangible 
assets amounted to RMB13.17 million, representing an 
increase of RMB4.90 million from RMB8.27 million as 
at 31 December 2015. The increase in intangible assets 
was mainly due to contractual customer relationship, 
brand name and goodwill acquired in the acquisition of 
BIONICS in South Korea.

Working capital and financial resources
As at 31 December 2016, the cash and cash equivalents 
of the Group amounted to RMB245.85 million (2015: 
RMB349.89 million). There was no restricted fund or 
loan.

Cash flow analysis
During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded an 
annual net cash inflow of RMB79.28 million generated 
from operating activities.

D u r i n g t h e R e p o r t i n g P e r i o d , t h e a n n u a l c a s h 
inflow used in investing activities of the Group was 
RMB195.98 million. This was mainly due to acquisition 
of BIONICS and the newly-built and newly-purchased 
plants.

Dur ing the Report ing Per iod, the cash inf low in 
financing activities of the Group was RMB4.97 million. 
The increase in cash inflow in financing activities of the 
Group was mainly due to cooperative partners invest in 
affiliated companies of the Group.

Capital expenditure
During the Reporting Period, the expenditure incurred 
in purchasing property, plant and equipment and 
of construction in process amounted to RMB128.89 
million.

Material acquisitions and disposals
During the Reporting Period, the Company did not have 
any material acquisitions and disposals other than the 
acquisition of Youlong Biotech and BIONICS.

Contingent liabilities and guarantees
As at 31 December 2016, the Company did not have 
any material contingent liabilities and guarantees.
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Foreign exchange risk
The Group mainly operates in the PRC and is exposed 
to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency 
exposures, pr imar i ly with respect to Hong Kong 
dollar and United States dollar. Foreign exchange risk 
arises from foreign currencies held in certain overseas 
subsidiaries. The Group did not hedge against any 
fluctuation in foreign currency during the Reporting 
Period. The management of the Group may consider 
entering into currency hedging transactions to manage 
the Group’s exposure towards fluctuations in exchange 
rates in future.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
Other than bank balances with variable interest rate, the 
Group has no other significant interest-bearing assets. 
The management of the Group does not anticipate any 
significant impact to interest bearing assets resulting 
from the changes in interest rates, because the interest 
rates of bank balances are not expected to change 
significantly.

Credit risk
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, 
bank deposits with maturities over 3 months, trade and 
bills receivables, and deposits and other receivables are 
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation 
to its financial assets. The objective of the Group’s 
measures to manage credit risk is to control potential 
exposure to recoverability problems.

In respect of trade bills and other receivables, individual 
credit evaluations are performed on all customers 
and counterparties. These evaluations focus on the 
counterparty’s financial position, past history of making 
payments and take into account information specific to 
the counterparty as well as pertaining to the economic 
environment in which the counterparty operates. 
Monitoring procedures have been implemented to 
ensure that follow-up actions will be taken to recover 
overdue debts. We grant credit l imits to certa in 
customers in consideration of their payment history 
and business performance. Prepayment is usually 
required for orders placed over credit limits. In addition, 
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each 
individual trade bills and other receivable balance at the 
end of the year to ensure adequate impairment losses 
are made for irrecoverable amounts.

Significant investments held, material 
acquisitions and disposals
Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did 
not have any significant investments held, material 
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and associated 
companies during the year ended 31 December 2016.

Future plans for significant investment or 
capital assets
Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no 
specific plan for material investments or capital assets 
as at 31 December 2016.

Charges on Group assets
As at 31 December 2016, the Group had no charges 
over assets.

Prospects
While maintaining the healthy growth of existing 
business, the Group will also further promote the 
Company’s products and services to the front of 
application of life sciences, including a number of 
sectors with huge market demand, such as disease 
diagnosis technologies based on molecular biology and 
tumor therapies based on polypeptide technology. This 
initiative will not only enable the Group to give full 
play to its technological advantages accumulated in life 
sciences over the years, but also enhance the Group’s 
coverage and competitiveness in life science research 
industry.

The PRC gove rnment has deve loped the “2030 
Outline Plan for Healthy China”, based on which 
“Healthy China” has been put forward as a national 
strategy. Relevant plans were also made to establish 
a sophisticated and structurally-optimized system of 
health industry by the year 2030. The policy is expected 
to promote the development of life science related 
industries, and fuel the growth of our business. The 
advancement of the “Healthy China” strategy will be 
beneficial to the existing and new business domains of 
the Group. The Group will grasp this opportunity to 
deepen our portfolio of products and services to meet 
the market needs for products and services in terms of 
disease prevention, diagnosis and treatment, as well as 
to explore for more market space.



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

18
BBI LIFE SCIENCES CORPORATION

2016 ANNUAL REPORT

Future Development Strategies
In general, the Group will implement three strategies 
as specified below in the future to achieve sustainable 
development.

Firstly, the Group will be involved in the clinical market 
and will expand the portfolio of products and services 
to end-consumers. Specific measures include (1) the 
establishment of medical testing agencies to provide 
a large number of end-consumers with direct genetic 
diagnosis and screening services with the application 
of high-throughput sequencing technology; and (2) 
continued promotion of the “clinical research on 
autologous mutant peptide chain treatment of cancer” 
project through an associated biotechnology company 
to be set up, with the aim of targeted elimination 
of tumor cells with the use of specific tumor antigen 
peptide vaccine produced based on genetic analysis and 
synthesis technology. It is anticipated that the result of 
the research will create benefits to cancer patients while 
generating new revenue for the Group. Meanwhile, 
we will speed up the research and development of 
vitro diagnostic products (in particular, diagnostic kits 
for tumors), and take prompt measures to align with 
the launch of products and services related to vitro 
diagnosis, with a view to improving our integrated 
portfolio of products and services. In addition, we 
will also deepen our products and services based on 
food safety through Youlong Biotech, our associated 
company. Areas covered will include standard products 
for food safety testing and “Shield for Food Safety”, a 
mobile phone application project focusing on personal 
food security.

Secondly, the Group wi l l cont inue to expand i ts 
overseas markets and deploy more overseas direct 
selling outlets to enhance the level of revenue from 
overseas markets through mergers and acquisitions and 
establishment of joint ventures.

Thirdly, the Group will also tap the potential of relevant 
business segments where we enjoy advantages. While 
further expanding the market share, the Group will 
continue to improve the quality, dedicate to meet 
the changing needs in respect of life science research 
and production, and lay a more solid foundation for 
the Group’s sustained and steady growth in revenue. 
Specific initiatives include continued improvement of 
the production capacity and technical level of industrial-
grade DNA products to meet the needs of a larger 
number of medical testing companies. The management 
of the Company is confident in the future development 
of the Group and believes that they are able to create 
more returns for the Group and the Shareholder in the 
coming years.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION 
POLICIES
As at 31 December 2016, the Group had a total of 1,114 
employees. The Group has entered into employment 
contracts covering positions, employment conditions 
and terms, salary, employees’ benefits, responsibility 
for breach of contractual obligations and reason for 
termination with its employees. The remuneration 
package of the Group’s employees includes basic 
salary, subsidies and other employees’ benefits, which 
are determined with reference to the experience and 
working years of the employees and general situations.

For the Reporting Period, the Group’s total expenses 
on the remuneration of employees was approximately 
RMB84.59 million (excluding share-based payment of 
approximately RMB0.77 million), representing 24.0% of 
the revenue of the Group.

On 4 September 2014, the Company adopted the First 
2014 Employee Stock Option Plan A (the “Pre-IPO 
Scheme A”) and First 2014 employee Stock Option 
Plan B (the “Pre-IPO Scheme B”). On 8 December 
2014, the Company adopted a Post-IPO share option 
scheme (the “Post-IPO Share Option Scheme”). 
No further options have been granted under Pre-IPO 
Scheme A and Pre-IPO Scheme B since 4 September 
2014 up to 31 December 2016. No options have been 
granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme since 
8 December 2014 up to 31 December 2016.
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The number of employees of the Group categorised 
by function as at 31 December 2016 is set forth as 
follows:

Function
Number of

 employees Percentage
   

Production 508 45.60%
Sales and marketing 296 26.57%
Administration 111 9.96%
Research and development 106 9.52%
Management 93 8.35%
   

Total: 1114 100%
   

The Group’s remuneration policy and structure for 
remunerations of the directors and senior management 
of the Group are based on the Group’s operating 
results, individual performance and comparable market 
stat is t ics and are rev iewed by the remunerat ion 
committee of the Company (the “Remuneration 
Committee”) periodically.

The remunerations of the directors of the Company (the 
“Directors”) are recommended by the Remuneration 
Committee and are decided by the Board, having 
regard to the merit, qualifications and competence of 
individual Director, the Group’s operating results and 
comparable market statistics.
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DIRECTORS
The Board currently consists of seven Directors, comprising three executive Directors, one non-executive Director 
and three independent non-executive Directors. The following table sets out certain information concerning our 
Directors:

Name Age Position Date of Appointment
    

Executive Directors
Mr. WANG Qisong 75 Chairman and executive Director 16 January 2014
Ms. WANG Luojia 47 Chief executive officer and 

  executive Director
26 September 2014

Ms. WANG Jin 45 President and executive Director 26 September 2014

Non-executive Director
Mr. HU Xubo 41 Non-executive Director 16 January 2014

Independent non-executive 
  Directors
Mr. XIA Lijun 40 Independent non-executive Director 16 January 2014
Mr. HO Kenneth Kai Chung 51 Independent non-executive Director 10 October 2014
Mr. LIU Jianjun 48 Independent non-executive Director 10 October 2014

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. WANG Qisong (王啟松), aged 75, is the founder of our Group. He was appointed as a Director and the 
chairman of the Board on 16 January 2014 and became our executive Director on 10 October 2014, and is 
primarily responsible for our Group’s development, positioning and strategy planning. He was one of the founders 
of Shanghai Sangon Biological Engineering Technology & Services Co, Ltd.* (上海生工生物工程技術服務有限公司) 
(“SSBETS”) in 2001, was a director of Bio Basic USA Inc. (“BBI US”) from 2009 to 2010 and is currently chairman 
and director of Sangon Biotech and an executive director of Shanghai Qisong Investment Consulting Company 
Limited* (上海啟松投資諮詢有限公司) (“BBI China”).

Mr. Wang has nearly 50 years of experience in the biotechnology industry. Prior to joining our Group, from August 
1965 to May 1985, he worked as an assistant researcher in the Institute of Biochemistry and Cell Biology, Shanghai 
Institutes for Biological Sciences, China Academy of Sciences (中國科學院上海生命科學研究院生物化學與細胞生
物學研究所) and from March 1980 to March 1983, Mr. Wang Qisong was seconded to the University of Toronto 
in Canada as a visiting scholar. From June 1985 to October 1991, he was an associate professor in the Institute 
of Genetics, School of Life Sciences, Fudan University (復旦大學生命科學學院遺傳學研究所). From June 1987 to 
December 1989, he was an expert member in the Biotechnology Group of the State High-Tech Development Plan (863 
Programme)* (國家高技術研究發展計劃(863計劃)). From March 1991 to August 1991, he was a consultant in the 
United Nations Industrial Development Organization (聯合國工業發展組織). He is currently a supervisor of Wuhan 
Wenwang Cultural Education and Communication Limited* (武漢文王文化教育傳播有限公司).

Mr. Wang graduated from Wuhan University (武漢大學) in Hubei Province, PRC with a Bachelor of Science in 
Organic Chemistry in July 1965.

Mr. Wang is the father of Ms. Wang Luojia and Ms. Wang Jin.
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Ms. WANG Luojia (王珞珈), aged 47, was appointed as an executive Director and the chief executive officer of 
our Company on 26 September 2014 and 16 January 2014 respectively and is primarily responsible for our Group’s 
strategies and overall operation management. Ms. Wang is currently a director of Bio Basic Canada Inc. (“Bio Basic 
(Canada)”), Sangon Biotech, BBI Asia Limited (“BBI Asia”) and BBI International Limited (“BBI International”).

Ms. Wang graduated from the University of Calgary in Alberta, Canada with a Bachelor of Science in Chemistry in 
June 1995. In April 2006, she returned to China and worked as a general manager at SSBETS. Subsequently, she 
became general manager of Sangon Biotech in October 2009.

Ms. Wang is the daughter of Mr. Wang Qisong and sister of Ms. Wang Jin.

Ms. WANG Jin (王瑾), aged 45, was appointed as an executive Director and the president of our Company on 
26 September 2014 and 16 January 2014 respectively and is primarily responsible for our Group’s strategies and 
operational management, overseas sales and development, and overall operations of Bio Basic (Canada) and Bio 
Basic, Inc. (“Bio Basic (US)”). Ms. Wang Jin is currently a director of Bio Basic (Canada), Bio Basic (US), Sangon 
Biotech, BBI Asia and BBI International.

Ms. Wang Jin graduated from the University of Calgary in Alberta, Canada with a Master of Science degree in 
Biochemistry and Molecular Biology in November 1997. She was a director of Bio Basic Inc. (“BBI Canada”) 
from 2005 to 2011 and BBI US from 2009 to 2012. Since June 2012, she was a senior deputy general manager 
of Sangon Biotech, and was the president of Bio Basic (Canada) and Bio Basic (US) since November 2010 and 
December 2010 respectively.

Ms. Wang Jin is the daughter of Mr. Wang Qisong and sister of Ms. Wang Luojia.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. HU Xubo (胡旭波), aged 41 was appointed as a Director on 16 January 2014 and became our non-executive 
Director on 10 October 2014. Mr. Hu has been a director of Sangon Biotech since April 2010. He is primarily 
responsible for advising on strategic development, corporate governance, compliance with the Rules Governing the 
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) regarding connected transactions, remuneration 
and nomination of our Directors.

Mr. Hu has over eight years of experience in investment management, strategic consulting and operations 
management in the area of biomedicine.

Mr. Hu joined Qiming Weichuang Venture Capital Management (Shanghai) Co. Ltd (啓明維創創業投資管理(上海)有
限公司) in November 2006 and is currently a Partner of the firm. Mr. Hu is also a director of Hunan Tiger-Xiangya 
R&D Co., Ltd.* (湖南泰格湘雅藥物研究有限公司), China Pharmaceutical Distribution Holding Co., Ltd (英凡醫藥), 
Beijing Centre Biology Co., Ltd.* (北京生泰爾生物科技有限公司), Shanghai Tellgen Life Co., Ltd.* (上海透景生命科
技有限公司), Vinno Technology (Suzhou) Co., Ltd.* (飛依諾科技(蘇州)有限公司), Sino Medical-Device Technology 
Co., Ltd.* (深圳聖諾醫療設備有限公司), Shanghai Rendu Biotechnology Limited* (上海仁度生物科技有限公司), 
Shanghai Pine & Power Biotech Co., Ltd.* (上海松力生物科技有限公司), Shenzhen APT Medical Devices Co., Ltd (深
圳市惠泰醫療器械有限公司), Shanghai Xinghe Investment Management Ltd.* (上海杏和投資管理有限公司), Zhuhai 
DL Biotech Co., Ltd.* (珠海市迪爾生物工程有限公司), Shanghai Sanyou Medical Technology Co. Ltd.(上海三友醫療
器械有限公司), Arrail Group Limited (瑞爾齒科), Guangzhou Baoyu Game Technology Limited (廣州暴雨網絡技術
有限公司), HORTOR (Beijing) Technology Limited (北京豪騰嘉科科技有限公司), Beijing Tiangua Online Technology 
limited (北京甜瓜在綫科技有限公司) and the supervisor of Hangzhou Tigermed Consulting Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 
300347) (杭州泰格醫藥科技股份有限公司), a company listed on Shenzhen stock exchange.

Mr. Hu graduated from Shanghai Medical University (上海醫科大學) (now Fudan University Shanghai Medical 
College (復旦大學上海醫學院)) in Shanghai with a Bachelor of Medicine in July 1998. He also holds a Shanghai 
International Master of Business Administration from École Nationale des Ponts et Chaussées (now École des Ponts 
ParisTech) School of International Management in Shanghai, obtained in October 2004.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. XIA Lijun (夏立軍), aged 40, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 16 January 2014. 
Mr. Xia was an independent director of Sangon Biotech from 2012 to 2013. From June 2008 to March 2011, he 
was a professor in the School of Accountancy in the Shanghai University of Finance and Economics (上海財經大學) 
in the PRC. Since March 2011, he has been a professor and head of department in the Department of Accounting, 
Antai College of Economics and Management, Shanghai Jiao Tong University in the PRC.

Mr. Xia obtained his Doctor of Philosophy in Management (Accounting) from the Shanghai University of Finance 
and Economics (上海財經大學) in the PRC in March 2006.

Mr. Xia has been an independent director of Shanghai Guangdian Electric Group Co. Ltd. (stock code: 601616), a 
company listed on the Shanghai stock exchange, since April 2014.

Mr. HO Kenneth Kai Chung (何啟忠), aged 51, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 10 
October 2014.

Mr. Ho has served successively as head of China research, China strategist and equity sales in top international 
investment banks, including Credit Lyonnais, Jardine Fleming, JP Morgan and HSBC, from 1999 to 2013. From 
2008 to 2010, he set up Beijing research office for HSBC, established and acted as leader of the local research 
team as well as the chief representative for the research office. From 2011 till January 2013, Mr. Ho worked as a 
Hong Kong China equity sales director for HSBC. From January 2014 to March 2015, Mr. Ho served as a director 
for Munsun Asset Management (Asia) Limited.

Mr. Ho obtained his Bachelor of Economics from The University of Sydney in May 1988 and Master of Commence 
in Finance from The University of New South Wales in April 1991. Mr. Ho was awarded a Chartered Financial 
Analyst in January 1999.

Mr. Ho has been an independent non-executive director of TK Group (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 2283), a 
company listed on the Stock Exchange, since 27 November 2013. Mr. Ho had been an independent non-executive 
director of Evershine Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8022) (formerly known as TLT Lottotainment Group 
Limited), a company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange, since 22 November 2013 to 1 
April 2014. Mr. Ho has served as a director for Fifth Element Resources Ltd. (stock code: FTH), a company listed on 
the Australian Securities Exchange since 11 February 2015.

From August 2015, Mr Ho became the Chief Financial Officer and joint company secretary for Greentown Service 
Group Co. Ltd. (Stock Code: 2869), a Company listed on the Stock Exchange since July 2016.

Mr. Ho has been an independent non-executive director of Tsaker Chemical Group Limited (stock code: 01986) a 
company listed on the Stock Exchange, since 5 March 2015.

Mr. LIU Jianjun (劉健君), aged 48, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 10 October 2014.
Mr. Liu was in the legal department of China Ocean Shipping (Group) Company container lines (中國遠洋運輸(集
團)總公司(集裝箱運輸)) from July 1993 to March 1999, a partner at Zhong Sheng Law Firm, Beijing (北京中盛律師
事務所) from April 2001 to October 2006, a senior associate in ZhongLun Law Firm, Beijing (北京中倫律師事務所)
from November 2006 to May 2007, and a partner at Zhonglun W&D Law Firm, Beijing (北京中倫文德律師事務所) 
from June 2007 to around 2012. Mr. Liu started practicing as a lawyer in the PRC in August 2001.

Mr. Liu obtained a master degree in law from Peking University, the PRC, in July 1998, and a law degree from 
Washington University in St. Louis, the U.S., in May 2004.
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Mr. Liu has been an independent non-executive director of Nexteer Automotive Group Limited (stock code: 1316), 
a company listed on the Stock Exchange, since 15 June 2013.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
The following table sets out certain information concerning our senior management:

Name Age Year of joining our Group Date of Appointment
    

Mr. LI Ruifeng 40 2008 Vice president
Mr. LI Wei 33 2009 Vice president
Mr. YAN Hua 50 2011 Vice president
Mr. GU Xiaolei 39 2015 Chief financial officer
Mr. WANG Zhi 39 2009 Senior manager
Mr. ZHOU Mi 33 2011 Senior manager
Mr. TENG Yuantung 51 2013 Internal auditor

Mr. LI Ruifeng (李瑞峰), aged 40, was appointed as a vice president of our Company on 16 January 2014. Mr. 
Li joined SSBETS in 2001 and has been a director and deputy general manager of Sangon Biotech since May 2008 
and October 2009 respectively. He finished his undergraduate course in microbiology at Inner Mongolia University 
in the PRC in July 2001.

Mr. LI Wei (李威), aged 33, was appointed as a vice president of our Company on 16 January 2014. He joined 
SSBETS and Sangon Biotech in August 2009 and October 2009 respectively, and since May 2010 has been a deputy 
general manager of Sangon Biotech. Mr. Li was a research assistant at the Plant Biotechnology Research Centre of 
Shanghai Jiao Tong University (上海交通大學植物生物技術研究中心) from September 2008 to August 2009. Mr. Li 
obtained his Doctor of Philosophy in Genetics from Fudan University (復旦大學) in Shanghai in January 2012.

Mr. YAN Hua (顏華), aged 50, was appointed as a vice president of our Company on 16 January 2014. He 
joined our Group in June 2011 as technical director and since June 2012 has been a deputy general manager of 
Sangon Biotech. From February 2008 to May 2011, Mr. Yan was a deputy general manager of Neweast (Wuhan) 
Biosciences Limited (武漢紐斯特生物技術有限公司). Mr. Yan obtained his Doctor of Philosophy in Immunology from 
Wuhan Institute of Biological Products (武漢生物製品研究所) in Hubei Province, PRC in 2012.

Mr. GU Xiaolei (顧曉磊), aged 39, was appointed as the chief financial officer of our Company on 11 September 
2015. Mr. Gu has over 15 years of financial management experience in bio-medical industry in the PRC. Mr. Gu 
holds a Bachelor degree in Economics from Shanghai University of Financial and Economics (上海財經大學).

Mr. WANG Zhi (王志), aged 39, was appointed as a senior manager of our Company on 16 January 2014. Mr. 
Wang joined SSBETS in June 2001 and our Group in October 2009, and has been the DNA synthesis department 
director of Sangon Biotech since October 2012. Mr. Wang obtained his Master of Business Administration from 
Donghua University (東華大學) in Shanghai in May 2011.

Mr. ZHOU Mi (周密), aged 33, was appointed as a department director of our Company on 16 January 2014. He 
joined BBI Canada in November 2007, and has been a department director of Bio Basic (Canada) and Bio Basic (US)
since January 2011 and April 2011, respectively. Mr. Zhou obtained his Bachelor of Science in Biochemistry from 
Carleton University in Ottawa, Canada in June 2007.
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Mr. TENG Yuantung (鄧元東), aged 51, was appointed as the internal auditor of our Company on 16 January 
2014. Mr. Teng joined Sangon Biotech as internal audit director in May 2013.

Mr. Teng has over 13 years of experience in internal controls, audit and compliance matters. From May 2011 to 
May 2012, Mr. Teng was the audit manager and assistant to the general manager, mainly responsible for its listing 
proposal, shareholding and legal matters, internal audit and control development, management policy planning and 
development, ISO management system implementation in Guangdong Wanxing Inorganic Co., Ltd.* (廣東萬興無
機顏料股份有限公司) which is primarily engaged in non-metal mineral products production. From August 2012 to 
March 2013, he was the audit manager, mainly responsible for development and supervising the audit team, legal 
compliance and parent company internal audit and other specific audit matters of Zhangzhou Tsannkuen Enterprise 
Co., Ltd.* (漳洲燦坤實業股份有限公司), a subsidiary of Tsannkuen (China) Enterprise Co., Ltd (廈門燦坤實業股份
有限公司) which is listed on the Shenzhen stock exchange (stock code: 200512). From May 2005 to April 2011, 
he was the regional manager of USUN TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD* (陽程科技股份有限公司), an OTC-listed company 
on GreTai Securities Market (stock code: 3498). From September 2004 to April 2005, he was an assistant audit 
manager of Wonderful Hi-Tech Co. Ltd. (萬泰科技股份有限公司). From March 2001 to April 2002, Mr. Teng was 
an audit manager of ITEQ Corporation (聯茂電子股份有限公司). Mr. Teng obtained his Bachelor of Management 
in Enterprise Management from Tamkang University (私立淡江大學) in Taiwan in June 1995. He also received a 
certificate on tax accounting from the Centre for Public and Business Administration Education of the National 
Chengchi University* (國立政治大學公共行政企業管理教育中心) in 1998. Mr. Teng is a Certified Internal Auditor (CIA) 
conferred by the Institute of Internal Auditors in November 2004.

*	 For identification purpose only.
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The Board is pleased to present its report for the year ended 31 December 2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Group is mainly a well-recognized provider with comprehensive portfolio coverage in the life sciences research 
products and services industry in the PRC, as well as the largest provider of DNA synthesis products in the PRC. 
We offer DNA synthesis products, genetic engineering services, life sciences research consumables, and protein 
and antibody related products and services which are used to facilitate the studies of life sciences including animal 
and plant, disease, medical diagnosis, drug development, food and agriculture industry. The Company and its 
subsidiaries provide our DNA synthesis products and life sciences research consumables primarily in the PRC, North 
America, South America, Europe and Africa. The analysis of the principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries 
are set out in Note 38 to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW
During the Reporting Period, the revenue of the Group’s DNA synthesis products, genetic engineering services, life 
sciences research consumables and protein and antibody related products and services accounted for approximately 
40.2%, 20.4%, 29.5% and 9.9% respectively of the total revenue of the Group.

Detailed business review including an indication of likely future development in the Group's business and an 
analysis of the Group's performance using financial key performance indication, are set out in the chairman's 
statement and the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 8 and 12 of the annual report respectively.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
There are various and uncertainties including foreign exchange risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate risk and 
credit risk, that may have different levels of impact on the Group’s financial performance, operations, business as 
well as future prospects. There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to those mentioned above which 
are not known to the Group or which may not be material as at the date of this annual report but could turn out 
to be material in future. 

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the environment and communities in which it 
operates. As a responsible corporation, the Group has complied with all relevant laws and regulations regarding 
environmental protection, health and safety, workplace conditions and employment and has adopted effective 
measures to achieve efficient use of resource, energy saving and waste reduction.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS
The Group recognizes the importance of compliance with regulatory requirements and the risks of non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations. To the best knowledge of the Directors, the Group has 
complied in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business 
and operation of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2016. There was no material breach or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS
The suppliers selection principles of the Company are based on their product quality, price, service, financial status 
and time delivery capability.

The Group understands the success of the Group's business depends on the support from its key stakeholders, 
including employees, customers, suppliers, banks, regulators and Shareholders. During the year ended 31 December 
2016, there were no material and significant dispute between the Group and its key stakeholders. The Group will 
continue to ensure effective communication and maintain good relationship with each of its key stakeholders.

CORPORATE INFORMATION
The Company was incorporated on 10 July 2013 as an exempted company with limited liability under the laws of 
the Cayman Islands. The Company’s shares (the “Shares”) were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange 
on 30 December 2014 (the “Listing” or the “Listing Date”).

RESULTS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 are set out in pages 79 to 83 of the financial 
statements.

FINAL DIVIDEND
The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.012 per share for the year ended 31 December 
2016 (the “Final Dividend”), amounting to a total sum of approximately HK$6,606,000 (approximately equivalent 
to RMB5,909,000) to the Shareholders. The Final Dividend is subject to the approval by the Shareholders at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) to be held on Wednesday, 31 May 2017. The 
Final Dividend, if approved, is expected to be paid on Friday, 30 June 2017 to the Shareholders whose names 
appear on the register of members of the Company on Monday, 12 June 2017.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

(a)	 Determining the entitlement of Shareholders to attend and vote at the AGM
In order to determine the entitlement of Shareholders to attend and vote at the AGM to be held on 
Wednesday, 31 May 2017, the register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 25 May 
2017 to Wednesday, 31 May 2017 (both dates inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares will be 
registered. All transfer documents, accompanied by the relevant share certificates, shall be lodged with the 
Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-
1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later 
than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 24 May 2017.

(b)	 Determining the entitlement of Shareholders to receive the Final Dividend
In order to determine the list of the Shareholders entitled to receive the final dividend, the register of 
members of the Company will also be closed from Wednesday, 7 June 2017 to Monday, 12 June 2017 
(both dates inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. All transfer documents, 
accompanied by the relevant share certificates, shall be lodged with the Company’s share registrar in Hong 
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell 
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 6 
June 2017.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 7 
of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING
Net proceeds from the Listing (after deducting underwriting fee and relevant expenses) amounted to approximately 
HK$219.87 million (equivalent to RMB175.92 million). Such amount was used according to the allocation set out 
in the prospectus of the Company dated 16 December 2014. Use of net proceeds from Listing as at 31 December 
2016 is set forth as follows:

Utilised amount
as at 31 December

Item 2016
(RMB million)

  

Property and plant 106.87
SAP and other software expense 4.26
Deep and broad product and service portfolio 64.79
  DNA synthesis 29.79
  Genetic engineering service 14.89
  Life science consumables 8.51
    Protein and antibody related products and services 11.60
  

Total 175.92
  

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Major Customers
The turnover attributable to the top five customers of 2016 accounted for 5.5% of the Company’s operating 
income for the year ended 31 December 2016. The turnover of the largest single transaction accounted for 1.4% 
of the Company’s operating income for 2016.

Major Suppliers
The turnover attributable to the top five suppliers accounted for 25.6% of the Company’s total purchases for the 
year ended 31 December 2016. The turnover of the largest single supplier accounted for 8.6% of the Company’s 
total purchases for 2016.

During the year, to the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or any of their close associates or 
any shareholders (which, to best the knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the number of the issued 
Share capital) had an interest in any of the Company’s top five suppliers or customers.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the reporting period are set out in 
note 6 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2016 are set out in 
note 17 to the financial statements in this annual report.

RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the year are set out in the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 82 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 December 2016, the Company’s reserves available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the 
provisions of Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised), amounted to RMB544,855,000 
(as at 31 December 2015: approximately RMB508,450,000), of which RMB5,909,000 (equivalent to HK$6,606,000) 
was recommended to be the payment of the Final Dividend.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS
The Group did not have bank loans and other borrowings as at 31 December 2016.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2016 and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Wang Qisong (Chairman)
Ms. Wang Luojia (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Wang Jin (President)

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Hu Xubo

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Xia Lijun
Mr. Ho Kenneth Kai Chung
Mr. Liu Jianjun

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”), Ms. Wang Luojia, Ms. Wang Jin and Mr. 
Ho Kenneth Kai Chung will retire at the AGM, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. Biographical 
details of the Directors to be re-elected at the AGM are set out in the circular dated 25 April 2017 to the 
Shareholders.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Biographical details of Directors and senior management of the Company are set out in page 20 to 25 of this 
annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORS
The Company has received the annual confirmation from each of the independent non-executive Directors 
in respect of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the 
independent non-executive Directors to be independent throughout the year ended 31 December 2016 in 
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company for a fixed term of three 
years commencing on the Listing Date which can be terminated before the expiration of the term by not less than 
three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other. The appointments are subject to the provisions 
of retirement and rotation of Directors under the Articles.

The non-executive Director has signed an appointment letter with the Company for a term of three years with 
effect from the Listing Date. The appointment is subject to the provisions of retirement and rotation of Directors 
under the Articles.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed an appointment letter with the Company for a term 
of two years with effect from October 10, 2016. The appointments are subject to the provisions of retirement and 
rotation of Directors under the Articles.

Save as disclosed herein, none of the Directors has entered into any service contract with the Group which is 
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory 
compensation)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR 
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
At any time during the year, none of the Company or any of its subsidiaries entered into, whether directly or 
indirectly, any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance which a Director had a material interest in, was 
related to the Company’s business and subsisted during and up to the end of the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the businesses 
of the Company were entered into or existed during the year.
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REMUNERATION POLICIES
The Group’s remuneration policy and structure for remuneration of the directors and senior management of the 
Group are based on the Group’s operating results, individual performance and comparable market statistics and are 
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee periodically.

The remuneration of the Directors are recommended by the Remuneration Committee and are decided by the 
Board, having regard to the merit, qualifications and competence of individual Directors, the Group’s operating 
results and comparable market statistics.

The Company has also adopted the Pre-IPO Scheme A and Pre-IPO Scheme B (collectively, the “Pre-IPO Share 
Option Schemes”) and Post-IPO share option scheme (together with the Pre-IPO Share Option Schemes, the 
“Share Option Schemes”). The purpose of the Share Option Schemes is to enable us to grant options to selected 
participants as incentives or rewards for their contributions. The Directors consider the Share Option Schemes, with 
its broad basis of participation, will enable the Company to reward its employees, Directors and other selected 
participants for their contributions.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
During the year ended 31 December 2016, no further option could been granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option 
Schemes and no option has been granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme.

As disclosed above, the Company has adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Schemes and Post-IPO Share Option 
Scheme. The purpose of the Share Option Schemes is to enable us to grant options to selected participants as 
incentives or rewards for their contributions. The Directors consider the Share Option Schemes, with its broad basis 
of participation, will enable the Company to reward its employees, Directors and other selected participants for 
their contributions.

Set out below are details of the outstanding options under the Pre-IPO Share Option Schemes:

Category/
Name of Grantee

Scheme
 Type

Date of
 Grant Number of Outstanding Options

Exercise Price
 per Share

Exercised
during the
Reporting

Period

The Weighted
average closing
price before the
exercised dates

Cancelled
during the
Reporting

Period

Lapsed
during the
Reporting

Period

Vesting/
Exercise

Period (Day/
Month/Year)

As at
1 January 2016

As at
31 December 2016

           

Wang Luojia B 16/01/2014 644,198 483,149 HK$1.1 161,049 HK$1.6 – –
16/01/2014-
16/01/2019

4 Employees A 16/01/2014 314,478 94,256 HK$1.1 220,222 HK$1.46 – – note 1

Sub-Total – 16/01/2014 958,676 577,405 HK$1.1 381,271 – – – –
79 Employees A 04/09/2014 7,464,549 1,075,866 HK$1.1 6,388,683 HK$1.22 – – note 1

76 Employees B 04/09/2014 8,457,118 7,584,701 HK$1.1 521,747 HK$1.56 – 350,670
16/01/2014-
16/01/2019

           

Total – – 16,880,343 9,237,972 – 7,291,701 – – 350,670 –
           

Note:

1.	 At any time and from time to time up to the last day of the 5th anniversary of 16 January 2014.
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Details Pre-IPO Scheme A Pre-IPO Scheme B Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
     

1. Purpose To recognise and acknowledge the contributions that 
the eligible participants have or may have made to the 
Group and to provide the eligible participants with an 
opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company 
with a view to achieving the following objectives: 
(1) motivate the eligible participants to optimise 
their performance efficiency for the benefit of the 
Group; and (2) attracting and retaining or otherwise 
maintaining relationships with the eligible participants 
whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the 
long-term growth of the Group.

To provide part ic ipants with the 
opportunity to acquire proprietary 
interests in the Company and to 
encourage such participants to work 
towards enhancing the va lue of 
the Company and its Shares for the 
benefit of the Company and the 
Shareholders as a whole.

2. Participants (1) Executive Directors, (2) senior management of the 
Group and (3) other employees of the Group who, 
in the sole opinion of the Board, have contributed 
or will contribute to the Company and/or any of the 
subsidiaries.

(1) Directors and (2) employees of 
any member of the Group, as the 
Board may in its absolute discretion 
select.

3. Maximum 
number of 
Shares

Options to subscribe for 
an aggregate of 1,075,866 
Shares were outstanding, 
representing approximately 
0.2 0% o f t h e i s s u e d 
Shares as of the date of 
th i s annual report . No 
further option could be 
granted under the Pre-IPO 
Scheme A.

Options to subscribe for 
an aggregate of 7,511,370 
Shares were outstanding, 
representing approximately 
1.3 8% o f t h e i s s u e d 
Shares as of the date of 
th i s annual report . No 
further option could be 
granted under the Pre-IPO 
Scheme B.

The maximum number of Shares in 
respect of which options may be 
granted under the Post-IPO Share 
Opt ion Scheme was 52,466,310, 
representing approximately 9.64% 
of the issued Shares as of the date 
of this annual report. No option has 
been granted under the Post-IPO 
Share Option Scheme.

The maximum number of Shares 
which may be issued upon exercise 
of all outstanding options granted 
and yet to be exercised under the 
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and 
any other scheme of the Company 
must not in aggregate exceed 30% 
of the total number of Shares in 
issue from time to time.

4. Maximum 
entitlement 
of each 
participant

10% of the total number of Shares entitled to be 
subscribed for under each grant of options by the 
Company. The maximum number of shares to be 
subscribed for by each participant for each financial 
year shall not be more than 1% of the total issued 
share capital of the Company as at the last financial 
year end of the Company.

1% of the issued share capital of the 
Company from time to time within 
any 12-month period up to the date 
of the latest grant.
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Details Pre-IPO Scheme A Pre-IPO Scheme B Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
     

5. Option
period

A t a n y t i m e a n d f r o m 
time to time up to the last 
day of the 5th anniversary 
of 16 January 2014

(1) u p t o 2 0% o f t h e 
opt ions so g ranted to 
him/her (rounded down 
t o t h e n e a r e s t w h o l e 
n u m b e r ) a t a n y t i m e 
commencing from the 1st 
anniversary of 16 January 
2014;

(2) u p t o 4 0% o f t h e 
opt ions so g ranted to 
him/her (rounded down 
t o t h e n e a r e s t w h o l e 
n u m b e r ) a t a n y t i m e 
commenc ing f rom the 
2nd ann ive r sa ry o f 16 
January 2014;

(3) u p t o 6 0% o f t h e 
opt ions so g ranted to 
him/her (rounded down 
t o t h e n e a r e s t w h o l e 
n u m b e r ) a t a n y t i m e 
commencing from the 3rd 
anniversary of 16 January 
2014;

(4) u p t o 8 0% o f t h e 
opt ions so g ranted to 
him/her (rounded down 
t o t h e n e a r e s t w h o l e 
n u m b e r ) a t a n y t i m e 
commencing from the 4th 
anniversary of 16 January 
2014; and

(5) s u c h n u m b e r o f 
unexercised options so 
g ranted to h im/her a t 
any t ime commenc ing 
from the 5th anniversary 
of 16 January 2014 until 
the 6th anniversary of 16 
January 2014.

The period of time to be notified 
by the Board to each grantee at 
the time of making an offer, which 
shall be determined by the Board in 
its absolute discretion at the time 
of grant, but such period must not 
exceed 10 years from the date of 
grant of the relevant option.

The terms of an offer may include 
any min imum per iods for which 
an option must be held and/or any 
minimum performance targets that 
must be reached, before the options 
can be exercised in whole or in part, 
and may include at the discretion 
of the Board other terms imposed 
(or not imposed) either on a case by 
case basis or generally.
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Details Pre-IPO Scheme A Pre-IPO Scheme B Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
     

6. Acceptance 
of offer

On acceptance of the of fer of the opt ion, the 
participant shall execute and return an acceptance 
letter in accordance with the terms and conditions set 
by the Company.

An o f f e r sha l l r ema in open fo r 
a c c e p t a n c e b y t h e p a r t i c i p a n t 
concerned for a period of 14 days 
from the date of the offer. HK$1.00 
is payable by the grantee to the 
Company on acceptance of the offer 
of the option.

7. Exercise Price HK$1.1 per Share The subscr ipt ion pr ice sha l l not 
b e l e s s t h a n t h e h i g h e s t o f ( a ) 
the closing price of the Shares as 
s t a ted i n the S tock Exchange ’ s 
daily quotations sheet on the date 
of grant; (b) the average closing 
price of the Shares as stated in the 
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations 
sheets for the five business days 
immediately preceding the date of 
grant; and (c) the nominal value of a 
Share on the date of grant.

8. Remaining
life of
the scheme

They expired on 30 December 2014. It shall be valid and effective for a 
period of ten years commencing 
o n 8 D e c e m b e r 2 0 1 4, a n d t h e 
remaining life is around 7 years and 
9 months.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
Details of the remuneration of Directors and the five highest paid individuals are set out on note 28 to the 
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

CHANGES TO INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
Save as disclosed in this annual report, there has been no change to any of the information required to be 
disclosed in relation to any Director pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules 
during the Reporting Period.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS 
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
As of 31 December 2016, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in 
the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of 
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”), which were required to be notified to the Company 
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions 
which they were taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or were required, pursuant 
to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or were required to be notified to the 
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed 
Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, are set out as follows:

Number
of shares/ Long position/

underlying Shareholding short position/
Name of Director Nature of interest shares held percentage lending pool

(%)
     

Wang Luojia (Notes 1, 2, 3) Trustee of a trust, interest  
  in a controlled corporation  
  and interests held jointly 
  with another person

312,221,948 57.38 Long position

Wang Jin (Notes 1, 2, 4) Trustee of a trust and 
  interests held jointly 
  with another person

312,221,948 57.38 Long position

Wang Qisong (Notes 1, 2, 5) Settlor of trust and 
  interests held jointly 
  with another person

312,221,948 57.38 Long position

Note:

1.	 Wang J Family Trust is an irrevocable trust constituted under the laws of the Province of Ontario, with Wang Qisong as the 

settler, Wang Luojia as the trustee and Wang Jin and her children as the beneficiaries. Wang J Family Trust owns 51.15% of 

the total issued shares of LJ Peace Ltd. and 50% of the total issued shares of LJ Venture Ltd.

2.	 Wang L Family Trust is an irrevocable trust constituted under the laws of the Province of Ontario, with Wang Qisong as the 

settler, Wang Jin as the trustee and Wang Luojia and her children as the beneficiaries. Wang L Family Trust owns 48.85% 

of the issued shares of LJ Peace Ltd. and 50% of the issued shares of LJ Venture Ltd.
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3.	 Wang Luojia (i) is the trustee of Wang J Family Trust which owns 51.15% of the total issued shares of LJ Peace Ltd. and 

50% of the total issued shares of LJ Venture Ltd.; (ii) owns 50% of the total issued shares of LJ Hope Ltd. which in turn 

holds 8,449,833 Shares; (iii) is the grantee of an option granted pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share Option Schemes pursuant 

to which 483,149 Shares will be issued to Wang Luojia upon exercise of the same; (iv) personally owns 322,099 Shares as 

beneficial owner and (v) is a party to the a deed of confirmation (“Acting in Concert Deed”) dated 4 November 2014 

executed by Mr. Wang Qisong, Ms. Wang Luojia and Ms. Wang Jin, pursuant to which each of Wang Qisong, Wang 

Luojia and Wang Jin has agreed to consolidate their respective interests in the Company and to vote on any resolution 

to be passed at any Shareholders’ meeting of the Company in a unanimous manner. Wang Luojia is therefore deemed to 

be interested in the Shares held by LJ Peace Ltd., LJ Venture Ltd. and LJ Hope Ltd. respectively and the underlying Shares 

in respect of the options granted to herself and to Wang Qisong pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share Option Schemes under 

the SFO. Each of Wang Luojia, Wang Jin and Wang Qisong is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by them in 

aggregate by virtue of the SFO.

4.	 Wang Jin is the trustee of Wang L Family Trust which owns 48.85% of the total issued shares of LJ Peace Ltd. and 50% 

of the total issued shares of LJ Venture Ltd. Accordingly, Wang Jin, being the trustee of Wang L Family Trust, is deemed to 

be interested in the Shares held by LJ Peace Ltd. and LJ Venture Ltd. respectively under the SFO. Pursuant to the Acting in 

Concert Deed, each of Wang Qisong, Wang Luojia and Wang Jin has agreed to consolidate their respective interests in the 

Company and to vote on any resolution to be passed at any shareholders’ meeting of the Company in a unanimous manner 

and hence each of Wang Luojia, Wang Jin and Wang Qisong is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by them in 

aggregate by virtue of the SFO.

5.	 In light of notes 1 and 2, Wang Qisong, being the settlor of both Wang L Family Trust and Wang J Family Trust, is deemed 

to be interested in the Shares held by LJ Venture Ltd. and LJ Peace Ltd., respectively. Pursuant to the Acting in Concert 

Deed, each of Wang Qisong, Wang Luojia and Wang Jin has agreed to consolidate their respective interests in the Company 

and to vote on any resolution to be passed at any shareholders’ meeting of the Company in a unanimous manner and 

hence each of Wang Luojia, Wang Jin and Wang Qisong is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by them in 

aggregate by virtue of the SFO, and (v) 760,776 shares would be issued to Mr,Wang Qisong upon exercise of the options 

granted to him pursuant to the first 2014 Employee Stock Option Plan A of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had 
any interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its 
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that (i) was recorded in the register required to 
be kept pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise (ii) was required to be notified to the Company and 
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Save as disclosed in this annual report, no rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or 
debentures of the Company were granted to any Director or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of 
age, nor were any such rights exercised by them, nor was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any 
arrangement to enable the Directors, or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, to acquire such 
rights in any other body corporate at any time during the year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST SHARES
As at 31 December 2016, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the following persons (other than the Directors 
or chief executive of the Company) had an interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which 
would be required to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO 
or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

Name of shareholder Name of interest

Number
of Shares/
underlying

Shares held
Shareholding

percentage

Long position/
short position/
lending pool

%
     

LJ Peace Ltd. (Notes 1, 2) Beneficial owner 184,156,346 33.84 Long position

LJ Venture Ltd. (Notes 1, 2) Beneficial owner 118,049,745 21.69 Long position

Mai Jun (Note 3) Interest of a spouse and interest in 
  a controlled corporation

312,221,948 57.38 Long position

Lu Guang Yi (Note 4) Interest of a spouse 312,221,948 57.38 Long position

Qiming Venture Partners II, L.P. 
  (“QVP II”) (Note 5)

Beneficial owner and 
  person acting in concert

82,841,176 15.22 Long position

Qiming Venture Partners II-C, L.P. 
   (“QVP II-C”) (Note 5)

Beneficial owner and 
  person acting in concert

82,841,176 15.22 Long position

Qiming Managing Directors Fund II, L.P. 
  (“QMDF”) (Note 5)

Beneficial owner and 
  person acting in concert

82,841,176 15.22 Long position

Grandeur Peak Global Advisors, LLC Investment Manager 43,836,000 8.06 Long position

Notes:

1.	 Wang J Family Trust is an irrevocable trust constituted under the laws of the Province of Ontario, with Wang Qisong as the 

settlor, Wang Luojia as the trustee and Wang Jin and her children as the beneficiaries. Wang J Family Trust owns 51.15% 

of the total issued shares of LJ Peace Ltd. and 50% of the total issued shares of LJ Venture Ltd.

2.	 Wang L Family Trust is an irrevocable trust constituted under the laws of the Province of Ontario, with Wang Qisong as the 

settlor, Wang Jin as the trustee and Wang Luojia and her children as the beneficiaries. Wang L Family Trust owns 48.85% 

of the issued shares of LJ Peace Ltd. and 50% of the issued shares of LJ Venture Ltd.

3.	 Mai Jun is the spouse of Wang Luojia and is deemed to be interested in the Shares which are deemed to be interest by 

Wang Luojia under the SFO. Mai Jun also owns 50% of LJ Hope Ltd. and is therefore also deemed to be interested in the 

Shares held by LJ Hope Ltd.

4.	 Lu Guang Yi is the spouse of Wang Jin. Accordingly, Lu Guang Yi is deemed to be interested in the Shares which are 

deemed to be interested by Wang Jin under the SFO.
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5.	 QVP II, QVP II-C and QMDF beneficially hold 75,161,799 Shares, 6,585,871 Shares and 1,093,506 Shares respectively, 

representing approximately 13.81%, 1.21% and 0.20% respectively of the total issued share capital of the Company. By 

virtue of QVP II acting in concert with QVP II-C and QMDF, each of QVP II, QVP II-C and QMDF is deemed to be interested 

in all Shares held by them in aggregate under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, to the best knowledge of the Directors, there has not any 
other person who had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which would be required to 
be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the 
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES
The Group had not purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 
December 2016.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would 
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

NON-COMPETING UNDERTAKINGS
Controlling shareholders of the Company, namely Wang Qisong, Wang Jin, Wang Luojia, LJ Peace Ltd. and LJ 
Venture Ltd. or any of them (the “Controlling Shareholders”), have signed the deed of non-competition (the 
“Deed of Non-competition”) dated 8 December 2014, pursuant to which, each of our Controlling Shareholders 
shall, and shall procure that their respective close associates and/or companies controlled by them (other than our 
Group) (i) not, directly or indirectly, be interested or involved or engaged in or acquire or hold any right or interest 
(in each case whether as a director or shareholder (other than being a director or shareholder of the Group), 
partner, agent or otherwise and whether for profit, reward or otherwise) in any business which competes or is 
likely to compete directly or indirectly with the business currently carried out and from time to time engaged by 
the Group (including but not limited to the provision of life sciences research products and services) within the PRC 
or overseas (the"Restricted Activity”); (ii) not solicit any existing employee of the Group for employment by them 
or their close associates (excluding members of our Group); (iii) not, without the consent from the Company, make 
use of any information pertaining to the business of the Group which may have come to their knowledge in their 
capacity as the controlling shareholders for any purpose of engaging, investing or participating in any Restricted 
Activity; (iv) if there is any project or new business opportunity that relates to the Restricted Activity, refer such 
project or new business opportunity to the Group for consideration; (v) not invest or participate in any Restricted 
Activity; and (vi) procure their close associates (excluding our Group) not to invest or participate in any project or 
business opportunity of the Restricted Activity. Details of the Deed of Non-competition are set out in the section 
headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” of the Prospectus.

The Company has received the annual confirmation of the Controlling Shareholders in respect of their compliance 
with the non-competition undertakings under the Deed of Non-competition during the year ended 31 December 
2016.

The independent non-executive Directors also reviewed the Controlling Shareholders’ compliance with the non-
competition undertakings. The independent non-executive Directors confirmed that the Controlling Shareholders 
were not in breach of the non-competition undertakings during the year ended 31 December 2016.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
Save as disclosed in this annual report, as at 31 December 2016, no Director or any of their close associates 
had any interests in any business which competed or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the 
business of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION
During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company had no connected transaction or continuing connected 
transaction which was required to be disclosed pursuant to the provisions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. 
For details on related-party transactions conducted during the year ended 31 December 2016, please refer to note 
36 to the financial statement on page 136 of this annual report. None of these related party transactions referred 
to in the financial statements falls under the definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected 
transaction” in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

On 3 March 2017 (after trading hours), Sangon Biotech (a subsidiary of the Company), Mr. Wang (an executive 
Director, a controlling Shareholder and the sole shareholder of Sangon Health Technology (Shanghai) Company 
Limited (“Sangon Health”)) and Sangon Health entered into various VIE Agreements, to facilitate the development 
of genetic diagnosis business of the Group. The VIE Structure allows Sangon Biotech to exercise full control over 
Sangon Health. As a result, Sangon Biotech effectively holds, through the VIE Structure, 100% of the equity 
interests in Sangon Health which principally engages in genetic diagnosis and related treatment products and 
services business. Sangon Biotech will have effective control over the finance and operations, and the entire 
economic interest and benefits of Sangon Health through the VIE Agreements. Sangon Health will become a 
subsidiary of the Company and its financial results will be consolidated into the financial statements of the Group.

I.	 The difference between existing business of the Company and the business 
operated in the mode of VIE
The products and services of the Company include DNA synthesis products, genetic engineering services, life 
sciences research consumables, and protein and antibody related products and services. The business aforesaid 
mainly provides the products and services for basic life sciences research, mainly staying at the level of the 
experiment service and small-scale industry production, without involving in the clinical and illness diagnosis 
fields based on the gene level. It expands our products and services into the application area of life sciences, 
such as disease diagnosis technology based on molecular biology, tumour treatment based on polypeptide 
technology, etc. to take full use of the technological advantages that have been accumulated in the life 
sciences by the Group and to enhance the Group’s competitiveness in the future market. Therefore, the 
Company intends to enter the clinical and disease diagnosis related fields based on the gene level.

Given that the Company is the limited company incorporated in Cayman Island, according to the laws of 
the PRC, Sangon Biotech is a foreign-invested enterprise. According to the Catalogue for the Guidance of 
Industries for Foreign Investment (revised version in 2015) (hereafter referred to as “Guidance Catalogue”) 
issued by the National Development and Reform Commission, and the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC, the 
provisions of Type 20, Item VIII, the Prohibited Class for foreign investment: human stem cells, gene diagnosis 
and treatment technology development and application.
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Gene diagnosis refers to the technological method using the modern molecular biology and molecular 
genetics to directly detect if the internal gene structure and its expression level are normal, making a diagnosis 
or assistant diagnosis on illness to detect and analyze gene existence, structural variation and expression 
state at DNA/RNA level. All of the methods of transferring a genetic material to a patient’s cell by using the 
principle of molecular biology method to make it work in vivo for the purpose of treatment are called gene 
therapy. According to the provisions of the Guidance Catalogue, the development and application of the 
technologies involving genetic diagnosis and treatment do not allow foreign investment, while the clinic and 
illness diagnosis at the genetic level is within the prohibited field. Therefore, under the current conditions, the 
Company cannot carry out the business of relevant products and services with genetic diagnosis and treatment 
independently in the PRC.

Sangon Health is a limited company established in the PRC by Mr. Wang Qisong. According to the laws of 
the PRC, Sangon Health can carry out the business of relevant products and services with genetic diagnosis 
and treatment, without limitation from the Guidance Catalogue. By signing the VIE agreement with Sangon 
Health, the Company are enabled to be engaged in the business of relevant products and services with 
genetic diagnosis and treatment in the name of Sangon Health.

II.	 Determination benchmark on annual cap of related transactions
According to the arrangements recently made for the business plan, the source of earnings for Sangon Health 
will mainly focus on the following two aspects in the next three years: (1) the earnings from the investment of 
Tianjin Hengjia Biotech Development Company Limited (天津亨佳生物科技發展有限公司) (“Tianjin Hengjia”)
of Sangon Health; and (2) the earnings from the services of medical laboratory (the “Earnings”) fully funded 
by Sangon Health.

Specifically speaking, Tianjin Hengjia currently devotes itself to research and application of relevant 
technologies and treatment methods of autologous mutation peptides for treatment of cancer. If the items 
are successfully, Tianjin Hengjia can keep a foothold on Tianjin, the PRC, to provide treatment services for 
the group with cancers, thus obtaining stable earnings. The Earnings are conductive for the technological 
advantages accumulated by the Group by virtue of high-throughput sequencing field. The Group will provide 
reliable, quick and convenient medicare detection services to the huge group of end users. The detection 
services currently are designed for the high-end market to obtain stable earnings in first-tier of cities in the 
PRC.

The determination method for the earnings above-mentioned has been approved by the Board meeting held 
on 3 March 2017.
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Contract arrangement:

On 3 March 2017, Mr. Wang (an executive Director, a controlling Shareholder and the sole shareholder of 
Sangon Health) and Sangon Health (“Sangon Health”) , established in the PRC with limited liability which is 
owned as to 100% by Mr. Wang, entered into various VIE Agreements, to facilitate several business activities 
in which the company is classified as “restricted” in accordance with Chinese laws and regulations and will 
have effective control over the Sangon Health through the VIE Agreements. Sangon Health will become a 
subsidiary of the Company and its financial results will be consolidated into the financial statements of the 
Group.

VIE Agreements

A summary of the principal terms of the VIE Agreements is set out below:

(1)	 Exclusive Option Agreement

Date: 3 March 2017

Parties: (1)	 Mr. Wang
(2)	 Sangon Biotech
(3)	 Sangon Health

Term: The Exclusive Option Agreement became effective upon signing by all parties and 
will be terminated when all the rights and assets in Sangon Health are transferred 
to Sangon Biotech and/or other entity(ies) or person(s) designated by Sangon 
Biotech in accordance with the terms of the Exclusive Option Agreement and the 
laws of the PRC.

Subject: Mr. Wang irrevocably and unconditionally grants the exclusive option to Sangon 
Biotech which entitles Sangon Biotech to elect to purchase or nominate any other 
entity(ies) or person(s) to purchase, to the extent permitted under the laws of the 
PRC, all or any part of his equity interests in Sangon Health from Mr. Wang and/
or all or any of the assets and businesses of Sangon Health from Sangon Health at 
such minimum price as permitted under the applicable PRC laws and regulations.

Mr. Wang and Sangon Health undertake, among other things, without the prior 
written consent of Sangon Biotech, not to (i) sell, transfer, charge, or dispose any 
legal or beneficial equity interest, or any legal or beneficial interest in or create any 
encumbrance over the assets, business or income of Sangon Health; (ii) supplement, 
revise or amend the articles of association of Sangon Health; (iii) increase or 
decrease the registered capital or change the structure of registered capital of 
Sangon Health; and (iv) appoint or remove any directors, supervisors, general 
managers or other senior officers of Sangon Health.

Subject to applicable PRC laws, Mr. Wang shall unconditionally transfer all the 
consideration he receives in relation to such sale of equity interests in Sangon 
Health under the Exclusive Option Agreement to Sangon Biotech or its nominee 
after receiving such consideration, after deduction of applicable taxes and 
governmental fees.
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(2)	 Strategic Consultation and Service Agreement

Date: 3 March 2017

Parties: (1)	 Sangon Biotech
(2)	 Sangon Health

Term: The Strategic Consultation and Service Agreement became effective upon signing 
by both parties and remains valid for three years from the date of signing which 
may be renewed by written consent of both parties not less than 30 days before its 
termination subject to compliance with the Listing Rules.

Subject: Sangon Health engages Sangon Biotech on an exclusive basis to provide strategic 
consultancy and technology support services in relation to molecular biology 
related research and development, genetic diagnostic technology research and 
development, diagnostic kit technology research and application, and other related 
advisory and development strategy services (the “Consultancy Services”).

In consideration of the provision of the Consultancy Services, Sangon Health will 
pay Sangon Biotech a quarterly service fee in an amount equivalent to 100% of the 
net profit after tax of Sangon Health, subject to Sangon Biotech’s adjustment from 
time to time.

Without the prior written consent of Sangon Biotech, Sangon Health shall 
not assign or transfer any of the rights and/or obligations under the Strategic 
Consultation and Service Agreement to any third party.

Annual Cap: The maximum annual transaction amount payable by Sangon Health for the 
financial years ending 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019 under the Strategic 
Consultation and Service Agreement are set out as follows:–

Maximum
transaction

amount
(RMB)

 

From 3 March 2017 to 31 December 2017	 1,700,000
From 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018	 5,000,000
From 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019	 10,000,000

Since the Company has not entered into any service agreement with Sangon Health 
or any other parties previously, no historical value is available for reference.

Such maximum annual transaction amounts are determined in accordance with the 
schemes of operations and financial budget of Sangon Health

In view of the above factors, the Directors are of the view that the above proposed 
annual cap is fair and reasonable.
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(3)	 Power of Attorney

Date: 3 March 2017

Parties: Mr. Wang in favour of Sangon Biotech

Term: The Power of Attorney became effective upon signing by all parties and continues 
to be valid so long as Mr. Wang remains a registered shareholder of Sangon Health.

Subject: Mr. Wang irrevocably appoints Sangon Biotech or person(s) designated by Sangon 
Biotech (including but not limited to our Director(s) or the director(s) of Sangon 
Biotech who is/are not associate(s) of Mr. Wang) and his/their successors or the 
liquidator of Sangon Biotech to act as his attorney on his behalf to exercise all 
rights as a shareholder of Sangon Health, including but not limited to (i) passing 
and signing shareholder’s minutes/resolutions; (ii) exercising the shareholder’s voting 
right; (iii) selling or transferring all or part of his equity interests; (iv) nominating and 
appointing the legal representatives, directors, supervisors, general managers and 
other senior officers of Sangon Health; (v) any other matters decided or executed 
by shareholder(s) of Sangon Health in accordance with the articles of association 
of Sangon Health; and (vi) handling the transfer of the pledged assets under the 
Equity Pledge Agreement.

(4)	 Loan Agreement

Date: 3 March 2017

Parties: (1)	 Mr. Wang
(2)	 Sangon Biotech
(3)	 Sangon Health

Term: The Loan Agreement became effective upon signing by all parties and remains valid 
until the loan amount of RMB8.5 million (the “Loan”) and the interest accrued 
therefrom have been fully repaid.

Subject: Sangon Biotech agrees to grant the Loan to Sangon Health as working capital 
without interest. Sangon Health shall repay the Loan and any accrued interest by 
31 December 2020 or upon the termination of the VIE Agreements (whichever 
is earlier), unless otherwise agreed by the parties in writing (the “Repayment 
Obligations”). Mr. Wang has provided a guarantee on the repayment of the Loan 
in the event Sangon Health does not fulfil its Repayment Obligations. The Loan is 
secured by Mr. Wang’s equity interests in Sangon Health, which details are more 
particularly set out in the Equity Pledge Agreement.
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(5)	 Equity Pledge Agreement

Date: 3 March 2017

Parties: (1)	 Mr. Wang
(2)	 Sangon Biotech
(3)	 Sangon Health

Term: The Equity Pledge Agreement became effective upon signing by all parties and 
remains in effect until all of the contractual obligations of Mr. Wang, Sangon 
Biotech and Sangon Health under the VIE Agreements (the “Secured Obligations”) 
have been duly performed; and all the outstanding debts of Mr. Wang, Sangon 
Health and Sangon Biotech under the VIE Agreements (the “Secured Liabilities”) 
have been repaid in full.

Subject: Mr. Wang pledges all his equity interests in Sangon Health as well as any dividends 
generated from such interests to Sangon Biotech to secure the due performance of 
the Secured Obligations and the full repayment of the Secured Liabilities.

Risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements and the actions taken by the Company to mitigate 
the risks:

Risks associated with the
Contractual Arrangements Mitigation actions taken by the Company

   

1 Shareholders of the PRC Operating Entities 
may have conflicts of interest with us, and 
they may breach their contracts with us or 
cause such contracts to be amended in a 
manner contrary to our interests

All the new agreements contain the relevant 
provisions of the dispute resolution. According to 
this provision, if there is a dispute relating to the 
contract arrangement, the arbitration institution 
may take remedial measures on the equity or 
assets of the Chinese business entity and the 
court with jurisdiction may take temporary 
remedies on the equity or assets of the Chinese 
business entity.



45

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Risks associated with the
Contractual Arrangements Mitigation actions taken by the Company

   

2 We may lose the ability to use and enjoy 
assets held by the PRC Operating Entities that 
are material to our business operations if the 
PRC Operating Entities declare bankruptcy or 
become subject to a dissolution or liquidation 
proceeding

According to the Exclusive Option Agreement, in 
the event of a mandatory liquidation required by 
PRC laws, all of the remaining assets and residual 
interests of the PRC Operating Entities shall be 
transferred through a non-reciprocal transfer 
to Sangon Biotech after such liquidationat the 
lowest transfer price permitted by PRC laws. 
In such case, if the Registered Shareholders 
receive any payment after theliquidation, they 
shall return in full such payment to Sangon 
Biotech, after the deduction of relevant taxes or 
payments pursuant to applicable PRC laws

3 Shareholders of the PRC Operating Entities 
may have conflicts of interest with us, and 
they may breach their contracts with us or 
cause such contracts to be amended in a 
manner contrary to our interests.

Each of the Regis tered Shareholders have 
undertaken that during the period when the 
Contractual Arrangements remain effective, (i) 
unless a prior written consent is obtained from 
the PRC Operating Entities, such shareholder will 
not engage in, conduct, participate in or use the 
information obtained from the PRC Operating 
Entities or any of its affiliates to participate in, 
directly or indirectly, any business or activity 
which competes or is likely to compete with 
the business of the PRC Operating Entities or 
its subsidiaries (if any), nor will he acquire, hold 
any interests in or derive any interests from 
any business which competes or is l ikely to 
compete with the business of the PRC Operating 
Entit ies or its subsidiaries ( if any); ( i i ) such 
shareholder will not take any action deviating 
from the intention and purposes of the New 
Agreements which may lead to any conflict of 
interests between Sangon Biotech and the PRC 
Operating Entities or its subsidiaries (if any); 
and (iii) if any conflict of interests occurs during 
the performance of the New Agreements by 
such shareholder, he will act in favor of Sangon 
Biotech as set forth under the New Agreements 
and in accordance with the directions of Sangon 
Biotech.
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Risks associated with the
Contractual Arrangements Mitigation actions taken by the Company

   

4 We depend on the PRC Operating Entities to 
provide certain services that are critical to our 
business. The breach or termination of any of 
our service agreements with PRC Operating 
Ent i t ies or any fa i lure of or s ign i f icant 
quality deterioration in these services could 
materially and adversely affect our business, 
financial condition and results of operations.

To ensure sound and effective operation of the 
Group after the adoption of the Contractual 
Arrangements, the relevant business units and 
operation divisions of the Group will report 
regularly, which will be no less frequent than 
on a monthly basis, to the senior management 
o f t h e C o m p a n y o n t h e c o m p l i a n c e a n d 
performance conditions under the Contractual 
Arrangements and other related matters. In 
addition, pursuant to the Exclusive Technology 
Service Agreement and the Exclusive Call Option 
Agreement, to the extent permitted by law, 
each PRC Operating Entity and its Registered 
Shareholders are not contractual ly entit led 
to terminate relevant Strategic Consultation 
and Service Agreement and Exclusive Option 
Agreement with Sangon Biotech.

5 Certain terms of the Contractual Arrangements 
may not be enforceable under PRC laws

As advised by the Company’s PRC legal advisers, 
the Contractual Arrangements were narrowly 
tailored to minimize the potential conflict with 
relevant PRC laws and regulations.

Diagram of the VIE structure

The following diagram sets out the VIE Structure in relation to Sangon Health:

The Company (Cayman Islands)

100% 100%

BBI International (HK) BBI Asia (HK)

Shanghai Shengji (PRC) BBI China (PRC)

10% 0.005% 62.141% 27.854%

Sangon Biotech (PRC)

Mr. Wang

100%

Sangon Health (PRC) 

VIE Agreements
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Further details of the VIE Structure

1.	 Laws and regulations relating to the genetic diagnosis business in the PRC

As development and application of human stem cells and genetic diagnosis and therapy technology 
falls within Category 20 of Item 8 in the Catalogue of Prohibited Foreign Investment Industry under the 
Catalogue for the Guidance of Foreign Investment Industries (Amended in 2015) (外商投資產業指導目錄
(2015年修訂)) jointly promulgated by NDRC and MOFCOM, foreign investors are prohibited from holding 
equity interest in PRC entities conducting genetic diagnosis and related treatment products and services 
business in the PRC. As a result, Sangon Biotech, a sino-foreign joint stock company, is not able to 
acquire and hold the equity interests in Sangon Health under the applicable PRC laws and regulations.

As mentioned above, the main reason for adopting the VIE Structure is to enable the Group to conduct 
genetic diagnosis and related treatment products and services business in the PRC. As such, the Company 
will unwind the VIE Structure as soon as the relevant PRC laws and regulations allow Sangon Biotech to 
operate genetic diagnosis and related treatment products and services business in the PRC without the 
VIE Structure so as to directly operate the aforesaid business.

The Company’s PRC legal adviser has confirmed that (i) each of the VIE Agreements does not violate 
any of the laws, rules and regulations in the PRC; (ii) the VIE Agreements are valid under the laws of 
the PRC; and (iii) the VIE Agreements would not be considered as “concealing illegal intentions with 
a lawful form” and void under the contract law of the PRC. Based on the above and the advice from 
the Company’s PRC legal adviser, the Directors are of the view that the VIE Structure is in line with the 
principles set out in the Listing Decision and the Guidance Letter and that each of the VIE Agreements is 
valid under the relevant laws, rules and regulations in the PRC.

2.	 Protection of the interest and assets of the Group

Sangon Health is established by Mr. Wang as the sole shareholder, who is also the executive Director 
and the controlling Shareholder. Each of the VIE Agreements includes a provision that each agreement 
is binding on the successors and permitted assignees of the respective parties. In the event of death, 
bankruptcy or divorce of Mr. Wang, Sangon Biotech can exercise its option under the Exclusive Option 
Agreement to replace Mr. Wang, and the newly appointed nominee shareholder of Sangon Health will 
still be subject to the VIE Agreements, thus protecting the interest of the Group and allowing Sangon 
Biotech to enforce its rights under the VIE Agreements against the successors of the shareholder(s) of 
Sangon Health.

The Company has also put in place effective internal controls to safeguard its assets held through the 
VIE Agreements. For instance, the independent non-executive Directors will review the VIE Agreements 
and VIE Structure annually and confirm in our Company’s annual report and financial statements for the 
relevant year that: (i) the transactions carried out during such year have been entered into in accordance 
with the relevant provisions of the VIE Agreements so that the profits after tax generated by Sangon 
Health have been mainly retained by Sangon Health; (ii) no dividends or other distributions have been 
made by Sangon Health to the holders of its equity interests which are not otherwise subsequently 
assigned or transferred to the Group; and (iii) any new contracts entered into, renewed or reproduced 
between the Group and Sangon Health during the relevant financial period are fair and reasonable, on 
normal commercial terms so far as our Group is concerned and in the interests of the Shareholders as a 
whole. Sangon Health undertakes to provide the Group’s management and auditors with full access to its 
relevant records for the purpose of procedures to be carried out by the Company’s auditors.
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Furthermore, the Exclusive Option Agreement provides that in the event of a compulsory winding up of 
Sangon Health, Mr. Wang undertakes to give the remaining assets he shall receive from liquidation as a 
gift to Sangon Biotech and/or its nominee to the extent permitted under the PRC laws.

Each of the VIE Agreements contains dispute resolution clauses that provide for (i) arbitration and that 
arbitral tribunal may award remedies over the shares or assets of Sangon Health, or injunctive relief or 
order the winding up of Sangon Health, and (ii) the courts of Cayman Islands, the PRC, Hong Kong and 
the places where the Company’s or Sangon Health’s principal assets are located to have jurisdictions to 
grant interim injunctive relief or other interim remedies in support of the arbitration pending formation 
of the arbitration tribunal or in appropriate cases.

The Strategic Consultation and Service Agreement also provides that Sangon Biotech has the exclusive 
proprietary rights to all intellectual property rights developed or created during the performance of the 
Strategic Consultation and Service Agreement. Sangon Health shall assign its intellectual property rights 
to Sangon Biotech upon the request of Sangon Biotech.

As part of the internal control measures, the Board will review the major issues arising from the 
implementation and performance of the VIE Structure regularly and determine the need to retain legal 
advisers and/or other professionals to assist the Group to handle such issues.

3.	 VIE Agreements confer economic benefits on the Group from Sangon Health

The VIE Agreements confer upon the Group the right to enjoy all the economic benefit of Sangon 
Health by operation of the Strategic Consultation and Service Agreement, under which Sangon Biotech 
is entitled to payment of a service fee by Sangon Health in an amount, subject to Sangon Biotech’s 
adjustment, equivalent to 100% of net profit after tax of Sangon Health. Sangon Biotech may at its 
absolute discretion adjust the service fees with reference to the operation cost and financial budget 
relating to the business development plan of Sangon Health. It is also entitled to make any other 
adjustments of the service fees at the end of every quarter in accordance with the quarterly revenue and 
profit of Sangon Biotech under accounting standard applicable to the Group.

4.	 VIE Agreements confer control over Sangon Health on the Group

The VIE Agreements confer upon the Group sufficient rights to control over the board and daily operation 
of Sangon Health. Mr. Wang, the sole director of Sangon Health, and Sangon Health agrees to follow 
the proposals put forward by Sangon Biotech relating to the employment matters, daily operation and 
management as well as financial management policies of Sangon Health, and shall operate all businesses 
of Sangon Health in the ordinary course of business and refrain from any action or omission that may 
adversely affect the business of Sangon Health.

Moreover, Sangon Biotech and Sangon Health have implemented internal control measures to regulate 
the accounts receivables. The relevant departments of Sangon Health will review on a regular basis the 
services rendered by Sangon Biotech and check the accounts payables and receivables. Sangon Health is 
also required to transfer the relevant service fees to a bank account designated by Sangon Biotech on a 
quarterly basis.
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Under the Exclusive Option Agreement, each of Sangon Health and Mr. Wang undertakes that, without 
obtaining Sangon Biotech’s written consent, Sangon Health shall not engage in any transaction which 
may materially affect its asset, obligation, right or business operation, including but not limit to: (i) 
borrowing or assuming any liabilities from any third parties, unless such borrowing or liabilities arise out 
of the ordinary course of business of Sangon Health; (ii) selling to or acquiring from any third parties any 
assets or rights, including but not limited to any intellectual property rights; and (iii) providing any loan to 
any third parties.

Furthermore, as a general housekeeping rule, Sangon Biotech will have the custody of the company seal 
of Sangon Health. At the request of Sangon Biotech, Sangon Health will provide it with relevant legal 
documents and other information on the business operation of Sangon Health.
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The further risk disclosures to the VIE Structure

In terms of the VIE structure, the group is subject to a number of risks and limitations as follows:

Under the VIE Agreements (other than the Loan Agreement), Sangon Biotech is not obligated to share the 
losses of Sangon Health or provide financial support to Sangon Health. As a limited liability company, Sangon 
Health is solely liable for its own debts and losses. As advised by the Company’s PRC legal adviser, Sangon 
Biotech does not have any obligation to Sangon Health to share the losses of Sangon Health or to provide 
financial support to Sangon Health.

(a)	 Given that the Group engages in genetic diagnosis and related treatment products and services business 
through Sangon Health, and that the financial results of Sangon Health will be consolidated into the 
financial statements of the Group, it is likely that the Company’s business and financial position will be 
affected if Sangon Health suffers losses.

(b)	 The PRC government may determine that the VIE Agreements do not comply with the applicable laws 
and regulations of the PRC. Although the Company’s PRC legal adviser is of the view that each of the 
VIE Agreements does not violate any PRC laws and regulations, uncertainties still exist regarding the 
interpretation and application of the PRC laws and regulations, especially in the area of genetic diagnosis 
and treatment business. For instance, the PRC regulatory authorities may issue further guidelines that 
impose stricter foreign ownership requirements in that area of business. Given the uncertain legal and 
business environment in the PRC, it is difficult to foresee whether the PRC regulatory authorities will take 
the same view regarding the VIE Structure as the Company’s PRC legal adviser in the future.

(c)	 The VIE Agreements may not provide control as effective as direct ownership. Under the VIE Structure, 
Sangon Biotech engages in genetic diagnosis and related treatment products and services business 
through Sangon Health. The Company has to rely on Sangon Biotech’s rights under the VIE Agreements 
to effect changes in the management of Sangon Health and exert influence over its business decision 
making, as opposed to exercising its rights directly as a shareholder. If Sangon Health or its shareholder 
refuses to cooperate, the Company will face difficulties in effecting control over Sangon Health’s business 
operation through the VIE Structure, which may adversely affect the Company’s business efficiency.

(d)	 Mr. Wang may have potential conflicts of interest with the Company. Although there are provisions 
under the Exclusive Option Agreement to prevent those situations, conflicts of interest may still arise 
when the interest of Mr. Wang does not align with that of the Company, and Mr. Wang may breach or 
cause Sangon Health to breach the VIE Agreements. If the Company fails to resolve this internally, it may 
have to resort to dispute resolution. If ultimately the shareholder has to be removed, it will be difficult 
for the Company to maintain investors’ confidence in the VIE Structure.

(e)	 The VIE Agreements may be subject to scrutiny by the PRC tax authorities and additional tax may be 
imposed. Under the Strategic Consultation and Service Agreement, Sangon Health is required to pay 
Sangon Biotech a service fee for the services rendered by Sangon Biotech. Such service fee payments 
between both parties may be subject to scrutiny or challenge by the PRC tax authorities within ten years 
after the taxable year when such transactions are conducted.
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Despite the above, as advised by the PRC legal advisers to the Company, the VIE Structure is in compliance 
with and, to the extent governed by the PRC laws currently in force, are enforceable under, the current PRC 
laws. The Company will monitor the relevant PRC laws and regulations relevant to the VIE Structure and will 
take all necessary actions to protect the Company’s interest in the Structured Entity.

Material changes

As at the date of this annual report there was no material change in the VIE Agreements and/or the 
circumstances under which they were adopted.

Unwinding of the VIE Agreements

As at the date of this annual report none of the VIE Agreements has been unwound as none of the 
restrictions that led to the adoption of VIE Agreements has been removed.

CHARITABLE DONATION
During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group has not made any charitable and other donations.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT
During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company has not entered into any equity-linked agreement.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
The Articles provides that each Director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out 
of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he or she may sustain or incur in or about 
the execution of the duties of his or her office or otherwise in relation thereto. In addition, the Company has 
maintained appropriate directors and officers liability insurance in respect of relevant legal actions against the 
Directors.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
As at 31 December 2016, the Group was not involved in any material litigation or arbitration and no material 
litigation or claim was pending or threatening the Group as far as the Directors were aware of.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
On 3 March 2017, Sangon Biotech, Sangon Health and Mr. Wang Qisong (an executive Director, a controlling 
Shareholder and the sole shareholder of Sangon Health) entered into the VIE Agreements to facilitate the 
development of genetic diagnosis business of the Group. The VIE Structure allows Sangon Biotech to exercise full 
control over Sangon Health. As a result, Sangon Biotech effectively holds, through the VIE Structure, 100% of the 
equity interests in Sangon Health which principally engages in genetic diagnosis and related treatment products 
and services business. Sangon Biotech would have effective control over the finance and operations, and the entire 
economic interest and benefits of Sangon Health through the VIE Agreements. Sangon Health became a subsidiary 
of the Company and its financial results will be consolidated into the financial statements of the Group.
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On 6 March 2017, Sangon Health entered into an investment agreement with the shareholders of Tianjin Hengjia 
Biotech Development Company Limited (天津亨佳生物科技發展有限公司) (“Tianjin Hengjia”), pursuant to which 
Sangon Health obtained 34% equity interest of Tianjin Hengjia, with an increase in the capital amount of RMB6 
million in Tianjin Hengjia. Tianjin Hengjia is principally engaged in the research and application of technologies and 
therapeutic methods related to “autologous mutation peptides for treatment of cancer”.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) has reviewed the annual results announcement 
and the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong 
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company is committed to maintaining the highest standards of corporate governance practice. The Company 
has applied the principles set out in the Corporate Governance Code and the Corporate Governance Report (the “CG 
Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. During the Reporting Period, the Company has adopted 
and complied with the mandatory code provisions of the CG Code. For details, please refer to the Corporate 
Governance Report on pages 61 to 74 of this annual report.

PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on information publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Directors 
confirmed that the Company had maintained a sufficient public float of more than 25% of the Company’s issued 
shares as required under the Listing Rules as at the date of this annual report.

CONSULTING PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVISERS
The Shareholders are recommended to consult professional advisers if they are in any doubt as to the tax 
implications of the purchasing, holding, disposal of, buying and selling of the Shares or exercising any rights 
concerned.

AUDITOR
PricewaterhouseCoopers was appointed as the auditor of the Company to audit the financial statements prepared 
in accordance with the HKFRS for the year ended 31 December 2016.

PricewaterhouseCoopers shall retire at the 2016 AGM and, being eligible, has offered itself for re-election. The 
resolution regarding the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as the auditor of the Company will be 
proposed at the 2016 AGM.

By order of the Board

Wang Qisong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2017
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To aglin with the requirements set out in the Environmental Social Report Guide (the “ESG“) in Appendix 27 of 
the Listing Rules, the Group hereby presents the Environmental, Social and Governance Report for the year ended 
31 December 2016.

OUR ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY

Up-to-standard discharge of wastes
The Group has prepared a series of internal environmental management indicators and guidelines to ensure 
enforcement of substantive work of environmental protection; and complied with the requirements under relevant 
laws and regulations including the Environmental Protection Law of People’s Republic of China in fulfillment of our 
obligation of environmental protection.

During the Reporting Period, we established an environmental, safety and occupational health management system 
and prepared comprehensive management principles. In 2016, the Company passed the certification of ISO14001: 
2008 Environmental Management System and ISO18001: 2008 Quality Management System again.

In the production process of the Group, the main wastes produced include waste gas, wastewater, hazardous 
wastes and general industrial solid wastes (the “General Solid Wastes”). The waste discharge of the Company 
has satisfied the regulatory requirements of government departments due to effective recovery and disposal of 
wastes. The types and disposal methods of wastes of the Company are as follows:

Types of waste Treatment and disposal methods

Waste gas A small amount of organic waste gas is produced due to the volatilization of 
materials in DNA synthesis and is subject to high-altitude emission after collection 
and activated carbon adsorption.

The waste gas produced in the injection molding process in production of 
consumables for laboratory is subject to high-altitude emission after collection and 
activated carbon adsorption.

Wastewater The wastewater from restaurant, after oil separation treatment, and the wastewater 
produced in production will be treated with the “biological + physicochemical” 
processes at the Company’s wastewater treatment station. Meanwhile, a normalized 
sewage outfall is set to discharge all up-to-standard wastewater into the urban 
sewage pipe network.

The concentration and total amount of wastewater are monitored on a daily basis 
so as to ensure up-to-standard wastewater discharge.

Hazardous wastes Hazardous wastes are collected with leakage-proof containers (e.g. scrap metal 
bucket) to avoid leakage during transfer.

A hazardous wastes warehouse is established for collection and classified storage of 
hazardous wastes. Eventually, a qualified company will be engaged to transport the 
wastes out for disposal.

The disposal rate of hazardous wastes by qualified third party disposal companies is 
up to 100%.
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General Solid Wastes Recyclable General Solid Wastes (e.g. packaging materials) will be recovered by 
suppliers or sold to relevant companies for recycling.

The unrecyclable wastes will be transported out for disposal.

Normalization of energy management and reduction of greenhouse gas emissions
According to production processes of various segments, the Company’s energy consumptions are water and 
electricity. We have taken a variety of energy-saving measures to improve energy efficiency and reduce energy 
consumption in operation. In this year, the Company has improved the power measuring instruments and 
strengthened normalized management of energy. The fluorescent lamps in the production and office areas of the 
Company have been replaced with LED energy saving lamps.

HEALTH AND SAFETY POLICY AND GOALS
Health and Safety Policy of the Company

We have developed occupational health and safety management procedures for control of operation of 
occupational health and safety within the Group, and complied with the requirements under relevant laws and 
regulations including Production Safety law of the People's Republic of China in fulfillment of our obligation of 
production safety. The departments at all levels have established and implemented a health and safety system in 
accordance with this policy, and implemented this policy in the production and business activities for continuous 
improvement of health and safety management. This policy applies to all fields and areas of production and 
operation of the Company.

Health and Safety Goals of the Company

Effective control is implemented for the operation and activities in relation to the major hazardous sources of the 
Group to eliminate or reduce occupational health and safety risks exposed to the staff and other relevant parties 
arising from organizational activities, to ensure compliance with occupational health and safety policy and meet the 
requirements of goals and continuous improvement.

Our business development plan includes a series of quantifiable health and safety indicators. All staff, contractors, 
suppliers and other relevant parties of the Group have the responsibility to work together to achieve these goals. 
We intend to win the trust of customers, shareholders and the society with good health and safety performance, 
and make our contributions to maintain corporate sustainable development.

HEALTH AND SAFETY PERFORMANCE

1.	 Data Source
The health, safety and environment (HSE) performance provides key health and safety data of the Company 
for the Reporting Period, which demonstrates our health and safety management.

The HSE data during the Reporting Period was from the statistics of the Group and has not undergone 
external review.

2.	 Inclusion and exclusion of data
The data includes the HSE data in the production and business activities of the Company and excludes the 
health and safety data of contractors and suppliers.
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3.	 Health performance
During the Reporting Period, we focused on occupational health surveillance centering on occupational 
health examination for staff. The rate of occupational health examination for staff and occupational hazards 
detection for workplace rate reached 95%. There was no large or serious occupational hazardous accident.

4.	 Safety performance

(1)	 Overview (number and ratio of deaths due to work)

In 2016, the Group recorded 0 injury and 0 death in industrial production.

(2)	 Number of working days lost due to work-related injuries:

In 2016, the Group recorded 0 working day lost due to work-related injuries.

HEALTH AND SAFETY MANAGEMENT

1.	 Basic management

(1)	 Carry out publicity of law on safety in production

The competent leaders and main leaders of regional companies of the Group took the lead in giving 
lessons and organizing all staff to learn the law on safety in production and participate in competitions 
thereon to create the atmosphere of study and compliance of laws.

The head office promptly streamlined and improved the ISO institutional framework, and amended 
company-level systems and standards; all branches and offices improved their systems and procedures to 
ensure compliance of rules and regulations on safety and environmental protection.

(2)	 Strengthen system construction

We have developed control procedures for occupational health and safety operation that are suitable to 
the Group and established the Safety Production Management System, pursuant to which the production 
department is responsible for occupational health and safety control; the workshop is responsible for 
operation control on production site; the staff representatives shall assist the occupational health and 
safety management; the equipment management personnel are responsible for the implementation 
and control of occupational health and safety in relation to equipment management in the Company; 
the environmental protection and safety department and procurement department are in charge of 
implementation and control of occupational health and safety for relevant parties; and other departments 
are responsible for the implementation and control of their occupational health and safety.

(3)	 Establish control procedures for identification of health and safety

Safety awareness and safety identification methods as required for health and safety were normalized for 
the work sites to prevent accidents caused by improper or lack of identification.

(4)	 Insist on full coverage of system audit

We strictly enforce the Group’s safety inspection system to discover and identify various hazards and 
hidden dangers, supervise rectifications and the implementation of various safety rules and regulations 
and stop illegal command and illegal operations.
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We implement the principle of combination of examination by leaders and masses. The examination 
mainly covers employee’s self examination, comprehensive examination, professional examination, 
seasonal examination, examination on holidays, selective examination at night and routine examination.

There are specific plan, clear objectives, requirements and contents of safety examination. We have 
prepared a Safety Checklist, and conducted rectification while carrying out examination and promptly 
summarize relevant experience for future reference purpose.

(5)	 Intensify training of staff on key positions

We organized training for staff on key positions and improved the way of training in accordance with the 
Safe Production Responsibility System, Regulations for Safe Operation on Positions and other occupational 
health regulations prepared by the Group.

2.	 Occupational health management

(1)	 Improve rules, regulations and standard system

We carry out production and research and development (the “R&D”) activities in strict accordance with 
ISO occupational health and safety management system. On the basis of the existing management 
system, we have prepared and issued three systems including the Control Procedures for Occupational 
Health and Safety Operation, laying a solid foundation for strengthening occupational health 
management.

(2)	 Promote special rectification

For treatment of three wastes generated in R&D, we have cooperated with professional companies 
in promoting proposal of plan, development of rectification measures, arrangement of rectification 
implementation and inspection of rectification effects to supervise the whole process and to ensure the 
completion of rectification.

3.	 Security management
(1)	 We have developed the Preventive and Control Measures for Occupational Hazards to prevent, control 

and eliminate occupational hazards, prevent occupational diseases, protect health and rights of workers, 
and control occupational hazardous accidents in a timely and effective manner, to mitigate the damage 
caused by occupational hazardous accidents.

(2)	 In order to earnestly implement the requirements under the Labour Law and the Law on Prevention and 
Control of Occupational Disease, prevent sudden major occupational hazardous accidents, and implement 
effective control and treatment after the occurrence of occupational hazardous accidents, the Emergency 
Plan for Occupational Hazardous Accidents of the Group is prepared in accordance with the requirements 
of superior competent department of occupational health and the actual conditions of the Company 
following the principle of “rapid response and proper treatment”.
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OUR SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Our employees
Talent is the foundation to support the Company’s long-term and healthy development. We are committed to 
establishment of a scientific and systematic human resources management system and a competitive market-based 
remuneration system, to create a talent growth environment and working atmosphere in respect of employees’ 
value, development of employees’ potentials and sublimation of employees’ soul. The continuous recruitment 
and cultivation of domestic and overseas excellent talents representing advanced level in the field of life sciences 
provides guarantee of human resources for the realization of the Company’s strategy and an incentive policy is 
adopted to maximize the value of staff.

Supportive human resources policy

The main principle of recruitment is staff’s satisfaction of capacity requirements of the position. In recruitment, all 
candidates will be treated equally, and will not be affected by race, nationality, religion, place of birth and other 
factors. We adopt the principles of fairness, justice and openness in selection of every candidate, and all staff 
recruited by the Company will enjoy equal treatment.

We strictly abide by the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Regulations on Banning the Use of 
Child Labour, the law of Labor Contract, the Rules of the State Council on working Hours of workers and staff 
Members and other relevant labour laws and regulations. The human resources department will conduct earnest 
verification of staff’s age, and arrange reasonable work and rest time for staff to the extent permitted by laws and 
regulations. During the Reporting Period, we did not identify any child labour or forced labour and have complied 
with the relevant law to prevent child and forced labour.

We have established a complete staff remuneration management system. After giving comprehensive consideration 
to the differences in terms of region, level and function, we have prepared a remuneration and welfare policy 
suitable to the Group consisting of annual salary, performance pay, options and other allowances. We also have a 
set of performance and career development appraisal system in place for staff appraisal on a yearly basis. Proper 
promotion are made to staff and adjustments to staff remuneration with reference to job requirements and 
employees’ actual professional proficiency.

In respect of employee welfare, we pay full amount of basic endowment insurance, medical insurance, 
unemployment insurance, employment injury insurance, maternity insurance and accumulation fund for each 
staff. In addition, the Company also provides employees with enterprise business welfare including additional 
commercial insurance and annual physical examination for employees. Employees are entitled to statutory holidays 
and public holidays, statutory annual leave, marriage leave, maternity leave, bereavement leave, allowance for high 
temperature and other statutory welfare. The Group has also prepared non-statutory welfare in the principle of 
caring staff including holiday gifts, birthday parties, annual travel, working lunch and staff quarters.

Overview of staff

During the Reporting Period, the Company had 1,114 staff, including 320 newly recruited staff, and 241 staff 
resigned.

By gender, there are 521 male staff, representing 51.64% of the total number of staff; and 488 female staff, 
representing 48.36% of the total number of staff.

By the type of employment, the administrative department has 111 staff, the sales department has 257 staff, and 
the production department has 641 staff.
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By region, the head office has 748 staff and other major areas have 261 staff.

The age structure of all staff is as follows:

Age groups Number of staff

Over 60 years old 8

50-60 years old (exclusive of 60 years old) 26

40-50 years old (exclusive of 50 years old) 68

30-40 years old (exclusive of 40 years old) 311

20-30 years old (exclusive of 30 years old) 596

Among the staff resigned, by gender, there are 141 male staff, representing 58.51% of the total number of staff 
resigned, and 100 female staff, representing 41.49% of the total number of staff resigned; and, by region, the 
head office has 183 staff and other major areas have 58 staff.

The age structure of staff resigned is as follows:

Age groups Number of staff

Over 60 years old 4

50-60 years old (exclusive of 60 years old) 9

40-50 years old (exclusive of 50 years old) 8

30-40 years old (exclusive of 40 years old) 40

20-30 years old (exclusive of 30 years old) 180

Development and Training

Employees are contributors of knowledge and skills in the course of their work. We also want staff to have the 
opportunity to realize their self-worth. Therefore, the Group provides channels and opportunities for staff’s self-
improvement in various mechanisms and actions. In addition, the Group also proactively provides various on-the-
job trainings for staff to improve their professional skills.

Every new staff is required to pass the following trainings:

1.	 Education of basic knowledge on the Group: training on profile, organizational operations, main business, 
rules and regulations, awareness of safety and environmental protection, relevant laws and regulations, and 
other basic knowledge of the Group.

2.	 Training on job skills: study of work and operation instructions, performance of equipment used, operation 
procedures, safety issues and countermeasures for emergencies, which shall be organized and implemented by 
the person responsible for technology.

New staff of middle-level or above will only be officially employed after acceptance and passing of the induction 
training specially arranged. In addition to the aforementioned basic induction trainings, the Group has developed 
specific vocational trainings for different positions.
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In addition to the Group’s internal trainings, we also proactively encourage and support staff to participate in 
targeted external trainings based on job requirements to improve their professional competence. During the 
Reporting Period, each staff received an average of about 50 hours of training, and the training time of staff on 
special positions was about 60 hours.

OUR SUPPLY CHAIN
The materials required for the R&D and production of the Group’s is in the charge of the supply chain 
management department. The products provided include: biochemical reagents, tool enzyme, DNA monomer 
and plastic particles. The supply chain management department purchases the aforementioned products in strict 
accordance with the Measures for Management of Suppliers prepared by the Group’s management center, and use 
such produces for packaging or production.

We select qualified suppliers to ensure suppliers’ consistent satisfaction of the Group’s quality standards, timely 
delivery and satisfaction of the Group’s requirements with reasonable prices and high quality services. Only the 
enterprises that are respected in the industry with reliable product quality and service, strong delivery capability and 
good financial position will be selected.

We regularly review suppliers’ performance in terms of environment, safety and health, and provide relevant 
trainings and carry out supervision and inspection for suppliers in due course to ensure suppliers’ satisfaction of 
requirements on environmental management, occupational health and safety management. During the Reporting 
Period, we had dealings with 1,763 domestic and foreign suppliers.

We conduct semi-annual evaluation and assessment for suppliers with continuous transactions with us based on 
their actual delivery quality, delivery period, transaction price, degree of cooperation with the Company, and risk 
tolerance. The assessment items include product quality, product price, arrival period, degree of cooperation, and 
risk tolerance. The suppliers who have passed assessment will be entered into the Sheet of Supplier Evaluation 
Records. For unqualified suppliers, the purchasing staff will directly cancel their supply qualification or call 
manufacturers to inform rectification within a limited period. Those who have passed rectification examination will 
be subject to assessment by the Company again. The suppliers who have passed the assessment will be included in 
the Company’s qualified supplier system and the unqualified ones will be disqualified for supply.

OUR PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY
The Company firmly believes that “Product quality is the cornerstone of enterprise development”, which has a 
decisive role in the development of the company. During the reporting period, the Company strictly abides by 
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Product Quality and other relevant laws and regulations. Through 
adopting the ISO9001 quality management system, the Company strictly controls product quality and forbids the 
unqualified products to the market. Benefit from the implementation of above-mentioned measures, the Company 
is able to maximize maintenance of the customer interest.

In order to improve the quality of management of customer complaints, strengthen the complaint reception 
processing capability of the Company’s service windows and professional skills, we have revised the Customer 
Complaint Management System and prepared the Product Quality Feedback Form and Customer Satisfaction 
Survey Form, and provided guidelines on business operation and service standards for customer complaints service 
personnel.
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OUR CONFIDENTIALITY SYSTEM
In view of the customer confidential information, the Company implemented a strict confidentiality system. 
According to the system, the Company should enter into a confidentiality agreement with the client who provides 
the confidential information. Meanwhile, for ensuring no betraying confidential matters, risk control department 
of the Company is responsible for investigating the confidential information to delimit secrecy scope and ascertain 
cryptosecurity. The Company also provides employees with education regarding confidentiality, including specifies 
the confidentiality obligation of employees in employee manual.

Anti-corruption of the Company
The importance of steady development has become a big issue related to the overall development of the Group. 
During the Reporting Period, we continued to follow various regulatory requirements, adhered to the bottom line 
of risk and regulated staff’s behavior, striving to achieve balance among capital, scale, risk and revenue. We strictly 
abide by the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China and relevant laws and regulations, and the Group’s 
legal department and audit department conducted streamlining for major business processes and work review 
for the Group’s staff under the unified leadership of the Risk Management Committee in accordance with the 
Measures for Management of Internal Control of the Company to screen out the possible hidden corruption risks 
in the Company’s daily operation and management. In particular, for possible bribery, extortion, fraud and money 
laundering, we improved the reporting channel and informants to reflect the possible corruption, bribery, extortion, 
fraud and money laundering to the Company by e-mail, telephone, mail, etc., and the legal department performed 
supervision and treatment therefor.

We actively carry out educational activities on anti-corruption and legal compliance for staff, and publicize relevant 
laws and regulations to staff by pictorial, legal training and other means to strengthen staff’s awareness of legal 
compliance and sense of discipline.

During the Reporting Period, the Group and staff were not engaged in any corruption, bribery, fraud, extortion 
or money laundering, and there was no corruption case involving any agency or staff that was filed by the Group 
which had been concluded.



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

61

The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report as set out in this annual report of the Company 
for the year ended 31 December 2016.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of 
the Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and accountability. The Company has adopted the CG Code 
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its own code of corporate governance.

The Company has complied with the applicable code provisions as set out in the CG Code during the year ended 
31 December 2016 and up to the date of this annual report. The Company will continue to review and enhance its 
corporate governance practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities
The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, oversees the Group’s strategic decisions and 
monitors business and performance. The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for day-to-day 
management and operation of the Group to the senior management of the Group. To oversee particular aspects 
of the Company’s affairs, the Board has established four Board committees including the Audit Committee, 
the Remuneration Committee, the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and the Risk 
Management Committee (together, the “Board Committees”). The Board has delegated to the Board Committees 
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in compliance with applicable laws and 
regulations, and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders at all times. Under code provision A.1.8 
of the CG Code, the Company should arrange appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action against its 
Directors. The Company has arranged insurance in December 2016 with 12 months’ coverage starting from 29 
December 2016 in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior management.

Board Composition
As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises 7 members, consisting of 3 executive Directors, 1 non-
executive Director and 3 independent non-executive Directors as set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Qisong (Chairman)
Ms. Wang Luojia (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Wang Jin (President)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Hu Xubo

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Xia Lijun
Mr. Ho Kenneth Kai Chung
Mr. Liu Jianjun
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The biographies of the Directors are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this 
annual report.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report, the Board met the requirements of Rules 
3.10 (1)and 3.10 (2) of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive 
Directors with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing appropriate professional qualifications or 
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has also complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules, which relates to the appointment of 
independent non-executive Directors representing at least one-third of the Board.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the 
Listing Rules and the Company considers each of them to be independent.

Mr. Wang Qisong, executive Director and Chairman, is the father of the executive Directors, Ms. Wang Luojia and 
Ms. Wang Jin. Save as disclosed in the biographies of the Directors as set out in the section headed “Directors and 
Senior Management” of this annual report and above, none of the Directors have any personal relationship (including 
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship) with any other Director.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business 
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning. Independent 
non-executive Directors are invited to serve on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination 
Committee and the Risk Management Committee.

As regards the CG Code provision requiring directors to disclose the number and nature of offices held in public 
companies or organizations and other significant commitments as well as their identity and the time involved to 
the issuer, the Directors have agreed to disclose their commitments to the Company in a timely manner.

INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction and information to ensure that he/she has a 
proper understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/her responsibilities under relevant 
statutes, laws, rules and regulations. The Company also arranges regular seminars to provide Directors with updates 
on latest development and changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements from 
time to time. The Directors are also provided with regular updates on the Group’s performance, position and 
prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.
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According to the records kept by the Company, all the existing Directors have received continuous and professional 
development and training as set out below with an emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of directors in 
listed companies:

Attending internal briefings or trainings,
Name of Directors participating seminars or reviewing materials
  

Executive Directors
Mr. Wang Qisong (Chairman) 3

Ms. Wang Luojia (Chief executive officer) 3

Ms. Wang Jin (President) 3

Non-executive Director
Mr. Hu Xubo 3

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Xia Lijun 3

Mr. Ho Kenneth Kai Chung 3

Mr. Liu Jianjun 3
  

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
As required by code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be 
separate and performed by different individuals. The Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, 
as assumed by Mr. Wang Qisong and Ms. Wang Luojia respectively, are two different positions with expressly 
stipulated duties. The Chairman is responsible for management and leadership of the Board to formulate overall 
strategies and business development directions for the Company, to ensure that adequate, complete and reliable 
information is provided to all Directors in a timely manner, and to ensure that the issues raised at the Board 
meetings are explained appropriately. The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for managing business activities 
of the Company, implementing policies, business objectives and plans adopted by the Board, and reporting to the 
Board on the Company’s overall operation.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company for a fixed term of three 
years commencing from the Listing Date, which may be terminated before the expiration of the term by not less 
than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other. Their appointments are subject to the 
provisions of retirement and rotation of Directors under the Articles.

The non-executive Director has signed an appointment letter with the Company for a term of three years with 
effect from the Listing Date. His appointment is subject to the provisions of retirement and rotation of Directors 
under the Articles.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed an appointment letter with the Company for a term 
of two years with effect from the Listing Date. Their appointments are subject to the provisions of retirement and 
rotation of Directors under the Articles.
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Save as disclosed above, no Director has entered into a service contract with the Group which is not determinable 
by the Company within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Pursuant to the Articles, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors shall retire from office 
by rotation, provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least 
once every three years. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the 
first general meeting after his/her appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director 
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next annual general 
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of Directors are set out in the Articles. The 
Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board composition, and making recommendations to the 
Board on appointment, re-election and succession planning of Directors.

BOARD MEETINGS
The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings regularly. Notices of not less than fourteen days are 
given for regular Board meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in the 
agenda for a regular meeting.

For other committee meetings, at least seven days’ notice will be given in writing to all committee members. The 
meeting notice states the time and place of the meeting. The agenda and accompanying board committee papers 
will be provided at least three days before the date of meeting to ensure that Directors have sufficient time to 
review the papers and be adequately prepared for the meetings. When Directors or committee members are unable 
to attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to make their 
views known to the chairman prior to the meeting.

Minutes of the Board meetings and committee meetings will be recorded in sufficient details for the matters 
considered by the Board and the committees and the decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the 
Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting and committee meeting are/will be sent to the Directors for 
comments within a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held.

During the Reporting Period, the Board held four meetings. The specific agenda of the Board covered the following 
aspects:

(i)	 to consider and review the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015 and for the six-month 
period ended 30 June 2016 and matters concerning corporate governance and risk management;

(ii)	 to discuss the overall strategies of the Group, monitor the financial and operational performance, and approve 
the annual and interim results of the Group;

(iii)	 to consider and approve the M&A projects; and

(iv)	 to consider and approve provision standard for bad debts and inventory allowance standard.
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The attendance of the individual Directors at the Board meetings mentioned above and the General Meeting is set 
out below:

Attendance/Number of Meetings
Name of Director Board Meeting General Meeting
   

Mr. Wang Qisong 4/4 1/1
Ms. Wang Luojia 4/4 1/1
Ms. Wang Jin 4/4 1/1
Mr. Hu Xubo 4/4 1/1
Mr. Xia Lijun 4/4 1/1
Mr. Ho Kenneth Kai Chung 4/4 1/1
Mr. Liu Jianjun 4/4 1/1
   

The Company’s external auditor also attended the annual general meeting of the company held on 17 June 2016.

Model Code for Securities Transactions
The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its own code of 
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Specific enquiry has been made to all the Directors and each of 
the Directors has confirmed that he/she has complied with the Model Code during the Reporting Period.

The Company has also adopted its own code of conduct regarding employees’ securities transactions on terms 
no less exacting than the standard set out in the Model Code for the compliance by its relevant employees who 
are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside information of the Company in respect of their dealings in the 
Company’s securities.

Delegation by the Board
The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters of the Group, including: approval and monitoring of all 
policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management systems, material transactions 
(in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and 
other significant financial and operational matters. Directors could have recourse to seek independent professional 
advice in performing their duties at the Company’s expense and are encouraged to access and to consult with the 
Group’s senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are delegated to the senior management. The 
delegated functions and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to be obtained from 
the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into by the management.
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Corporate Governance Function
The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the collective responsibility of Directors and their 
corporate governance duties include:

1.	 to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

2.	 to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements;

3.	 to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees 
and directors; and

4.	 to review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

The duty to review and monitor the training record and continuous professional development of the Directors and 
senior management of the Group has been delegated to the Risk Management Committee.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee currently comprises three members, namely Mr. Liu Jianjun (chairman), Mr. Ho Kenneth 
Kai Chung and Mr. Xia Lijun, all being independent non-executive Directors. During the Reporting Period, the 
Nomination Committee held two meetings.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include:

1.	 to review the structure, size and composition (including without limitation, gender, age, cultural and 
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, the skills, knowledge and length of service) of the 
Board at least once a year and make recommendations regarding any proposed changes in the Board in line 
with the Company’s corporate strategy;

2.	 to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members of the Board, select and nominate candidates of 
Directors or make recommendations to the Board in this regard;

3.	 to assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;

4.	 to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession 
planning for Directors in particular the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer;

5.	 to review the board diversity policy, to develop and review measurable objectives for implementing the board 
diversity policy and to monitor the progress on achieving these objectives; and to ensure that a summary of 
such policy is disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report as required under the Listing Rules; and

6.	 where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as an independent non-executive Director at 
the general meeting, to ensure it is set out in the circular to Shareholders and/or explanatory statement 
accompanying the notice of the relevant general meeting why the Directors believe he should be elected and 
the reason why they consider him to be independent.
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The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange 
and the Company.

The specific agenda of the Nomination Committee covered the following aspects:

1.	 To consider the adoption of the Policy and assess the independence of the independent non-executive 
Directors;

2.	 To consider and nominate the candidate of Re-election of retiring Directors toward the Board.

The Nomination Committee will assess the candidate or incumbent on criteria such as integrity, experience, skill 
and ability to commit time and effort to carry out the duties. The recommendations of the Nomination Committee 
will then be put to the Board for decision. The Nomination Committee should report back to the Board on its 
decisions or recommendations after every Nomination Committee meeting.

Pursuant to code provision A.5.6 of the CG Code, listed issuers are required to adopt a board diversity policy. The 
Company believes that board diversity can enhance the performance of the Company. After taking into account the 
Company’s own business model and specific needs and upon the recommendation of the Nomination Committee, 
the Board has adopted a board diversity policy to ensure in designing the Board’s composition, board diversity 
will be considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational 
background, professional experience, skills and knowledge. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, 
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the 
Board.

The attendance of the individual committee members at the Nomination Committee meeting mentioned above is 
set out below:

Committee meetings attended/
Name of committee member eligible to attend
  

Mr. Liu Jianjun (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Xia Lijun 2/2
Mr. Ho Kenneth Kai Chung 2/2
  

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three members, namely Mr. Ho Kenneth Kai Chung (chairman), 
Mr. Xia Lijun and Mr. Liu Jianjun, all being independent non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include:

1.	 to consult the Chairman of the Board and/or the chief executive officer about the remuneration proposals for 
other executive Directors;

2.	 to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior 
management’s remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing 
remuneration policy;

3.	 to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate 
goals and objectives;
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4.	 to make recommendations to the Board, on the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors 
and senior management. The remuneration packages should include benefits in kind, pension rights and 
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or 
appointment;

5.	 to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive Director; and

6.	 to ensure that no Director or any of his associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) is involved in deciding 
his own remuneration.

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available on the websites of the Stock 
Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held a meeting to determine the remuneration policy 
and structure of Directors and senior management for 2016 and evaluate the remuneration of the Directors and 
senior management for the year ended 31 December 2015.

The attendance of the individual committee members at the Remuneration Committee meeting mentioned above is 
set out below:

Committee meetings attended/
Name of committee member eligible to attend
  

Mr. Ho Kenneth Kai Chung (Chairman) 1/1
Mr. Liu Jianjun 1/1
Mr. Xia Lijun 1/1
  

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management
The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure for formulating policies on remuneration of 
Directors and senior management of the Group. Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for the year 
ended 31 December 2016 are set out in note 28 to the financial statements.

The biographies of the senior management are disclosed in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” 
in this annual report. Remuneration paid to the senior management members (excluding the Directors) for the year 
ended 31 December 2016 is within the range below:

Range of remuneration Persons
  

Nil to HK$1,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB837,500) 7
Between HK$1,000,000 and HK$2,000,000 
  (equivalent to approximately RMB837,500 and RMB1,675,000) 0
  

*	 Included all senior management members (except Directors)



69

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee currently comprises three members, namely Mr. Xia Lijun (chairman), Mr. Ho Kenneth 
Kai Chung and Mr. Liu Jianjun, all being independent non-executive Directors. The principal duties of the Audit 
Committee are to review and monitor the Company’s financial reporting process and internal control procedures, 
to maintain the relations with the external auditor of the Company and review the financial information of the 
Company.

The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and 
the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held two meetings with all members attended. The Audit 
Committee reviewed the financial reporting system, compliance procedures, internal controls (including the 
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programme and budget of the Group’s 
accounting and financial reporting function), risk management system and procedures and the re-appointment of 
external auditor. The Board did not have separate opinion on any recommendation and suggestion by the Audit 
Committee in relation to the appointment of external auditor.

The attendance record of the individual committee members at Audit Committee meetings mentioned above is set 
out in the table below:

Committee meetings attended/
Name of Committee member eligible to attend
  

Mr. Xia Lijun (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Ho Kenneth Kai Chung 2/2
Mr. Liu Jianjun 2/2
  

The Audit Committee also reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 
31 December 2016 and unaudited financial statements of the Group for the six-month period ended 30 June 2016, 
as well as the auditor’s report prepared by the external auditor relating to accounting issues and major findings in 
course of audit.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditors twice without the presence of the executive Directors.

The Audit Committee is also responsible for the daily execution of anti-corruption measures. Its scope of duties 
includes reviewing and assessing the Company’s anti-corruption measures, reviewing complaints and reports from 
the external and internal sources with respect to the relevant anti-corruption measures, conducting investigations 
and undertaking rectification actions accordingly.

After reviewing the anti-corruption measures and standards and internal control policy of the Group, the Audit 
Committee believed that the Company’s anti-corruption measures and standards were fully and effectively 
implemented during the financial year ended 31 December 2016, while maintained consistent with the 
anticorruption laws applicable to the Group.
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Risk Management Committee
The Risk Management Committee currently comprises three members, namely Mr. Liu Jianjun (chairman), Mr. Ho 
Kenneth Kai Chung and Mr. Xia Lijun, all being independent non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Risk Management Committee include:

1.	 to review the Company’s risk management policies and standards, as well as the fundamental concepts and 
scope of compliance management;

2.	 to review and provide comment on the overall target and basic policy of the compliance and risk management;

3.	 to supervise and monitor the Company’s exposure to sanctions law risks and implementation of the related 
internal control policies and procedures adopted by the Company;

4.	 to supervise and monitor the development of risk and compliance management system of the Company; and

5.	 to review the settings and responsibilities of the Company’s compliance and risk management, and to advise 
on the same.

The written terms of reference of the Risk Management Committee are available on the websites of the Stock 
Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Risk Management Committee held two meetings. The specific agenda of the Risk 
Management Committee covered the following aspects:

(i)	 To consider the adoption provisions on management of major contracts; and

(ii)	 To consider the adoption the report of risk management and internal control submitted by the management 
of the Company.

The attendance of the individual committee members at the Risk Management Committee meetings mentioned 
above is set out below:

Committee meetings attended/
Name of committee member eligible to attend
  

Mr. Liu Jianjun (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Ho Kenneth Kai Chung 2/2
Mr. Xia Lijun 2/2
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING IN RESPECT OF 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial statements of the Company for the year 
ended 31 December 2016 which give a true and fair view of the affairs of the Company and the Group and of the 
Group’s results and cash flows.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and information as are necessary to enable the 
Board to carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are put to the Board for 
approval. The Company provides all members of the Board with monthly updates on the Company’s performance, 
positions and prospects.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may cast significant 
doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the auditor of the Company regarding their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated 
financial statements of the Company is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on page 75 of this annual 
report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Company abides by the relevant provisions of risk management and internal control in the CG Code contained 
in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules to disclose the risk management and internal control system of the Company.

The potential behaviors, events or environment and other adverse factors related to the risks recognized by 
the Company will affect the objectives of the corporate operation. Therefore, the Company will put the risk 
management into the core position of the corporate governance to prevent, control and handle any risk and 
crisis that may occur or possibly occurs at any time in the complicated and changing operation environment, and 
control the risks within the scope which the objectives adapt and can be borne, and built the procedures and 
internal controls that the Board is responsible for the managements of inside information, without the approval of 
the Board, the Company prohibits any inside information from being disclosed to the public for the handing and 
dissemination of inside information ensuring various businesses of the Company and its overall operation can have 
continuous, stable and healthy development.

The Board confirms that such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve 
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or 
loss.

Referring to the COSO (the “Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission”) structure and 
measuring the control environment, risk assessment, control activities, information and communication, supervision 
and other factors, the Company established the operation and management mechanism with the functions of risk 
management and internal control. The overall risk management mechanism is described as follows:

Risk Management Structure
The duties of the Board include:

(1)	 to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

(2)	 to review the overall effectiveness of the risk management and internal control system; and
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(3)	 to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

The duties of the Committee shall be to:

(1)	 review the Company’s risk management policies and standards, as well as the fundamental concepts and 
scope of compliance management;

(2)	 review and provide comment on the overall target and basic policy of the compliance and risk management;

(3)	 supervise and monitor the Company’s exposure to sanctions law risks and implementation of the related 
internal control policies and procedures adopted by the Company;

(4)	 supervise and monitor the development of risk and compliance management system of the Company;

(5)	 review the settings and responsibilities of the Company’s compliance and risk management, and to advise on 
the same.

For duties of the Risk Management Committee, please refer to the paragraph headed “Risk Management 
Committee” above.

The duties of the operation management include:

(1)	 to assess this Company’s risks and corresponding countermeasures;

(2)	 to plan, design and supervise the risk management and internal control system of the Company.

The duties of the internal audit include:

(1)	 responsible for organizing and carrying out the risk management system and its evaluation activities for the 
execution situation;

(2)	 responsible for inspection and evaluation of the efficiency and effect for major risk management;

(3)	 responsible for proposing the improvement suggestions on the risk management;

(4)	 responsible for issuing the internal control report for the risk management, and report it to the risk 
management committee.

Risk management establishment and implementation
The risk item is subject to the results of the risk identification and the risk assessment to determine the degree of 
adverse influence of the risk item on the corporate operation, such as major risks, minor risks and the slight risks.

Through the evaluation, it is informed that the major inherent risk items faced during the operation are 
summarized into nine items: (1) places of product production and marketing, for example, the products cannot be 
sold and produced due to the reasons of national politics, military and laws etc.; (2) the infringement of patents, 
for example the products cannot be sold and transported therefrom; the dramatic decrease in orders due to the 
new competitors seizing the market by cutting their prices; (3) sudden interruption of supply of main materials 
or failure of main supply of goods; (4) loss of Directors or executives lead to the problems in the Company’s 
management, affecting its operation; (5) the information system cannot operate appropriately or is interrupted, 
leading to negative influence on corporate business and operation performance; (6) large increase in the price of 
raw materials and labor cost may have very bad influence on the corporate profitability; (7) sharp fluctuation in 
exchange rate; (8) the negative direction of cash flow leads to shortage in cash and (9) exhausting of the operation 
working fund and other risk items. The remaining items are just minor or slight risks for operation.

Management of the Company carries out the internal control implementation and risk supervision management 
according to the scope of its business in its charge and operation management mechanism process. The auditing 
unit checks and evaluates the internal control of risks. The administration units, such as the finance, legal affairs, 
human resources and environmental security and other functions, take and support the corresponding measures on 
the operation management mechanism process.
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Review of risk management and internal control
For the effectiveness of the internal control systems of the Company and its subsidiaries, the Board of the 
Company implements self inspection for the internal risk control system and sums up the implementation effects of 
internal risk control on a yearly basis.

During the Reporting Period, the Company proactively reviewed the risk management and internal control systems 
including semi-annual self inspection and assessment of internal risk control covering all departments, as organised 
and conducted by the Audit Department, for systematic identification, analysis and evaluation of internal and 
external risks affecting the strategic operation goals of the Company, and the conclusion and review of internal 
control measures. The Audit Department reviewed the results of self inspection of all departments’ internal control 
system for risk management and submitted the same to the Risk Management Committee/Board for consideration. 
The Board confirmed and reviewed the effectiveness and adequacy of the implementation of risk management and 
the system of internal control implementation of the Company.

Upon self inspection and assessment, the Board is pleased to consider that there is no significant change in the 
nature of risk factors of the Company and its subsidiaries, and the risk management and internal control measures 
are still effective and sufficient to cope with potential risks.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
For the audit of the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016, the total 
remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, for audit and audit related 
services amounted to RMB1.9 million.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES
Ms. Hu Heng (“Ms. Hu”), one of our joint company secretaries, is responsible for advising the Board on corporate 
governance matters and ensuring that the Board policies and procedures, and the applicable laws, rules and 
regulations are followed. In order to uphold good corporate governance and ensure compliance with the Listing 
Rules and applicable Hong Kong laws, the Company also engaged Ms. Ng Sau Mei (“Ms. Ng”), senior manager 
of KCS Hong Kong Limited (a company secretarial service provider), as another joint company secretary of the 
Company to assist Ms. Hu to discharge her duties as company secretary of the Company. Ms. Hu is Ms. Ng’s 
primary contact person at the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, Ms. Hu and Ms. Ng undertook no less than 15 hours of professional 
training to update their skills and knowledge in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS
The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations 
and understanding of the Group’s business, performance and strategies. The Company also recognizes the 
importance of timely and non-selective disclosure of its information, which will enable Shareholders and investors 
to make the informed investment decisions.

The annual general meeting of the Company provides opportunity for the Shareholders to communicate directly 
with the Directors. The Chairman of the Company and chairmen of the Board Committees will attend the annual 
general meeting to answer the Shareholders’ questions. The external auditor of the Company will also attend the 
annual general meeting to answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and contents of the 
auditors’ report, accounting policies and auditor independence.
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To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a Shareholders’ communication policy which aims at 
establishing a two-way relationship and communication between the Company and the Shareholders and maintains 
a website at http://www.bbi-lifesciences.com, where up-to-date information on the Company’s business operations 
and developments, financial information, corporate governance practices and other information are available for 
public access.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is proposed for each issue at general 
meetings, including the election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results 
will be posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner after each general 
meeting.

CONVENING OF EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETINGS AND PUTTING 
FORWARD PROPOSALS
In accordance with the Articles, any one or more Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition 
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of 
the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company, 
to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified 
in such requisition.

Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the company secretary of the Company for the purpose 
of requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any matter specified 
in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.

For proposing a person for election as a Director, the procedures are available on the website of the Company.

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the Company to the Board could email their 
enquiries to the joint company secretaries of the Company at her email address: huheng@sangon.com.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
There was no change in the memorandum and the articles of association of the Company during the year ended 
31 December 2016.
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To the shareholders of BBI Life Sciences Corporation
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited
The consolidated financial statements of BBI Life Sciences Corporation (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the 
“Group”) set out on pages 79 to 83, which comprise:

•	 the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2016;

•	 the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

•	 the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

•	 the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended; and

•	 the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting 
policies.

Our opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position 
of the Group as at 31 December 2016, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued 
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in 
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Independence
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the 
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter identified in our audit is summarised as follows:

•	 Revenue recognition

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
  

Revenue Recognition
R e f e r t o N o t e 2.23 a n d N o t e 5 t o t h e G r o u p 
consolidated financial statements.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group 
recognised revenue of RMB352,026,000, of which 
RMB266,875,000 related to sales of goods and 
RMB85,151,000 related to provision of services to the 
customers.

Revenue from the sales of goods is recognised when 
the risk and reward of the goods has been transferred 
to the customer, which is usually at the date when a 
group entity has delivered products to the customer 
and the customer has accepted the products, the 
collectability of the related receivables is reasonably 
assumed and there is no unfulf i l led obl igat ion 
that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the 
products. Service income is recognised when the 
services have been rendered and it is probable that 
the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the 
relevant fees can be measured reliably.

We focused on this area due to the huge volume of 
revenue transactions mainly with numerous customers 
including college professors, hospitals, research 
institutions, corporation and distributors that located 
in many different locations. There could be potential 
misstatement in relation to the occurrence of revenue 
transactions, and whether these transactions are 
recognised in the proper reporting period.

We understood, evaluated and validated management’s 
controls in respect of the Group’s sales transactions from 
customer order’s approval to sales recording, through 
reconciliations with cash receipts and customers’ records. 
In addition, we tested the general control environment of 
the Group’s information technology system.

We conducted testing of revenue recorded covering 
different locations and customers, by examining the 
relevant supporting documents, including customer orders 
or sales contracts, goods delivery records and customer’s 
acceptance records on sample basis. In addition, we 
confirmed customers’ receivable balances using targeted 
basis and sampling techniques.

Our work to address occurrence of revenue transactions 
also included testing manual journal entries in connection 
with risk of fraud and inquiring the nature of these 
entries and inspecting the supporting documents. Credit 
notes being recorded during a selected period after the 
balance sheet date have been inspected for the same 
purpose.

Furthermore, we also performed the test, on a sample 
basis, of sales transactions in which goods or services are 
delivered during a selected period before and after the 
balance sheet date, by reconciling the date of recognised 
revenue to the date of the goods delivery records and 
customers’ acceptance records, to assess whether revenue 
was recognised in the correct reporting periods.

Based on the work performed, we noted that the 
revenue recognition of the Group’s sales transactions was 
consistent with the Group’s accounting policy.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all of the 
information included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give 
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume 
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the directors.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible 
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably 
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not 
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Chan Chiu Kong, Edmond.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 24 March 2017
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As at 31 December
2016 2015

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
    

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 6 278,419 155,924
Land use rights 7 29,507 30,178
Intangible assets 8 13,174 8,265
Investment in an associate 9 9,833 –
Available-for-sales financial assets 10 2,000 –
Deferred income tax assets 21 1,388 3,402
Other non-current assets 13 1,335 7,342

    

335,656 205,111
    

Current assets
Inventories 11 52,680 49,205
Trade and bills receivables 12 73,740 59,931
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 13 27,222 19,930
Bank deposits with maturities over 3 months 14 49,198 –
Cash and cash equivalents 15 245,852 349,892
Non-current assets held for sale 16 7,894 –

    

456,586 478,958
    

Total assets 792,242 684,069
    

EQUITY

Share capital 17 4,304 4,239
Share premium 17 463,062 456,013
Other reserves 19 (43,905) (58,525)
Retained earnings 18 207,333 158,841

    

630,794 560,568
    

Non-controlling interests 4,374 22
    

Total equity 635,168 560,590
    

The notes on page 84 to 142 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Director: Director:
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As at 31 December
2016 2015

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
    

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities
Deferred income tax liabilities 21 5,474 4,694
Deferred income 22 934 1,201

    

6,408 5,895
    

Current liabilities
Trade payables 23 11,365 7,253
Accruals and other payables 24 139,034 105,428
Current income tax liabilities – 4,386
Current portion of deferred income 22 267 517

    

150,666 117,584
    

Total liabilities 157,074 123,479
    

Total equity and liabilities 792,242 684,069
    

The notes on page 84 to 142 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2017, and were signed on its 
behalf.

Director: Director:
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Year ended 31 December
2016 2015

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
    

Revenue 5 352,026 282,390
Cost of sales 27 (168,055) (131,312)

    

Gross profit 183,971 151,078

Selling and distribution expenses 27 (68,193) (49,819)
General and administrative expenses 27 (52,233) (46,151)
Other income – net 25 820 486
Other gains/(losses) – net 26 570 (3,515)

    

Operating profit 64,935 52,079

Finance income 8,088 6,027
Finance costs (712) (551)

    

Finance income – net 29 7,376 5,476

Share of loss of an associate (1,667) –
    

Profit before income tax 70,644 57,555

Income tax expense 30 (11,551) (7,207)
    

Profit for the year 59,093 50,348

Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
– Currency translation differences 7,193 6,465

    

Total comprehensive income for the year 66,286 56,813
    

Total profit attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 60,183 50,344
Non-controlling interests (1,090) 4

    

59,093 50,348
    

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 67,450 56,809
Non-controlling interests (1,164) 4

    

66,286 56,813
    

Earnings per share for profit attributable to 
  equity holders of the Company during the year 
  (expressed in RMB per share)
– Basic 31 0.111 0.095

    

– Diluted 31 0.111 0.093
    

The notes on page 84 to 142 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Attributable to equity holders of the Company
 

Share
capital

Share
Premium

Other
reserves

Retained
earnings Total

Non-
controlling

interests
Total

Equity
       

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Note 17) (Note 17) (Note 19) (Note 18)

Balance at 1 January 2015 4,142 445,429 (74,964) 119,504 494,111 39 494,150
        

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year – – – 50,344 50,344 4 50,348
Currency translation differences – – 6,465 – 6,465 – 6,465

        

Total comprehensive income – – 6,465 50,344 56,809 4 56,813
        

Transactions with owners
Share-based payment
- Value of employee services – – 2,257 – 2,257 – 2,257
- Exercise of share options 97 10,584 – – 10,681 – 10,681
Dividends (Note 32) – – – (3,311) (3,311) – (3,311)
Appropriation to statutory reserve – – 7,696 (7,696) – – –
Capital injection by the equity 
  holder of a subsidiary – – 21 – 21 (21) –

        

Total transactions with owners 97 10,584 9,974 (11,007) 9,648 (21) 9,627
        

Balance at 31 December 2015 4,239 456,013 (58,525) 158,841 560,568 22 560,590
        

Balance at 1 January 2016 4,239 456,013 (58,525) 158,841 560,568 22 560,590
        

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year – – – 60,183 60,183 (1,090) 59,093
Currency translation differences – – 7,267 – 7,267 (74) 7,193

        

Total comprehensive income – – 7,267 60,183 67,450 (1,164) 66,286
        

Transactions with owners
Share-based payment
- Value of employee services – – 774 – 774 – 774
- Exercise of share options 65 7,049 – – 7,114 – 7,114
Dividends (Note 32) – – – (5,112) (5,112) – (5,112)
Appropriation to statutory reserve – – 6,579 (6,579) – – –
Capital injection by the equity 
  holders of subsidiaries (Note 35) – – – – – 5,516 5,516

        

Total transactions with owners 65 7,049 7,353 (11,691) 2,776 5,516 8,292
        

Balance at 31 December 2016 4,304 463,062 (43,905) 207,333 630,794 4,374 635,168
        

The notes on page 84 to 142 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended 31 December
2016 2015

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
    

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 33 95,153 90,352
Income tax paid (15,875) (2,892)

    

Net cash generated from operating activities 79,278 87,460
    

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of a subsidiary 35 (10,075) (3,831)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (128,894) (56,352)
Investment of an associate (11,500) –
Acquisition of intangible assets (16) (1,996)
Proceeds from disposal of an associate 7,627 9,441
Interest received from available-for-sale financial assets 4,680 2,930
Loan granted to a third party (6,617) –
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 33 9 11
Payment of bank deposits with maturities over 3 months (165,634) –
Receipt from bank deposits with maturities over 3 months 116,436 –
Purchases of available-for-sale financial assets (415,995) (340,000)
Disposal of available-for-sale financial assets 413,995 340,000

    

Net cash used in from investing activities (195,984) (49,797)
    

Cash flows from financing activities
Capital injections from non-controlling interests 2,973 –
Net proceeds from issue of new shares 7,114 131,883
Listing expense paid – (16,941)
Dividends paid to equity shareholders (5,112) (3,311)

    

Net cash generated from financing activities 4,975 111,631
    

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (111,731) 149,294
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 349,892 195,821
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 7,691 4,777

    

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 15 245,852 349,892
    

The notes on page 84 to 142 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1	 GENERAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

BBI Life Sciences Corporation (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 10 July 2013 
as an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as 
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office was Floor 4, Willow 
House, Cricket Square, P.O. BOX 2804 Grand Cayman KY1-1112, Cayman Islands. In September 2014, the 
Company’s registered office was changed to Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman 
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited  
(the ”Stock Exchange”) since 30 December 2014.

The Company, an investment holding company, and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are principally engaged in 
the development, manufacture and sale of various life science products used in scientific research, and the 
provision of life science related services. The products and services include mainly DNA synthesis products, 
genetic engineering services, life science research consumables and protein and antibody related products 
and services.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi (RMB), unless otherwise stated, and were 
approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2017.

2	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are 
set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise 
stated.

2.1	 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with Hong 
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) and disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical 
cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of financial assets which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying 
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or 
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements, are 
disclosed in Note 4.
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2	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1	 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.1	 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(a)	 New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The following new and amended standards have been adopted by the Group for the 
first time for the financial year beginning 1 January 2016.

HKFRS 7 (Amendments) “Financial instruments: Disclosures condensed interim financial 
statements” is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. 
This amendment clarifies that the additional disclosure required by the amendments 
to HKFRS 7, ‘Disclosure – Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities’ is not 
specifically required for all interim periods, unless required by HKAS 34.

HKAS 19 (Amendments) “Employee benefits” is effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2016. This amendment clarifies that, when determining the 
discount rate for post-employment benefit obligations, it is the currency that the 
liabilities are denominated in that is important, and not the country where they arise. 
The assessment of whether there is a deep market in high-quality corporate bonds is 
based on corporate bonds in that currency, not corporate bonds in a particular country. 
Similarly, where there is no deep market in high-quality corporate bonds in that 
currency, government bonds in the relevant currency should be used.

HKAS 34 (Amendments) “Interim financial reporting” is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2016. This amendment clarifies what is meant by the 
reference in the standard to ‘information disclosed elsewhere in the interim financial 
report’. The amendment further amends HKAS 34 to require a cross-reference from the 
interim financial statements to the location of that information.

Amendments and interpretations as mentioned above are not expected to have a 
material effect on the Group’s operating results, financial position or comprehensive 
income.
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2	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1	 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.1	 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued)

(b)	 Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards effective in 
2016 but not relevant to the Group.

Effective for
annual periods

beginning on
or after

   

HKAS 1 (Amendment) Disclosure initiative 1 January 2016
HKAS 16 (Amendment) Property, plant and equipment 1 January 2016
HKAS 27 (Amendment) Separate financial statements 1 January 2016
HKAS 28 (Amendment) Investment in associates 1 January 2016
HKAS 38 (Amendment) Intangible assets 1 January 2016
HKAS 41 (Amendment) Agriculture 1 January 2016
HKFRS 5 (Amendment) Non-current assets held for sale 

  and discontinued operations
1 January 2016

HKFRS 7 (Amendment) Financial instruments: Disclosures 
  – Application of the disclosure 
  requirements to a serving contracts

1 January 2016

HKFRS 10 (Amendment) Consolidated financial statements 1 January 2016
HKFRS 11 (Amendment) Joint operations 1 January 2016
HKFRS 12 (Amendment) Disclosure of interests in other entities 1 January 2016
HKFRS 14 Regulatory deferral accounts 1 January 2016

(c)	 The following new standards, new interpretations and amendments to standards 
and interpretations have been issued but are not effective for the financial year 
beginning on 1 January 2016 and have not been early adopted.

Effective for
annual periods

beginning on
or after

   

HKAS 7 (Amendment) Statement of cash flows 1 January 2017
HKAS 12 (Amendment) Income taxes 1 January 2017
HKFRS 9 Financial instruments 1 January 2018
HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers 1 January 2018
HKFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019
HKAS 28 (Amendment) Investment in associates To be determined

The Company is still in the process of assessing the impacts on adoption of these 
new standards and amendments and yet to conclude whether or not it will result 
in substantial changes to the consolidated financial statements of the Group upon 
adoption.
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2	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2	 Subsidiaries

2.2.1	 Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over which the Group has control. The 
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from 
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power 
over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to 
the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations 
not under common control. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is 
the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued 
by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability 
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed 
as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a 
business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The 
Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition 
basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s net assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree 
over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total 
of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and previously held interest 
measured is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of 
a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the statement of comprehensive 
income.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group 
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated. Accounting policies of 
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the Group.

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control are accounted 
for as equity transactions – that is, as transactions with the owners of the subsidiary in their 
capacity as owners. The difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the 
relevant share acquired of the carrying amount of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in 
equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.
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2	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2	 Subsidiaries (continued)

2.2.2	 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct 
attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company 
on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend 
from these investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of the 
subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment 
in the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated financial 
statements of the investee’s net assets including goodwill.

2.3	 Associated companies
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally 
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in 
associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, 
the investment is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to 
recognise the investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. The 
Group’s investment in associates includes goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition 
of the ownership interest in an associate, any difference between the cost of the associate and the 
Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for 
as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a 
proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”) 
are reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group’s share of its associate’s post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income, and its share of post-acquisition movements in OCI is 
recognised in OCI. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying 
amount of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its 
interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise 
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the 
investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of 
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying 
value and recognises the amount adjacent to ‘Share of profit of an associate’ in the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associate are eliminated to the extent 
of the Group’s interest in the associate. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction 
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of the associate 
have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Dilution gains and losses arising in investments in associate are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income.
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2	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4	 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the 
chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating 
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Executive 
Directors that makes strategic decisions.

2.5	 Foreign currency translation

(a)	 Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured 
using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the 
functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB, which is 
the Group’s presentation currency.

(b)	 Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange 
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting 
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates 
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents 
are presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income within “finance income 
or cost”. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income within “other gains/(losses) – net”.

(c)	 Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities (none of which has the currency of 
a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation 
currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i)	 assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate 
at the date of that balance sheet;

(ii)	 income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive income are translated at 
average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the 
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income 
and expenses are translated at the rates on the dates the transactions); and

(iii)	 all resulting exchange differences are recognised in OCI.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated 
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. Currency 
translation differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment 
in foreign operations, are taken to OCI. When a foreign operation is partially disposed of 
or sold, corresponding exchange differences that are recorded in OCI are recognised in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as part of the gains or losses on sale.
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2	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6	 Property, plant and equipment
Construction-in-progress (the “CIP”) represents buildings, plant and machinery under construction 
or pending installation and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Cost includes 
the costs of construction and acquisition and capitalised borrowing costs. No depreciation is made on 
CIP until such time as the relevant assets are completed and ready for intended use. When the assets 
concerned are available for use, the costs are transferred to property, plant and equipment and 
depreciated in accordance with the policy as stated below.

Freehold land is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Cost represents 
consideration paid for the purchase of the land. Freehold land is not subject to depreciation.

Other property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation and impairment (if 
any). Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow 
to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced 
part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their 
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Years
  

Buildings 20-40 years
Machinery and equipment 5-10 years
Office equipments 3-5 years
Other equipments 3-5 years

  

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance 
sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s 
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.9).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying 
amount and are recognised within “Other gains/(losses) – net” in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income.
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2	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.7	 Land use rights
All land in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) is state-owned or collectively-owned and 
no individual land ownership right exists. The Group acquired the rights to use certain land. The 
premiums paid for such right are treated as prepayment for operating lease and recorded as land use 
rights, which are amortised over the lease periods of 50 years using the straight-line method. The 
land use rights are stated at historical cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment.

2.8	 Intangible assets

(a)	 Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries represents the excess of the consideration 
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-
date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the 
identified net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is 
allocated to each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”), or groups of CGUs, that is expected 
to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of units to which the 
goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill 
is monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating 
segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes 
in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU containing 
the goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and 
the fair value less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an expense 
and is not subsequently reversed.

(b)	 Computer softwares

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an 
expense as incurred. Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of costs 
incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. The costs are amortised over their 
estimated useful lives of 5 to 10 years.

(c)	 Contractual customer relationships

Contractual customer relationships acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair 
value at the acquisition date. The contractual customer relations have a finite useful life and 
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-
line method over the expected life of the customer relationship of 9.5 years.

(d)	 Brand name

Brand name acquired in a business combination is recognised at fair value at the acquisition 
date. The brand name has a finite useful life and is carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method over the expected life 
of the brand name of 4.5 years.
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2	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8	 Intangible assets (continued)

(e)	 Patent

Separately acquired patent is shown at historical cost. Patent has finite useful lives and is 
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line 
method to allocate the cost of patent over their estimated useful lives of 5 years.

(f)	 Development costs

Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable assets 
controlled by the Group are recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are 
met:

•	 It is technically feasible to complete the intangible assets so that it will be available for 
use;

•	 Management intends to complete the intangible assets and use or sell it;

•	 There is an ability to use or sell the intangible assets;

•	 It can be demonstrated how the intangible assets will generate probable future 
economic benefits;

•	 Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to 
use or sell the intangible assets are available; and

•	 The expenditure attributable to the intangible assets during its development can be 
reliably measured.

Development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as 
incurred. Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an 
asset in a subsequent period. Development costs recognised as assets are amortised over their 
estimated useful lives.

2.9	 Impairment of non-financial assets
Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or intangible assets not ready to use are 
not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to 
amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount 
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is 
the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash 
flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment 
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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2	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.10	 Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets are classified as held for sale when their carrying amount is to be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction and a sale is considered highly probable. The non-current assets 
(except for certain assets as explained below) are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair 
value less costs to sell. Deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits, financial assets 
(other than investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates) and investment properties, even 
if held for sale, would continue to be measured in accordance with the policies set out elsewhere in 
note 2.

2.11	 Financial assets

(a)	 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: loans and receivables and 
available for sale. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets 
were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial 
recognition.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for 
maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date. These are classified as non-
current assets. The Group’s loans and receivables comprise “trade and bills receivables”, 
“deposits and other receivables”, “cash and cash equivalents”, “bank deposits with maturities 
over 3 months” and “other non-current assets” in the balance sheet.

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category 
or not classified in any other categories. They are included in non-current assets unless the 
investment matures or management intends to dispose of it within 12 months of the end of 
the reporting period.

(b)	 Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the date on which the 
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value 
plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. 
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments 
have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and 
rewards of ownership. Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently carried at fair value. 
Loans and receivables are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.

Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-monetary securities classified as available for 
sale are recognised in other comprehensive income.

When securities classified as available for sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value 
adjustments recognised in equity are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income as “other gains/(losses) – net”.

Interest on available-for-sale securities calculated using the effective interest method is 
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as part of other income. 
Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income as part of other income when the Group’s right to receive payments 
is established.
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2	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.11	 Financial assets (continued)

(c)	 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet 
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The 
legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable 
in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the 
company or the counterparty.

(d)	 Impairment

Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence 
that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group 
of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on 
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be 
reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is 
experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal 
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, and 
where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future 
cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

For loans and receivables, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future 
credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective 
interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is 
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. As a practical expedient, 
the Group may measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an 
observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such 
as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of the previously recognised 
impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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2	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.11	 Financial assets (continued)

(d)	 Impairment (continued)

Assets classified as available for sale

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence 
that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.

For debt securities, if any such evidence exists the cumulative loss – measured as the 
difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss 
on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss – is removed from equity and 
recognised in profit or loss. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument 
classified as available for sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event 
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is 
reversed through the consolidated income statement.

For equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security 
below its cost is also evidence that the assets are impaired. If any such evidence exists the 
cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current 
fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or 
loss – is removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised 
in the consolidated income statement on equity instruments are not reversed through the 
consolidated income statement.

2.12	 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the 
weighted average method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, 
direct labour, other direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating 
capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

2.13	 Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services provided in the 
ordinary course of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is expected within one year, 
they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.

2.14	 Cash and cash equivalents
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, 
deposits held at call with banks, and other short-term highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less.
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2	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.15	 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a 
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.16	 Trade payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary 
course of business from suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due 
within one year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method.

2.17	 Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) 
and the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income over 
the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

2.18	 Borrowing costs
General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to 
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the 
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their 
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

2.19	 Current and deferred income tax
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.
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2	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.19	 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(a)	 Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or 
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries or areas where the Company 
and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates 
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is 
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts 
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

(b)	 Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated 
financial statements. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from 
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination 
that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. 
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or 
substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related 
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on temporary differences arising on investments in 
subsidiaries, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled 
by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.

(c)	 Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right 
to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax 
assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the 
taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on 
a net basis.
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2	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.20	 Employee benefits
In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group has arranged for its PRC 
employees to join defined contribution plans, including pension, medical, housing and other welfare 
benefits, organised by the PRC government. According to the relevant regulations, the monthly 
contributions that should be borne by the PRC subsidiaries of the Company are calculated based on 
percentages of the total salary of employees, subject to a certain ceiling. The assets of these plans 
are held separately from those of the Group in independent funds managed by the PRC government.

The non-PRC employees are covered by other defined contribution pension plans sponsored by 
respective local governments.

The Group has no further payment obligations once the above contributions have been paid. The 
Group’s contributions to these plans are charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income as incurred.

2.21	 Share-based payments

(a)	 Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plans, under which the entity 
receives services from directors and employees as consideration for equity instruments (options) 
of the Company. The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of 
the options is recognised as an expense. The total amount to be expensed is determined by 
reference to the fair value of the options granted:

•	 including any market performance conditions;

•	 excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions (for 
example, profitability, sales growth targets and an employee remaining on service of 
the entity over a specified time period); and

•	 including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for example, the requirement for 
employees to save).

Non-market performance and service conditions are included in assumptions about the number 
of options that are expected to vest. The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, 
which is the period over which all of the vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end 
of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the options that are expected to 
vest based on the non-marketing performance and service conditions. It recognises the impact 
of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the consolidated statements of comprehensive 
income, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The proceeds received net 
of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and 
share premium.

The grant by the Company of options over its equity instruments to the employees of 
subsidiary undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital contribution. The fair value of 
employee services received, measured by reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised 
over the vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings, with a 
corresponding credit to equity on the Company’s financial statements.
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2	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.22	 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and 
the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in 
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised 
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of 
obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle 
the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is 
recognised as interest expense.

2.23	 Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivables for the sale of goods 
and services in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of value-added 
tax, returns, rebates and discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable 
that future economic benefits will flow to the entity and when specific criteria have been met for 
each of the Group’s activities as described below. The Group bases its estimates on historical results, 
taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each 
arrangement.

(i)	 Revenue from the sales of goods is recognised when the risk and reward of the goods 
has been transferred to the customer, which is usually at the date when a group entity 
has delivered products to the customer and the customer has accepted the products, the 
collectability of the related receivables is reasonably assumed and there is no unfulfilled 
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the products.

(ii)	 Service income is recognised when the services have been rendered and it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the relevant fees can be measured reliably.

(iii)	 Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

2.24	 Interest Income
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method. When a 
receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the 
estimated future cash flow discounted at the original effective interest rate of the instrument, and 
continues unwinding the discount as interest income.
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2	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.25	 Government grants
Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance 
that the grant will be received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income over the period necessary to match them with the costs that they are 
intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment are included in non-current liabilities as 
deferred government grants and are credited to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the related assets.

2.26	 Operating Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the 
lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives 
received from the lessor) are charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a 
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

2.27	 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will 
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not 
wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past events 
that is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow of economic resources will be required 
or the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it 
will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be 
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain events not wholly 
within the control of the Group.

Contingent assets are not recognised but are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an 
asset is recognised.

2.28	 Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the consolidated 
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s 
shareholders or directors where appropriate.
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3	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1	 Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency 
risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The 
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and 
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a)	 Market risk

(i)	 Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in the PRC with most of the transactions denominated and 
settled in RMB. However, the Group has certain trade and bills receivables, cash and 
cash equivalents and trade payables denominated in HK$ and USD, which are exposed 
to foreign currency translation risk. Details of the Group’s trade and bills receivables, 
bank deposits with maturities over 3 months, cash and cash equivalents, trade payables 
are disclosed in Notes 12, 14, 15 and 23 respectively.

Most foreign exchange transactions were denominated in USD. As at 31 December 
2016, if RMB had strengthened/weakened by 10% against the USD with all other 
variables held constant, net profit for the year would have been RMB3,312,000 lower/
higher (2015: RMB2,043,000 lower/higher).

(ii)	 Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Except for cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits with maturities over 3 months, 
the Group has no other significant interest-bearing assets. The Group’s income and 
operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest 
rates. Management does not anticipate significant impact on interest-bearing assets 
resulted from the changes in interest rates because the interest rates of cash and cash 
equivalent are not expected to change significantly.
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3	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1	 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)	 Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, 
bank deposits with maturities over 3 months, trade and bills receivables, deposits and other 
receivables as well as credit exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables and 
committed transactions. Certain Group’s sales are settled in cash by its customers on delivery 
of goods. Credit sales are made only to selected customers with good credit history. The 
Group has policies in place to ensure that trade receivables are followed up on a timely basis.

As at 31 December 2015 and 2016, the Group has no significant concentration risk. The 
carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalent, trade and bills receivables, and deposits and 
other receivables included in the consolidated financial statements represent the Group’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial assets.

As at 31 December 2015 and 2016, all cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits with 
maturities over 3 months were placed in highly reputable and sizable banks and financial 
institutions without significant credit risk. The table below shows bank deposits and cash at 
bank balances by counterparties:

As at 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

The Group

Counterparties
  – Big 4 PRC banks* 160,783 174,921
  – Other PRC commercial banks* 53,654 74,304
  – Non-PRC banks* 80,550 100,646

   

294,987 349,871
   

*	 Big 4 PRC banks comprise Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited, Agricultural Bank of 

China Limited, Bank of China Limited and China Construction Bank Corporation.

The credit rating of Big 4 PRC bank is cnAA+.

The credit rating of other PRC commercial banks ranges from cnA- to cnA+.

The credit rating of Non-PRC banks ranges from BBB+ to AA-.
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3	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1	 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c)	 Liquidity risk

Cash flow is managed at group level by head office finance department (“Group Finance”). 
Group Finance monitors the Group’s liquidity requirements to ensure that it has sufficient cash 
to meet operational needs at all times.

Group Finance mainly invests surplus cash in time deposits and available-for-sale financial 
assets with appropriate maturities.

The table below analyzes the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity 
groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual 
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash 
flows.

Within 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

     

As at 31 December 2016

Trade payables 11,365 – – 11,365
Other payables 17,166 – – 17,166

     

28,531 – – 28,531
     

As at 31 December 2015

Trade payables 7,253 – – 7,253
Other payables 6,971 – – 6,971

     

14,224 – – 14,224
     

3.2	 Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s abilities to continue as 
a going concern in order to provide returns for equity holders and to maintain an optimal capital 
structure to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group 
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to equity holders, return capital to equity holders or sell 
assets to reduce debt.

Gearing ratio is not applicable since the Group has no bank borrowings as at 31 December 2016 and 
2015.

3.3	 Fair value estimation
There are no assets or liabilities that are measured at fair value as at 31 December 2016. The 
carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, bank deposits with maturities over 3 months, trade and 
bills receivables less impairment, other receivables, and trade and other payables are assumed to 
approximate their fair values.
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4	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experiences and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, 
by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year are discussed below.

(i)	 Estimated impairment of goodwill
The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the 
accounting policy stated in Note 2.8. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been 
determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates 
as disclosed in Note 8. When the results of key assumption is different from original estimates, 
such difference will impact carrying value of goodwill and impairment would be recognised in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the period in which such estimates have been 
changed.

(ii)	 Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation charges 
for its property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience of the 
actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and functions. It could change 
significantly as a result of technical innovations and competitor actions in response to severe industry 
cycles. Management will increase the depreciation charge where useful lives are less than previously 
estimated lives, or it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that 
have been abandoned or sold.

(iii)	 Estimated write-downs of inventories
The Group writes down inventories to net realisable value based on an assessment of the realisability 
of inventories. Write-downs on inventories are recorded where events or changes in circumstances 
that the balances may not be realised. The identification of write-downs requires the use of 
judgement and estimates. Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such 
difference will impact carrying values of inventories and write-downs of inventories in the period in 
which such estimate has been changed.

(iv)	 Impairment of trade and other receivables
The Group’s management estimates the provision of impairment of trade and other receivables by 
assessing their recoverability. Provisions are applied to trade and other receivables where events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may not be collectible and require the use of 
estimates. Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact 
carrying value of trade and other receivable and impairment charge in the period in which such 
estimate has been changed.

During the year 2016, the Group conducted a thorough review of the collection status of the 
accounts receivable based on historical data. As a result of the review, the Group changed the 
estimation of the provision for impairment of trade and other receivables and made a reversal of the 
provision RMB2,727,000 as of 31 December 2016.
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4	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(v)	 Current tax and deferred tax
The Group is subject to income taxes in different jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required 
in determining the provision for income taxes. There are some transactions and calculations for 
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group 
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes 
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were 
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and provisions in the period in which 
such determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined using tax rates that are expected to apply 
when the related deferred income tax assets are realised or the deferred income tax liabilities are 
settled. The expected applicable tax rate is determined based on the enacted tax laws and regulations 
and the actual situation of the Group. The management of the Group will revise the expectation 
where the actual tax rate is different from the original expectation.

5	 SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the Executive Directors. The Executive Directors 
review the Group’s internal reports in order to assess performance and allocate resources. Management 
has determined the operating segments based on the internal reports provided for review by the Executive 
Directors. The Executive Directors consider the performance of the Group from a product perspective. The 
Executive Directors assess the performance of the operating segments based on a measure of gross profit 
for the year which is consistent with that in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s operations are mainly organised under the following business segments: DNA synthesis 
products, genetic engineering services, life science research consumables and protein and antibody related 
products and services.

The amounts provided to Executive Directors with respect to total assets, total liabilities and capital 
expenditure are measured in a manner consistent with that of consolidated financial statements. Executive 
Directors review the total assets, total liabilities and capital expenditure at Group level, therefore no segment 
information of total assets, total liabilities and capital expenditure information was presented.
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5	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(a)	 Revenue
The Group’s revenue which represents turnover for the year ended 31 December 2016 and year 
ended 31 December 2015 is as follows:

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

DNA synthesis products 141,520 114,258
Genetic engineering services 71,752 55,079
Life science research consumables 103,919 83,168
Protein and antibody related products and services 34,835 29,885

   

Total 352,026 282,390
   

(b)	 Segment information
The segment information for the year ended 31 December 2016 is as follows:

DNA
synthesis
products

Genetic
engineering

services

Life science
research

consumables

Protein and
antibody

related
products

and services Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

Segment sales 141,520 71,752 103,919 34,835 352,026
      

Segment cost of sales (56,047) (38,004) (53,031) (20,973) (168,055)
      

Segment gross profit 85,473 33,748 50,888 13,862 183,971
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5	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b)	 Segment information (continued)
The segment information for the year ended 31 December 2015 is as follows:

DNA
synthesis
products

Genetic
engineering

services

Life science
research

consumables

Protein and
antibody

related
products

and services Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

Segment sales 114,258 55,079 83,168 29,885 282,390
      

Segment cost of sales (45,344) (27,024) (40,152) (18,792) (131,312)
      

Segment gross profit 68,914 28,055 43,016 11,093 151,078
      

(c)	 Entity-wide information
Analysis of the Group’s sales to external customers in different countries is as follows:

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

PRC 276,029 220,709
Overseas countries 75,997 61,681

   

352,026 282,390
   

The total of non-current assets other than deferred income tax assets located in different countries is 
as follows:

As at 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Total non-current assets other than 
  deferred income tax assets
  – PRC 304,036 183,033
  – Overseas countries 30,232 18,676
Deferred income tax assets 1,388 3,402

   

335,656 205,111
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6	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land Buildings

Machinery
and

equipment
Office

equipment Others
Construction

in progress Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

        

At 1 January 2015
Cost 7,006 60,144 77,105 5,087 8,015 6,921 164,278
Accumulated depreciation – (15,731) (24,684) (3,208) (4,115) – (47,738)

        

Net book amount 7,006 44,413 52,421 1,879 3,900 6,921 116,540
        

Year ended 31 December 2015
Opening net book amount 7,006 44,413 52,421 1,879 3,900 6,921 116,540
Additions – 78 13,813 1,269 2,098 39,441 56,699
Transfers – – 922 – 337 (1,259) –
Disposals (Note 33) – (180) (380) (4) (7) – (571)
Depreciation (Note 33) – (3,149) (8,927) (985) (1,912) – (14,973)
Exchange difference (631) (1,124) (4) (1) (11) – (1,771)

        

Closing net book amount 6,375 40,038 57,845 2,158 4,405 45,103 155,924
        

At 31 December 2015
Cost 6,375 58,434 90,694 6,403 10,339 45,103 217,348
Accumulated depreciation – (18,396) (32,849) (4,245) (5,934) – (61,424)

        

Net book amount 6,375 40,038 57,845 2,158 4,405 45,103 155,924
        

Year ended 31 December 2016
Opening net book amount 6,375 40,038 57,845 2,158 4,405 45,103 155,924
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 35) 3,075 5,049 2,469 130 220 – 10,943
Additions – 39,548 20,342 1,770 1,433 73,359 136,452
Transfers – 36,455 1,617 46 865 (38,983) –
Disposals (Note 33) – – (80) (4) (2) – (86)
Depreciation (Note 33) – (4,305) (10,442) (999) (2,289) – (18,035)
Transfer to non-current assets 
  held for sale (Note 16) (2,999) (4,895) – – – – (7,894)
Exchange difference 534 628 (60) (1) 14 – 1,115

        

Closing net book amount 6,985 112,518 71,691 3,100 4,646 79,479 278,419
        

At 31 December 2016
Cost 6,985 135,350 120,094 8,567 13,015 79,479 363,490
Accumulated depreciation – (22,832) (48,403) (5,467) (8,369) – (85,071)

        

Net book amount 6,985 112,518 71,691 3,100 4,646 79,479 278,419
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6	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

(a)	 Depreciation expense has been charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as 
follows:

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Cost of sales 12,329 11,120
Administrative expenses 5,139 3,051
Selling and distribution costs 567 802

   

18,035 14,973
   

7	 LAND USE RIGHTS

Land use rights represent the net book amount of prepaid operating lease payments. All the land use rights 
of the Group are located in the PRC and are held on leases of 50 years.

Movements in land use rights are as follows:

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Opening 30,178 30,849
Amortisation (Note 33) (671) (671)

   

29,507 30,178
   

(a)	 Amortisation expense has been charged to “general and administrative expenses” in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

General and administrative expenses 671 671
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8	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Patent Goodwill
Computer
softwares

Brand
name

Contractual
customer

relationships Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

       

At 1 January 2015
Cost 406 – 3,505 – – 3,911
Accumulated amortisation (381) – (667) – – (1,048)

       

Net book amount 25 – 2,838 – – 2,863
       

Year ended 31 December 2015
Opening net book amount 25 – 2,838 – – 2,863
Additions – – 1,996 – – 1,996
Acquisition of a subsidiary – 1,627 – 119 2,441 4,187
Amortisation (25) – (509) (9) (84) (627)
Exchange difference – (61) – (4) (89) (154)

       

Closing net book amount – 1,566 4,325 106 2,268 8,265
       

At 31 December 2015
Cost 406 1,566 5,501 114 2,351 9,938
Accumulated amortisation (406) – (1,176) (9) (82) (1,673)

       

Net book amount – 1,566 4,325 105 2,269 8,265
       

Year ended 31 December 2016
Opening net book amount – 1,566 4,325 105 2,269 8,265
Additions – – 16 – – 16
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 35) – 6,276 12 – – 6,288
Amortisation (Note 33) – – (544) (24) (230) (798)
Exchange difference – (336) – (11) (250) (597)

       

Closing net book amount – 7,506 3,809 70 1,789 13,174
       

At 31 December 2016
Cost 406 7,506 5,529 114 2,351 15,906
Accumulated amortisation (406) – (1,720) (44) (562) (2,732)

       

Net book amount – 7,506 3,809 70 1,789 13,174
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8	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Amortisation expense has been charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as follows:

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Selling and distribution expenses 255 93
Administrative expenses 543 534

   

798 627
   

Impairment tests for goodwill
Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s CGUs. The goodwill allocated to the CGUs is presented below:

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

NBS Biologicals Limited (“NBL”) 1,386 1,566
Bionics Co., Ltd. (“Bionics”) 6,120 –

   

7,506 1,566
   

The principal component of goodwill represents the excess of cost of acquisition of NBL and Bionics over the 
fair value of the identified net assets acquired. The goodwill impairment assessment is based on recoverable 
amounts of respective CGUs.

(a)	 The recoverable amount of investment in NBL is determined based on value-in-use calculations. 
These calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by NBL 
management covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated 
using the estimated growth rates stated below. The growth rate does not exceed the long-term 
average growth rate for the life science research consumables business in which the CGU operates.

The key assumptions, long term growth rate and discount rate used in the value-in-use calculations 
in 2016 are as follows:

NBL
  

Sales amount (% average annual growth rate) 6.00%
Gross margin (% of revenue) 28.80%
Long term growth rate 2.00%
Pre-tax discount rate 13.00%
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8	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(a)	 (continued)

The key assumptions, long term growth rate and discount rate used in the value-in-use calculations 
in 2015 are as follows:

NBL
  

Sales amount (% average annual growth rate) 6.00%
Gross margin (% of revenue) 49.60%
Long term growth rate 2.00%
Pre-tax discount rate 13.00%

  

Sales amount is the average annual growth rate over the five-year forecast period. It is based on past 
performance, management’s expectations of market development and the integration of BBI overseas 
life science research consumables segment.

Gross margin is the average margin as a percentage of revenue over the five-year forecast period. 
It is based on the current sales margin levels and sales mix, with adjustments made to reflect the 
expected future changes to the business integration.

The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant operating 
segments.

A fall in expected annual sales growth rate, gross margin, long term growth rate, or a rise in 
discount rate would remove the impairment test remaining headroom.

(b)	 The recoverable amount of Bionics is determined based on fair value less costs of disposal. The 
fair value of the CGU is a level 3 input which is calculated based on the market approach. The key 
assumptions used for fair value less cost of calculations in 2016 are as follows.

Bionics
  

EV/S ratio: 2.84
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9	 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

At 1 January – –
Addition 11,500 –
Share of results (1,667) –

   

At 31 December 9,833 –
   

On 23 March 2016, Sangon Biotech Co., Ltd. (“Sangon Biotech”), the wholly subsidiary of the Company, 
entered into certain agreements (“the Agreements”) with Shanghai YouLong Biotech Co., Ltd. (“YouLong 
Biotech”) and its shareholders. Pursuant to the Agreements, Sangon Biotech acquired 34% equity interest 
in YouLong Biotech with a cash consideration of RMB11,500,000.

The associate is a private company and there is no quoted market price available for its shares.

There are no material contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interest in the associate.

Summarised financial information for an associate
Set out below is the summarised financial information for Youlong Biotech which is accounted for using the 
equity method.

Summarised balance sheet
As at

31 December
2016

RMB’000
  

Current
Current assets 9,179
Current liabilities (2,001)

Non-current
Non-current assets 22,365
Non-current liabilities (623)

Net assets 28,920
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9	 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (CONTINUED)

Summarised statement of comprehensive income
Period from
investment

date to
31 December

2016
RMB’000

  

Loss for the period (4,903)
Other comprehensive income –

  

Total comprehensive income (4,903)
  

Reconciliation of summaries financial information
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to the carrying amount of its interests in 
associates.

Year ended
31 December

2016
RMB’000

  

Opening net assets at investment date 33,823
Loss for the year (4,903)

  

Closing net assets 28,920
  

Interest in an associate (34%) 9,833
  

Carrying value 9,833
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10	 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Unlisted securities, at cost
– Equity securities (i) 2,000 –

   

(i)	 The balance represents the Group’s investment in a company which do not have a quoted market price in an 

active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured.

11	 INVENTORIES

As at 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Raw materials 30,996 30,479
Work in progress 3,291 1,993
Finished goods 23,543 21,639

   

57,830 54,111

Less: inventory provision (5,150) (4,906)
   

52,680 49,205
   

Inventory provision of RMB244,000 were recognised for the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: 
RMB572,000). Inventory provision has been included in “cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income.

The cost of inventories amounting to approximately RMB167,811,000 for the years ended 31 December 
2016 (2015: RMB130,740,000) has been recognised as cost of sales.

12	 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

As at 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Trade and bills receivables 76,418 65,569
Less: provision for impairment of trade receivables (2,678) (5,638)

   

Trade and bills receivables – Net 73,740 59,931
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12	 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The carrying amounts of the trade and bills receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

As at 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

RMB 61,942 55,124
USD 6,643 8,587
KRW 4,487 –
EUR 1,443 –
CAD 869 1,058
GBP 680 800
SGD 354 –

   

76,418 65,569
   

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of trade and bills receivables, 
net of the impairment provision. The Group does not hold any collateral as security as at the balance sheet 
date.

The majority of the Group’s sales are on credit with credit terms ranging from 1 month to 6 months. Trade 
receivables are non-interest bearing.

As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, the ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables based on invoice 
date was as follows:

As at 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Within 3 months 47,659 38,983
3 to 6 months 13,635 10,976
6 to 12 months 8,729 9,145
Over 12 months 6,395 6,465

   

76,418 65,569
   

As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, trade receivables of RMB14,451,000 and RMB10,762,000, respectively, 
were past due but not impaired. These relate to a number of independent customers for whom there were 
no recent history of default.
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12	 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, trade receivables of RMB15,124,000 and RMB15,610,000 were 
impaired and provided for. The amount of the provision was RMB2,678,000 and RMB5,638,000 respectively. 
The individually impaired receivables mainly relate to customers which are in unexpectedly difficult economic 
situations and are therefore provided for. The ageing analysis of these receivables was as follows:

As at 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

6 to 12 months 8,729 9,145
Over 12 months 6,395 6,465

   

15,124 15,610
   

Movements on the Group’s provision for impairment of trade and bills receivables are as follows:

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

At 1 January 5,638 2,664
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment (2,960) 2,974

   

At 31 December 2,678 5,638
   

The provision for impaired receivables has been included in general and administrative expenses. Amounts 
charged to the allowance account are written off when there is no expectation of recovering additional 
cash.
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13	 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

As at 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Non-current:
  Receivables for disposal of an associate (Note 1) – 7,030
  Lease prepayments 840 –
  Others 495 312

   

1,335 7,342
   

Current:
  Prepayments for purchases of raw materials 6,325 2,566
  Receivables for disposal of an associate (Note 1) 7,423 7,463
  Prepaid value-added tax, current income tax and other taxes 2,335 5,646
  Others 11,139 4,255

   

27,222 19,930
   

The carrying amount and fair value of non-current other receivables as at the balance sheet date are set out 
as follows:

As at 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Carrying amount 1,335 7,342
   

Fair value 1,335 7,342
   

The fair values of non-current other receivables are estimated based on discounted cash flow using the 
prevailing market rates of interest available to the Group for financial instruments with substantially the 
same terms and characteristics at the balance sheet date and are within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Note 1:	In April 2014, the Group disposed its equity interest in Prime Gene, an associate of the Group, to a third party 

company. According to the payment terms stipulated in the sales and purchase agreement, the buyer committed 

to pay RMB9,441,000 within 1 year from the transaction date, and pay RMB7,627,000 at each of the second and 

third anniversary of the sales transaction date. The Group has received RMB7,627,000 for the year 2016.

As at 31 December 2016, receivables for disposal of an associate amounted to RMB7,627,000 were 
guaranteed by an affiliate of the acquiring company.
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14	 BANK DEPOSITS WITH MATURITIES OVER 3 MONTHS

As at 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Bank deposits with maturities ranging from 
  3 months to 12 months 49,198 –

   

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank deposits with maturities over 3 months are denominated in the 
following currencies:

As at 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

HK$ 49,198 –
   

15	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

As at 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Cash at bank and on hand 203,477 306,130
Short-term time deposits 42,375 43,762

   

Cash and cash equivalents 245,852 349,892
   

The carrying amounts of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies:

As at 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

RMB 176,163 237,736
HK$ 4,337 65,255
USD 53,413 41,074
KRW 5,137 –
CAD 4,327 5,148
GBP 2,211 679
SGD 264 –

   

245,852 349,892
   

RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However, under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control 
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the 
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks to conduct foreign exchange 
transactions.
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16	 NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

The land and building owned by Bionics have been presented as held for sale following the approval of the 
BBI Asia Limited (“BBI Asia”)’s management on 10 December 2016 to sell the land and building owned by 
Bionics. The completion date for the transaction is 20 February 2017.

The land and building related to Bionics Co., Ltd. were remeasured at the lower of carrying amount and fair 
value less cost to sell as at 31 December 2016.

Assets classified as held for sale as follow:

At 31 December
2016

RMB’000
  

Assets classified as held for sale:

– Property, plant and equipment (Note 6) 7,894
  

17	 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

Number of
issued and

fully paid shares

Nominal
value of

ordinary shares
HK$

   

Authorised:
At 31 December 2014, 2015 and 2016 2,000,000,000 20,000,000

   

Note

Number of
issued and

fully paid shares

Nominal
value of

ordinary shares

Equivalent
nominal value of

ordinary shares Share Premium 
HK$ RMB’000 RMB’000

      

Issued:
At 1 January 2015 524,663,100 5,246,631 4,142 445,429
Share-based payment–
  exercise of share option 20 12,211,380 122,114 97 10,584

      

Balance at 31 December 2015 536,874,480 5,368,745 4,239 456,013
      

Share-based payment–
  exercise of share option 20 7,291,701 72,917 65 7,049

      

At 31 December 2016 544,166,181 5,441,662 4,304 463,062
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18	 RETAINED EARNINGS

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

At 1 January 158,841 119,504
Profit for the year 60,183 50,344
Dividends (5,112) (3,311)
Appropriation to statutory reserve (6,579) (7,696)

   

At 31 December 207,333 158,841
   

19	 OTHER RESERVES

Capital
reserve

Statutory
reserve

Share-based
payment

reserve

Currency
translation

reserve Others Total
(i) (ii)

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
       

At 1 January 2015 (91,004) 8,281 11,909 2,326 (6,476) (74,964)
Currency translation differences – – – 6,465 – 6,465
Share-based payment
  – value of employee service (Note 28) – – 2,257 – – 2,257
Appropriation to statutory reserve – 7,696 – – – 7,696
Capital injection by the equity 
  holder of a subsidy – – – – 21 21

       

At 31 December 2015 (91,004) 15,977 14,166 8,791 (6,455) (58,525)
       

Currency translation differences – – – 7,267 – 7,267
Share-based payment
  – value of employee service (Note 28) – – 774 – – 774
Appropriation to statutory reserve – 6,579 – – – 6,579

       

At 31 December 2016 (91,004) 22,556 14,940 16,058 (6,455) (43,905)
       

(i)	 Capital reserve represents the difference between the share capital and premium issued by the Company for 

acquisition of the subsidiaries pursuant to the reorganisation and the aggregate capital of the subsidiaries being 

acquired at the time of the group reorganisation prior to its initial public offerings.

(ii)	 In accordance with the PRC regulations and the articles of association of the companies of the Group, before 

distributing the net profit of each year, companies of the Group registered in the PRC are required to set aside 

10% of its statutory net profit for the year after offsetting any prior year’s losses as determined under relevant 

PRC accounting standards to the statutory reserve. When the balance of such reserve reaches 50% of each 

company’s share capital, any further appropriation is optional.
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20	 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

During the year 2014, the board meeting of BBI International Limited approved the grant of share options 
to the executive directors and certain employees of the Group at exercise price of HK$1.1 per share. The 
Group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options in cash.

The share options are divided into two sub-plans. For plan A, the options are exercisable upon listing of the 
Company’s shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. For plan B, the options are exercisable during 
the following periods upon listing of the Company’s shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

(a)	 up to 20% on or after 17 January 2015;

(b)	 up to 40% on or after 17 January 2016;

(c)	 up to 60% on or after 17 January 2017;

(d)	 up to 80% on or after 17 January 2018;

(e)	 all the remaining options on or after 17 January 2019;

and no later than 12 January 2019 and 17 January 2020 for share options granted under plan A and plan B 
respectively.

The fair value of share options was determined by using the binomial model. The significant inputs into 
the model were share prices, the modified exercise price shown above, volatility, dividend yield, and annual 
risk-free interest rate. The volatility measured at the standard deviation of the underlying stock over a time 
period corresponding to the remaining life of the share options.

Movement in the number of share options outstanding and their related weighted average exercise prices 
for the year ended 31 December 2016 was as follows:

2016 2015
Average
exercise

price in HK$
Number of

options

Average
exercise

price in HK$
Number of

options
     

At 1 January HK$1.1 16,880,343 HK$1.1 29,272,227
Forfeited HK$1.1 (350,670) HK$1.1 (180,504)
Exercise HK$1.1 (7,291,701) HK$1.1 (12,211,380)

     

At 31 December HK$1.1 9,237,972 HK$1.1 16,880,343
     

(a)	 350,670 options were forfeited during the year ended 31 December 2016 due to employees 
resignation.

(b)	 Options exercised during the year ended 31 December 2016 resulted in 7,291,701 shares 
being issued (2015: 12,211,380 shares), with exercise proceeds of HK$7,953,000 (equivalent to 
RMB7,114,000) (2015: HK$13,285,000 (equivalent to RMB10,681,000)).
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20	 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (CONTINUED)

Share options outstanding at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 have the following expiry dates 
and exercise prices:

Expiry date Exercise price Number of options
(HK$ per share) As at 31 December

2016 2015
    

17 January 2019 1.1 1,170,122 7,779,027
17 January 2020 1.1 8,067,850 9,101,316

    

9,237,972 16,880,343
    

21	 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

As at 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Deferred tax assets:
  – Deferred income tax assets to be recovered within 12 months 1,388 3,402
Deferred tax liabilities:
  – Deferred income tax liabilities to be settled after 12 months (5,474) (4,694)

   

The movements on the deferred income tax assets are as follows:

Write
down of

inventories
to net

realisable
value

Impairment
of trade

receivables
Unpaid
wages Others Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
      

At 1 January 2015 617 395 1,042 437 2,491
Credited/(charged) to the 
  consolidated statement 
  of comprehensive income 514 1,005 (1,042) 434 911

      

At 31 December 2015 1,131 1,400 – 871 3,402
      

Charged to the consolidated 
  statement of comprehensive 
  income (449) (1,010) – (555) (2,014)

      

At 31 December 2016 682 390 – 316 1,388
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21	 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

The movements of the deferred tax liabilities are as follows:

Withholding
tax on

unremitted
earnings of

PRC subsidiaries

Fair value
gains through

business
combination Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
    

At 1 January 2015 4,217 – 4,217

Charged to the consolidated statement of 
  comprehensive income – (18) (18)
Acquisition of a subsidiary – 512 512
Exchange difference – (17) (17)

    

At 31 December 2015 4,217 477 4,694
    

Charged to the consolidated statement of 
  comprehensive income – (90) (90)
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 35) – 948 948
Exchange difference – (78) (78)

    

At 31 December 2016 4,217 1,257 5,474
    

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carried forward to the extent that the realisation of 
the related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable.

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of RMB3,326,000 (31 December 2015: 
RMB2,953,000) in respect of the tax losses amounting to RMB13,999,000 (as at 31 December 2015: 
12,042,000) as at 31 December 2016.

The expiry of related tax losses are analyzed as follows:

As at 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Expire year

2017 1,346 1,729
2021 3,778 –
After 2021 (i) 8,875 10,313

   

13,999 12,042
   

(i)	 The amount includes the tax losses of Bio Basic (Canada), Bio Basic (US), Bio Basic Asia Pacific PTE. Ltd., and NBS 

Biologicals Limited (2015: Bio Basic (Canada) and NBS Biologicals Limited). The tax loss of Bio Basic (Canada) and 

Bio Basic (US) would be deductible against future taxable profit within the next 20 years, and the tax loss of NBS 

Biologicals Limited and Bio Basic Asia Pacific PTE. Ltd. would be carried forward indefinitely.
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21	 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

According to board resolutions, all profits earned by Shanghai Qisong Investment Consulting Co., Ltd (“BBI 
China”) and all profits earned by Sangon Biotech after 1 January 2016 will be retained in the PRC for 
future business expansion and management has no intention to remit those earnings in the foreseeable 
future. Accordingly, deferred income tax liabilities of RMB18,532,000 (2015: RMB12,203,000) have not 
been recognised for the unremitted earnings of those subsidiaries. Such unremitted earnings totalled 
RMB185,324,000 as at 31 December 2016 (2015: RMB122,027,000).

22	 DEFERRED INCOME

As at 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Deferred income on government grants

Current portion 267 517
Non-current portion 934 1,201

   

1,201 1,718
   

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

As at 1 January 1,718 1,736
Received during the year – 468
Amortisation (517) (486)

   

As at 31 December 1,201 1,718
   

23	 TRADE PAYABLES

As at 31 December 2015 and 2016, the ageing analysis of the trade payables based on invoice dates is as 
follows:

As at 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Within 3 months 11,111 6,855
3 months to 6 months 170 368
6 months to 1 year 35 30
Over 1 year 49 –

   

11,365 7,253
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23	 TRADE PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are denominated in the following currencies:

As at 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

RMB 7,842 5,414
KRW 1,663 –
USD 1,464 1,018
CAD 195 17
GBP 162 804
EUR 21 –
SGD 18 –

   

11,365 7,253
   

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 30 to 60 days.

24	 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

As at 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Payables for purchase of property, plant and equipment 8,245 687
Salary and staff welfare payables 11,290 8,611
Payables for value-added tax and other taxes 2,086 1,930
Advances from customers 108,492 87,916
Payables for acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 35) 1,623 –
Payables for listing expenses – 50
Payables for professional service fee 1,283 2,283
Other payables 6,015 3,951

   

139,034 105,428
   

25	 OTHER INCOME – NET

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Government grants 303 –
Amortisations of deferred income (Note 22) 517 486

   

820 486
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26	 OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES) – NET

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Losses on disposal of property, plant and 
  equipment – net (Note 33) (77) (560)
Exchange gains/(losses) – net 434 (2,972)
Others 213 17

   

570 (3,515)
   

27	 EXPENSES BY NATURE

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Employee benefit expenses (Note 28) 85,363 70,215
Raw materials used 113,369 88,750
Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress (3,202) (6,000)
Depreciation and amortisation charges (Note 6, 7 and 8) 19,504 16,271
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment of trade 
  and bills receivables (Note 12) (2,960) 2,974
Provision for impairment of inventories (Note 11) 244 572
Transportation expenses 13,870 9,130
Utilities 3,960 3,076
Professional service fees 2,905 1,514
Research and development expenses 17,585 15,331
Taxes and surcharges 3,774 3,268
Travel expenses 2,473 2,370
Repair expenses 2,565 2,591
Operating leases 2,660 1,835
Office expenses 7,145 4,028
Auditor’s remuneration 1,900 2,527
Vehicle expense 3,609 1,385
Other expenses 13,717 7,445

   

Total cost of sales, selling and distribution costs 
  and administrative expenses 288,481 227,282
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28	 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Fair value of share-based payment 774 2,257
Wages and salaries 70,442 55,659
Social security costs 9,585 8,308
Staff welfare 4,562 3,991

   

85,363 70,215
   

(a)	 Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year ended 31 
December 2016 include 2 director (2015: nil), whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown 
in Note 40. The emoluments payable to the five highest paid individuals during the year are as 
follows:

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Basic salary, housing allowances, 
  other allowances and benefit-in-kind 1,799 1,358
Bonuses 75 93
Fair value of employee share options granted – 684

   

1,874 2,135
   

The emoluments of the non-director highest paid employees fell within the following bands:

Number of individuals
2016 2015

   

Nil to HK$1,000,000 
  (equivalent to approximately RMB838,000) 3 5

   

For the year ended 31 December 2016, no emoluments (2015: nil) were paid/payable by the 
Group to the five highest paid individuals as inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as 
compensation for loss of office.
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29	 FINANCE INCOME – NET

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Finance costs
  – Other finance costs (712) (551)

   

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Finance income
  – Interest income on available-for-sale financial assets 4,680 2,930
  – Net foreign exchange gains 1,829 1,420
  – Interest income on bank deposits 954 869
  – Other finance income 625 808

   

8,088 6,027
   

Net finance income 7,376 5,476
   

30	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Current income tax 9,627 8,136
Deferred income tax (Note 21) 1,924 (929)

   

Income tax expense 11,551 7,207
   

(i)	 Cayman Islands profits tax
The Company is not subject to any taxation of Cayman Islands income tax.

(ii)	 Hong Kong profits tax
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for at the rate of 16.5% on the estimated assessable 
profits.
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30	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

(iii)	 PRC corporate income tax
The corporate income tax (“CIT”) is calculated based on the statutory profit of subsidiaries 
incorporated in the PRC in accordance with the PRC tax laws and regulations, after adjustments on 
certain income and expense items, which are not assessable or deductible for income tax purposes.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law (“the CIT Law”), the CIT is unified at 25% for all 
type of entities, effective from 1 January 2008. Sangon Biotech had enjoyed a preferential CIT rate 
of 15% during a 3 years period from 2013 to 2015, as it was certified as High and New Technology 
Enterprises (“HNTE”). As at 31 December 2016, Sangon Biotech had successfully renewed the HNTE 
qualification, and entitled to a preferential CIT rate of 15% from 2016 to 2018.

(iv)	 PRC withholding income tax
Pursuant to the CIT Law, a 10% withholding tax will be levied on the dividends declared to foreign 
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in the PRC. The requirement is effective 
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007.

(v)	 Canada profits tax
Canada profits tax has been provided for at the rate of 26.50% on the estimated assessable profits 
for the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: 26.50%).

(vi)	 The United States profits tax
The United States profits tax has been provided for at the rate of 15% on the estimated assessable 
profits for the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: 15%).

(vii)	 The United Kingdom profits tax
The United Kingdom profits tax has been provided for at the rate of 20% on the estimated 
assessable profits for the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: 20%).

(viii)	 Singapore profits tax
Singapore profits tax has been provided for at the rate of 8.50% on the estimated assessable profits 
for the year ended 31 December 2016.
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30	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

(ix)	 The Republic of Korea profits tax
The Republic of Korea profits tax has been provided for at the rate of 20% on the estimated 
assessable profits for the year ended 31 December 2016.

The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using 
the weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as follows:

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Profit before income tax 70,644 57,555
   

Tax calculated at applicable statutory tax rates in 
  respective regions 18,107 14,781
Effect of preferential tax rates and tax exemption (7,483) (6,254)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 748 385
Tax losses for which no deferred income 
  tax asset was recognised 212 848
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (294) (46)
Share of losses of an associate, which is not subject to tax 250 –
Super-deduction on research and development expenses (1,351) (1,146)
Re-measurement of deferred tax – change in the tax rate (a) 1,362 (1,361)

   

Income tax expenses 11,551 7,207
   

(a)	 As at 31 December 2015, the management of Sangon Biotech noted the certification of HNTE owned 

by Sangon Biotech would expire in 2016 and Sangon Biotech planned to renew the HNTE qualification 

in 2016. Since there is uncertainty of Sangon Biotech being able to successfully renew the HNTE 

qualification, the management applied the statutory CIT rate 25% in calculation of the deferred tax as at 

31 December 2015.

As at 31 December 2016, the certification of HNTE owned by Sangon Biotech has been renewed. As a 

result, the deferred tax of Sangon Biotech is re-measured using preferential CIT rate of 15%.

The effective tax rates were 16.4% for the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: 12.6%). The increase in 

effective tax rate was mainly caused by the remeasurement of deferred tax (Note 21).
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31	 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by 
the weighted average numbers of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

The Company has only one category of dilutive potential ordinary shares, which is the share option plan 
mentioned in Note 20.

For the share option plan, a calculation is done to determine the number of shares that could have been 
acquired at fair value (determined as the average market share price of the Company’s shares during the 
period when the options are outstanding) based on the monetary value of the subscription rights attached 
to outstanding options. The number of shares calculated as below is compared with the number of shares 
that would have been issued assuming the exercise of the options.

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015

   

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company (RMB’000) 60,183 50,344
   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (’000) 542,654 530,647
Adjustments for share option plan 858 12,227

   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for 
  diluted earnings per share (’000) 543,512 542,874

   

Basic earnings per share (RMB per share) 0.111 0.095
   

Diluted earnings per share (RMB per share) 0.111 0.093
   

32	 DIVIDENDS

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Proposed final dividend of HK$0.012 
  (2015: HK$0.011) per ordinary share 5,909 5,112

   

The dividends paid in 2016 was HK$5,982,000 (HK$0.011per share), equivalent to RMB5,112,000. A 
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2016 of HK$0.012 per share, amounting to a total 
dividend of HK$6,606,000, which equivalent to RMB5,909,000 is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting. These financial statements do not reflect this dividend payable.
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33	 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Profit before income tax 70,644 57,555
Adjustments for:
– Depreciation (Note 6) 18,035 14,973
– Amortisation (Notes 7 and 8) 1,469 1,298
– Losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment (Note 26) 77 560
– Interest income on available-for-sale financial assets (4,680) (2,930)
– Net foreign exchange losses (1,829) (1,420)
– Share of losses of an associate 1,667 –
– (Reversal of)/provision for impairment of 
    receivables and inventory (Notes 11 and 12) (2,716) 3,546
– Share-based payment (Note 28) 774 2,257
Change in working capital:
– Increase in inventories (2,654) (6,139)
– Increase in trade and bills receivables (7,339) (7,846)
– Increase in prepayments, deposits and other receivables (4,473) (6,238)
– (Increase)/decrease in other non-current assets (1,374) 66
– Increase in trade payables 2,709 838
– Increase in accruals and other payables 25,360 33,850
– (Decrease)/increase in deferred income – current portion (250) 142
– Decrease in deferred income – non – current portion (267) (160)

   

Cash generated from operations 95,153 90,352
   

In the cash flow statement, proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment comprise:

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Net book amount (Note 6) 86 571
Losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment (Note 26) (77) (560)

   

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 9 11
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34	 COMMITMENTS

(a)	 Capital commitments
Capital expenditure contracted for at each balance sheet date but not yet incurred is as follows:

As at 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Property, plant and equipment 17,267 8,934
   

(b)	 Operating lease commitments
The Group’s future aggregate minimum lease payments under these non-cancellable operating leases 
in respect of offices and staff quarters were as follows:

As at 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

No later than 1 year 705 1,050
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 223 721

   

928 1,771
   

35	 BUSINESS COMBINATION

Pursuant to the equity transfer agreement signed between BBI Asia and Mr. Bae. BBI Asia acquired 100% 
equity interest shares in Bionics from Mr. Bae.

The equity transfer was completed on 25 October 2016 (the “acquisition date”) with a cash consideration 
of USD2,400,000 (equivalent to RMB16,234,000) and since then Bionics became a subsidiary of the Group.
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35	 BUSINESS COMBINATION (CONTINUED)

Details of purchase consideration are as follows:

RMB’000
  

Purchase consideration:
Cash paid up to 31 December 2016 14,611
Add: Accruals and other payables (Note 24) 1,623

  

16,234
  

Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
Property, plant and equipment 10,943
Intangible assets (other than goodwill) 12
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables – current portion 592
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables – non-current portion 42
Inventories 1,065
Trade and bills receivables 3,308
Cash and cash equivalents 4,536
Deferred income tax liabilities (948)
Borrowings – current portion (6,617)
Trade payables (1,403)
Accruals and other payables (1,572)

  

Total identifiable net assets 9,958
Add: Goodwill (Note 8) 6,276

  

Total purchase consideration 16,234
  

Purchase consideration paid (14,611)
Cash of the subsidiary on the acquisition date 4,536

  

Net cash outflow for the acquisition (10,075)
  

Acquisition-related costs of RMB243,000 have been charged to administrative expenses in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2016.

The revenue included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income since the acquisition date 
contributed by Bionics Co., Ltd. business was RMB3,761,000. Bionics Co., Ltd. business also contributed a 
net loss of RMB2,881,000 over the same period.

Had Bionics Co., Ltd. business been consolidated from 1 January 2016, the Group’s consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income would show pro-forma revenue of RMB363,197,000 and profit for the year of 
RMB54,882,000.

BBI Asia also entered in to an agreement with three individuals (“the Cooperators”) on 27 September 
2016. Pursuant to the agreement, upon the completion of BBI Asia’s acquisition of Bionics, the Cooperators 
acquired 27% equity interest of Bionics through a contribution of certain assets and liabilities with a net 
worth of RMB2,886,000.
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36	 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other 
party, has joint control over the party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making 
financial and operation decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common 
control.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this report, the following is a summary of the significant transactions carried 
out between the Group and its related parties in the ordinary course of business during the year ended 31 
December 2016.

(a)	 Name and relationship with related parties

(i)	 Controlling Party

Mr. Wang Qisong, Ms. Wang Luojia, Ms. Wang Jin*

(ii)	 Associates of the Group

Shanghai Youlong Biotech Co., Ltd.

Wuxi Fuyang Biotech Co., Ltd. (a subsidiary of Shanghai Youlong Biotech Co.,Ltd.)

*	 As Mr. Wang Qisong, Ms. Wang Luojia, and Ms. Wang Jin entered into an agreement for acting 

in concert, they are collectively regarded as the Controlling Party with a controlling shareholding 

of 59.51% of the Company through LJ Hope Ltd., LJ Peace Ltd., and LJ Venture Ltd.

(b)	 The following transactions were carried out with related parties during the 
year ended 31 December 2016:

(i)	 Sales of goods and services

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Wuxi Fuyang Biotech Co., Ltd. 30 –
   

(ii)	 Rental expense and deposits paid to the related party

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Ms. Wang Luojia 3,600 –
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36	 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b)	 The following transactions were carried out with related parties: (continued)

(iii)	 Purchases of goods and services

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Shanghai Youlong Biotech Co., Ltd. 210 –
   

The above sale and purchase transactions with related parties were carried out based on 
mutually agreed prices between respective parties.

(iv)	 Account payables

Year ended 31 December
2016 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Shanghai Youlong Biotech Co., Ltd. 16 –
   

(v)	 Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

Year ended 31 December
2016 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Ms. Wang Luojia 3,480 –
   

(c)	 Key management compensation
Key management includes directors (executive and non-executive) and senior management. The 
compensation paid or payable to key management for employee services is shown below:

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Salaries and other employee benefits 3,410 4,807
   

37	 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2016, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities.
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38	 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(a)	 The Group had direct or indirect interests in the following subsidiaries as at 31 December 2016:

Company name

Country/Place of 
incorporation/
operation

Paid in
capital (000’)

as of 31
December 2016

Effective
interests

held % Principal activities
     

Directly Owned:

BBI International Limited HongKong USD5,843 100 Investment holding

BBI Asia Limited HongKong USD12,973 100 Investment holding

Indirectly Owned:

Sangon Biotech PRC RMB180,000 99.99 Manufacturing and sales of various 
life science products and provide 
life science related services

BBI China PRC RMB52,420 100 Investment holding and 
management consulting

Bio Basic (Canada) Canada CAD3,000 99.99 Manufacturing and sales of various 
life science products and provide 
life science related services

Bio Basic (US) USA USD2,000 99.99 Manufacturing and sales of various 
life science products and provide 
life science related services

NBL (UK) UK GBP100 100 Manufacturing and sales of various 
life science products and provide 
life science related services

Sangon Peptide (Ningbo) Co., Ltd. PRC RMB8,000 65 Manufacturing and sales of various 
life science products and provide 
life science related services

Bio Basic Asia Pacific PTE. Ltd. Singapore SGD135,785 65 Manufacturing and sales of various 
life science products and provide 
life science related services

Bionics Co., Ltd. (Note 35) The Republic of 
  Korea

KRW188,350,000 73 Manufacturing and sales of various 
life science products and provide 
life science related services
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39	 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December
2016 2015

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
    

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 1 2
Investments in subsidiaries 335,768 313,582

    

335,769 313,584
    

Current assets
Other receivables 278 302
Due from subsidiaries 159,561 120,032
Cash and cash equivalents 53,551 78,948

    

213,390 199,282
    

Total assets 549,159 512,866
    

EQUITY
Share capital 4,304 4,239
Share premium 463,062 456,013
Other reserves (a) 79,494 43,943
Retained earnings (a) 2,299 8,494

    

Total equity 549,159 512,689
    

Current liabilities
Other payables – 177

    

Total liabilities – 177
    

Total equity and liabilities 549,159 512,866
    

Net current assets 213,390 199,105
    

Total assets less current liabilities 549,159 512,689
    

The balance sheet of the Company was Approved by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2017 and was 
signed on its behalf.

Director: Director:
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39	 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Note (a) Reserve movement of the Company

Share-based

payment

reserve

Currency

translation

reserve

Total

other

reserves

Retained

earnings

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

At 31 December 2014 10,849 1,437 12,286 13,557

Share-based payment 2,257 – 2,257 –

Currency translation differences – 29,400 29,400 –

Loss for the year – – – (1,752)

Dividends – – – (3,311)
     

At 31 December 2015 13,106 30,837 43,943 8,494
     

Share-based payment 774 – 774 –

Currency translation differences – 34,777 34,777 –

Loss for the year – – – (1,083)

Dividends – – – (5,112)
     

At 31 December 2016 13,880 65,614 79,494 2,299
     

40	 BENEFIT AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(a)	 Directors’ emoluments
The remuneration of each director and the chief executives of the Company paid/payable by the 
Group for year ended 31 December 2016 are set out as follows:

Name of Directors Fees Salary

Fair value
of share
options
granted Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

Directors
  Mr. Wang Qisong – 216 – 216
  Ms. Wang Luojia (CEO) – 639 – 639
  Ms. Wang Jin – 302 – 302
  Mr. Hu Xubo – – – –
  Mr. Xia Lijun 120 – – 120
  Mr. Liu Jianjun 120 – – 120
  Mr. Ho Kai Chung 120 – – 120

     

360 1,157 – 1,517
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40	 BENEFIT AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

(a)	 Directors’ emoluments (continued)
The remuneration of each director and the chief executives of the Company paid/payable by the 
Group for year ended 31 December 2015 are set out as follows:

Fees Salary

Fair value
of share
options 
granted Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

Directors
  Mr. Wang Qisong – 216 102 318
  Ms. Wang Luojia (CEO) – 240 5 245
  Ms. Wang Jin – 281 – 281
  Mr. Hu Xubo – – – –
  Mr. Xia Lijun 120 – – 120
  Mr. Liu Jianjun 120 – – 120
  Mr. Ho Kai Chung 120 – – 120

     

360 737 107 1,204
     

For the year ended 31 December 2016, no directors received emoluments (2015: nil) from the Group 
as inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. No directors 
waived or had agreed to waive any emoluments.

(b)	 Directors’ retirement benefits
No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any directors in respect of their other services in 
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking (2015: 
Nil).

(c)	 Directors’ termination payments or benefits
No payment was made or benefit provided to directors as compensation for the early termination of 
the appointment or in respect of termination of the services of directors during the year (2015: Nil).

(d)	 Consideration provided to third parties for making available directors’ 
services
No consideration was provided to or receivable by any third party for making available the services of 
a person as a director of a company, or in any other capacity while as a director (2015: Nil).

(e)	 Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors, 
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with such directors
There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate 
by and connected entities with such directors during the year (2015: Nil).

(f)	 Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts
Other than the rental transaction disclosed in Note 36 with Ms. Wang Luojia, no significant 
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company 
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or 
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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41	 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 3 March 2017, Sangon. Biotech, Sangon Health Sci-Tech (Shanghai) Company Limited (“Sangon 
Health”) and Mr. Wang Qisong (an executive Director, a controlling shareholder and the sole shareholder of 
Sangon Health) entered into various agreements in respect of the variable interest entity arrangement (“VIE 
Agreements”). The structure based on those VIE Agreements (the “VIE Structure”) allows Sangon Biotech 
to exercise full control over Sangon Health. As a result, Sangon Biotech effectively holds, through the VIE 
Structure, 100% of the equity interests in Sangon Health.

Later, on 6 March 2017, Sangon Health entered into an investment agreement with Tianjin Hengjia Biotech 
Development Company Limited (天津亨佳生物科技發展有限公司) (“Tianjin Hengjia”), pursuant to which 
Sangon Health obtained 34% equity interest of Tianjin Hengjia through a capital injection of RMB6 million 
in Tianjin Hengjia.
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